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This version of our report is a free translation of the original, which was prepared in Spanish. All possible
care has been taken to ensure that the translation is an accurate representation of the original. However, in
all matters of interpretation of information, views or opinions, the original language version of our report
takes precedence over this translation.

Independent auditor’s report on the annual accounts

To the shareholders of Banco Santander, S.A.:
Report on the annual accounts
Opinion

We have audited the annual accounts of Banco Santander, S.A. (the Bank or Banco Santander), which
comprise the balance sheet as of December 31, 2018, and the income statement, statement of changes
in equity, cash flow statement and related notes for the year then ended.

In our opinion, the accompanying annual accounts present fairly, in all material respects, the equity
and financial position of Banco Santander, S.A. as of December 31, 2018, as well as its financial
performance and cash flows for the year then ended, in accordance with the applicable financial
reporting framework (as identified in Note 1 of the notes to the annual accounts), and, in particular,
with the accounting principles and criteria included therein.

Basis for opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with legislation governing the audit practice in Spain. Our
responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditor’s responsibilities for the
audit of the annual accounts section of our report.

We are independent of the Bank’s in accordance with the ethical requirements, including those
relating to independence, that are relevant to our audit of the annual accounts in Spain, in accordance
with legislation governing the audit practice. In this regard, we have not rendered services other than
those relating to the audit of the accounts, and situations or circumstances have not arisen that, in
accordance with the provisions of the aforementioned legislation, have affected our necessary
independence such that it has been compromised.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for
our opinion.

Key audit matters

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgment, were of most significance in
our audit of the annual accounts of the current period. These matters were addressed in the context of
our audit of the annual accounts as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not
provide a separate opinion on these matters.
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Key audit matter How our audit addressed the key audit matter

Impairment of financial assets at amortised
cost — loans and advances

The estimation of the impairment of financial
assets at amortised cost - loans and advances -
for credit risk is one of the most significant
and complex estimates in the preparation of
the annual accounts as of December 31, 2018.

On January 1, 2018, the Bank of Spain
introduced Circular 4/2017, which, among
other things, modifies the impairment
calculation models to consider expected losses
instead of incurred losses. The operation of
these models requires an increased level of
judgement in the determination of the
expected losses from impairment, considering
factors such as:

. The classification of the different credit
portfolios by their risk and asset type.

. The identification and classification by
stages of the impaired assets or assets
with a significant increase in credit risk.

. The use of assumptions such as
macroeconomic scenarios, expected life
and segmentation criteria.

. Development of parameters for these
models such as the probabilities of
default (PD) and loss given default
(LGD).

. Regularly retrospective testing (back-
testing and monitoring) on the different
parameters included within the models.

In this context, the Bank has developed a
general framework for its internal expected
loss models. These internal models allow the
Bank to estimate provisions for credit
impairment both collectively and in an
individualized manner.

Refer to Notes 1 b), 2, 6 and 10 of the annual
accounts as of December 31, 2018.

Our work over the estimation of the impairment of
financial assets at amortised cost for credit risk has
focused on the analysis, evaluation and testing of
internal controls, as well as the performance of
tests of details over credit risk provisions estimated
collectively and individually. We have also analyzed
the impact of the initial application of the Bank of
Spain’s Circular 4/2017.

With respect to internal control, we have focused
on the design and operating effectiveness of the
controls in the following areas:

Calculation methodologies, calibrations, and
monitoring and back-testing performed by
Management.

Compliance with and operation of the
internal models approved by Management.

Reliability of the data sources used in the
calculations and the suitability of the models
taking into account the circumstances.

Process for periodic review of counterparty
classification.

The review process of model calculations
and principal portfolios.

In addition, we performed the following tests of
details:

Tests of principal models with respect to: i)
calculation and segmentation methods; ii)
methodology utilized for the estimation of
the expected loss parameters; iii)
methodology used for the generation of the
macroeconomic scenarios; iv) information
used in the calculation and generation; and
v) criteria for significant increase in credit
risk and loan staging classification.

Verify the impairment calculation for the
principal credit portfolios.
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Key audit matter

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

On a sample basis, evaluating individual
credit files to determine the adequacy of
their accounting and classification,
discounted cash flows and, where
appropriate, corresponding impairment.

We have not identified exceptions outside of a
reasonable range in the tests outlined above.

Recoverability of deferred tax assets

Assessing the recoverability of deferred tax
assets is a complex exercise and requires a
high degree of judgement and estimation.

In line with the recoverability model defined
by the Bank’s Management, with respect to
the Tax Group, on an annual basis
Management of each business unit compiles
the assumptions that underpin the business
plans that are projected over the time
horizon established for that business.

This process implies specific and complex
considerations that Management takes into
account in order to assess the initial and
ongoing recognition of deferred tax assets.
The most significant considerations made by
the Bank in this respect are:

. Assuring that the tax regulations are
applied correctly and the temporary
differences that qualify as deductibles
are duly recognised.

. Maintaining a control environment,
running the models and validating the
calculations deriving therefrom to
ensure that the tax assets are properly
recognised and measured and that the
conclusions drawn regarding their
recoverability are accurate.

. Reviewing that the projections that
are part of the defined model which is
in turn used to estimate the tax profits
used to infer the amount of deferred
tax assets that will be recoverable in
future periods in relation to deductible
temporary differences and unused tax
losses are indeed achievable.

We have evaluated, in collaboration with our tax
experts, and obtained our understanding of the
estimation exercise undertaken by Management.

With respect to the internal control environment
we have focused on the design and operating
effectiveness of controls in the following areas:

Budgeting process on which projections
employed in the recovery of deferred tax
assets are based on.

Calculation of deferred tax assets.

We also performed the following tests of details:

Evaluation of the assumptions used by the
Tax Group to calculate and estimate the
deductible temporary differences to
determine whether they are comprehensive
and appropriate.

Analysis of the key data used by
Management to estimate the various
deferred tax assets and track their
subsequent recoverability, including:

- Obtaining and analysing the Group’s
review of the income projections
carried out by Management and the
assumptions used, including the detail
of the economic forecasts and
indicators used in the analysis
(inflation, interest rates, etc.);

- Obtaining the necessary management
information that support the business
plan (budgets, future economic
forecasts, estimations of financial
products to be contracted, etc);
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Key audit matter How our audit addressed the key audit matter

Refer to Notes 2 and 24 of the annual
accounts.

- Analysis of the tax strategy planned by
the Bank for the recoverability of the
deferred tax assets.

We have obtained adequate audit evidence
throughout our procedures to corroborate the
estimates made by the Bank with respect to the
recoverability of its deferred tax assets.

Litigation provisions

The Bank is party to a range of tax and legal
proceedings - administrative and judicial -
which primarily arose in the ordinary course
of its operations. There are also situations
not yet subject to any judicial proceedings
that have nevertheless required the Bank to
recognise provisions; these include customer
conduct related matters and the related
compensation.

These proceedings generally take a long
period of time to run their course, giving rise
to complex processes dictated by the
applicable legislation.

The Bank's Management decides when to
recognise a provision for these proceedings
based on estimates made using reasonable
calculation procedures that are consistent
with the uncertainty intrinsic to the
obligations they cover.

Among these provisions, the most significant
are those for customer compensation for the
sale of certain; these estimates are based on
the number of claims expected to be
received, the number expected to be
accepted, and the estimated average payout
per case.

Refer to Notes 2 and 23 d) of the annual
accounts.

We have obtained our understanding and
evaluated the estimation process undertaken by
Management.

With respect to internal control, we have focused
on the design and operating effectiveness of the
controls in the following areas:

Update of the databases that contain the
ongoing litigations.

Evaluation of adjustments to the provisions
for regulatory, legal or tax procedures and
their recognition.

Reconciliation between the minute of the
inspections and the amounts registered.

In addition, we performed test of details consisting
of the following:

Understanding of the policy for classifying
litigations and allocating provisions.

Monitoring of the ongoing tax inspections.

Analysis for reasonableness of the expected
outcomes of the most significant tax and
legal proceedings.

Assessment of possible contingencies
relating to compliance with the Bank's tax
obligations for the years open to inspection.

Obtaining confirmation letters from external
lawyers and tax advisors who work with the Bank
to compare their assessment of the outcome of the
litigations, all of the information used, the correct
recognition of the various provisions and the
identification of potentially omitted liabilities.
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Key audit matter How our audit addressed the key audit matter

. Verification of the communications with the
regulatory bodies, analysis of the ongoing
regulatory inspections and size of the impact
of any regulatory finding on the audit.

. Analysis of the recognition and
reasonableness of the provisions recorded
for accounting purposes and the movements
therein.

In the procedures described above, no exceptions
were identified outside of a reasonable range.

Information technology systems

We have evaluated, in collaboration with our IT
system experts, the internal controls over the IT
systems and applications that support the core
business activity and have an impact on the Bank’s
financial reporting.

The Bank’s financial information is highly
dependent on information technology (IT)
systems and therefore an adequate control of
these systems is crucial to ensuring correct
data processing.

In this context, it is vital to evaluate aspects
such as the organisation of the Bank’s
Technology and Operations department,
controls over software maintenance and

For this purpose, we carried out the following
internal control procedures and test of details
related to:

development, physical and logical security
controls, and controls over computer
operations.

In this respect, Management has developed a
system efficiency and transformation plan.
This plan contains aspects such as the
remediation of the access control deficiencies
identified in previous years and the
relationship between the governance
framework, which includes the new
cybersecurity model, and the Bank’s entities
that manage the IT processes that support the
Bank.

Functioning of the IT governance
framework.

Access and logical security controls over the
applications, operating systems and
databases that support the relevant financial
information.

Application development and change
management.

Maintenance of the IT operations.

Additionally, considering the efficiency and
transformation plan developed by the Bank, our
approach and audit plan focused on the following
aspects:

Evaluation of the plan executed, and the new
controls implemented, by the Bank in 2018.

Testing of a sample of the new controls
implemented by the Bank.

The results of our procedures were satisfactory and
we have no relevant comments in this regard.
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Key audit matter How our audit addressed the key audit matter

Impairment of investment in Bank 's
subsidiaries, joint ventures and affiliates

As indicated in Note 1 of the annual accounts,
Banco Santander, S.A. is the parent company
of a group of entities, whose fundamental
activities are in the financial sector. The
accounting value of the investments Bank s
subsidiaries, joint ventures and affiliates as of
December 31, 2018 is €81.7 billion, as
indicated in Note 13 of the annual accounts.

Management performs an analysis of the
potential losses in investments in Group
entities that it has registered in its accounting
records. This analysis is performed using
different parameters such as the market price
and the recoverable value, which is obtained
from the estimation of the expected cash flows
or the net equity adjusted for the unrealized
gains existing at the valuation date, including
goodwill net of its corresponding
amortization.

The valuation or analysis of the impairment of
these investments requires the use of
significant judgment.

Refer to Note 13 of the annual accounts as of
December 31, 2018.

We have obtained an understanding of the
estimation process performed by Management. In
addition, where the valuation of investments
requires the use of significant judgment, we have
relied on the assistance of our valuation experts.

With respect to internal control, we have focused
on the design and operating effectiveness of the
controls in the valuation process and over the
methodology, inputs and relevant assumptions
used by Management for the year-end estimates,
including the controls in place to supervise the
process and the related approvals.

Additionally, we have performed test of details
consisting of the following:

. Verify the valuation performed by the
Bank, using as a reference the recoverable
balance of the investments in Group
entities.

. Verify that Management’s valuation
methodology is in line with applicable
accounting standards, market practices
and the specific expectations of the sector.

. For investments whose valuation is
calculated including goodwill, we verified
the mathematical accuracy of the
discounted cash flow projections, including
the validation of the key inputs with
external data and performing a sensitivity
analysis on them.

We have not identified exceptions, outside a
reasonable range, in the tests described above.
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Key audit matter How our audit addressed the key audit matter

Acquisition of Banco Popular Espanol, S.A.U.

On April 23, 2018, the Board of Directors of
Banco Popular Espafiol, S.A.U. (Banco
Popular), Banco Pastor, S.A.U. (Pastor) and
Popular Banca Privada, S.A.U. (Popular Banca
Privada) agreed to a merger through
absorption of Pastor and Popular Banca
Privada by Banco Popular (the Merger of the
Subsidiaries), and that, in addition and subject
to the execution of the former, the Board of
Directors of Banco Santander, S.A. and that of
Banco Popular agreed on the same date the
merger by absorption of Banco Popular by the
Bank (the Main Merger). This process was
completed on September 28, 2018, and the
deed of the merger through absorption of
Banco Popular by the Bank was registered at
the Cantabria Mercantile Registry.

Every bank merged were already considered
Group entities, therefore those mergers were
not new business combinations for the Bank.

In accordance with the applicable accounting
standards, the aforementioned mergers are
effective January 1, 2018. After that date,
operations of Pastor and Popular Banca
Privada should be considered to be conducted
by Banco Popular and the operations of Banco
Popular, including the operations of Pastor
and Popular Banca Privada, should be
considered to be conducted by the Bank.

Per the annual accounts as of December 31,
2017, total assets of Banco Popular were
€113.14 billions, total assets of Pastor were
€10.25 billions and total assets of Popular
Banca Privada were 1,003 million Euros,
therefore is a relevant impact for the annual
accounts.

See Note 2 of the annual accounts as of
December 31, 2018.

As of December 31, 2018, the Bank had not yet
completed the integration of Banco Popular's
systems. Therefore, we have obtained an
understanding of Management’s process for the
aggregation of the accounting balances.

We have also performed the following
procedures, among other, for the balances as of
January 1, 2018 and December 31, 2018:

- Reconciliation of the financial statements
on January 1, 2018 used in the merger with
those included in the 2017 audited annual
accounts of the Bank, Banco Popular,
Pastor and Popular Banca Privada and with
the adjustments assigned to each balance
within the 2017 Banco Santander, S.A.
annual accounts.

- Reconciliation of the financial statements
as of December 31, 2018 used in the
merger with those obtained from the
accounting records of the Bank and Banco
Popular.

- Verification of the accounting merger
process of Banco Popular, Pastor and
Popular Banca Privada, consisting mainly

of:

o Verification of the aggregation of the
balances in the financial statements.

o Understanding and verification of
the identification and elimination
process existing for related party
transactions between Banco Popular,
Pastor and Popular Banca Privada.

o Assessment of the accounting entries

for the merger and their impact on
the financial statements of Banco
Popular, previously merged with
Pastor and Popular Banca Privada.

- Verification of the aggregation of the
balances of the financial statements of the
Bank and Banco Popular once merged with
Pastor and Popular Banca Privada.
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Key audit matter How our audit addressed the key audit matter

- Understanding of the identification of
existing related party transactions between
the Bank and Banco Popular, previously
merged with Pastor and Popular Banca
Privada and verification of their
elimination.

- Reasonability analysis of the account
mapping by Management.

- Assessment of the accounting entries for
the merger and their impact on Bank’s
financial statements.

During our procedures, we have observed that the
criteria used by the Bank and the support for the
journal entries performed are reasonable.

Other information: Directors’ report

Other information comprises only the Directors’ report for the 2018 financial year, the formulation of
which is the responsibility of the Bank’s directors and does not form an integral part of the annual
accounts.

Our audit opinion on the annual accounts does not cover the Directors’ report. Our responsibility
regarding the Directors’ report, in accordance with legislation governing the audit practice which
establishes two distinct levels in this regards:

a) A specific level that is applicable to the statement of non-financial information, as well as to
certain information included in the Annual Corporate Governance Report, defined in article
35.2. b) of Audit Act 22/2015, that consists of verifying solely that the aforementioned
information has been provided in the Directors’ report or, if appropriate, that the Directors’
report includes the pertinent reference in the manner provided by the legislation and if not, we
are required to report that fact.

b) A general level applicable to the rest of the information included in the Directors’ report that
consists of evaluating and reporting on the consistency between that information and the annual
accounts, as a result of the knowledge of the Bank obtained during the audit of the
aforementioned financial statements and does not include information different to that obtained
as evidence during our audit, as well as evaluating and reporting on whether the content and
presentation of that part of the Directors’ report is in accordance with applicable regulations. If,
based on the work we have performed, we conclude that material misstatements exist, we are
required to report that fact.

On the basis of the work performed, as described above, we have ascertained that the information
mentioned in paragraph a) above has been provided in the Directors’ report and that the rest of the
information contained in the Directors’ report is consistent with that contained in the annual accounts
for the 2018 financial year, and its content and presentation are in accordance with the applicable
regulations.
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The Bank’s directors are responsible for the preparation of the accompanying annual accounts, such
that they fairly present the equity, financial position and financial performance of the Bank, in
accordance with the financial reporting framework applicable to the entity in Spain, and for such
internal control as the directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation of annual accounts
that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the annual accounts, the Bank’s directors are responsible for assessing the Bank’s ability
to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using
the going concern basis of accounting unless the directors either intend to liquidate the Bank or to
cease operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

The Bank’s audit committee is responsible for overseeing the process of preparation and presentation
of the annual accounts.

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the annual accounts as a whole are
free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that
includes our opinion.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in
accordance with legislation governing the audit practice in Spain will always detect a material
misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material
if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic
decisions of users taken on the basis of these annual accounts.

As part of an audit in accordance with legislation governing the audit practice in Spain, we exercise
professional judgment and maintain professional scepticism throughout the audit. We also:

o Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the annual accounts, whether due to
fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit
evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not
detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from
error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the
override of internal control.

o Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit
procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an
opinion on the effectiveness of the Bank’s internal control.

o Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting
estimates and related disclosures made by the Bank’s directors.

° Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the going concern basis of accounting
and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to
events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Bank’s ability to continue as a going
concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in
our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the annual accounts or, if such disclosures are
inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up
to the date of our auditor’s report. However, future events or conditions may cause the Bank to
cease to continue as a going concern.
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o Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the annual accounts, including the
disclosures, and whether the annual accounts represent the underlying transactions and events
in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

We communicate with the Bank’s audit committee regarding, among other matters, the planned scope
and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal
control that we identify during our audit.

We also provide the Bank’s audit committee with a statement that we have complied with relevant
ethical requirements, including those relating to independence, and we communicate with the audit
committee those matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where
applicable, related safeguards.

From the matters communicated with the Bank’s audit committee, we determine those matters that
were of most significance in the audit of the annual accounts of the current period and are therefore
the key audit matters.

We describe these matters in our auditor’s report unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure
about the matter.

Report on other legal and regulatory requirements

Report to the Bank’s audit committee

The opinion expressed in this report is consistent with the content of our additional report to the
Banks's audit committee dated February 28, 2019.

A})poin tment périod

During the General Shareholder’s Meeting held on March 18, 2016 we were appointed as the Bank’s
auditors for a three-year period from the fiscal year ended December 31, 2016.

Services provided

Services, different to the audit, provided to the Bank are described in Note 43 of the annual accounts.

PricewaterhouseCoopers Auditores, S.L. (S0242)

Alejandro Esnal (19930)

February 28, 2019
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Banco Santander, S.A.

Annual accounts and Directors” report for the year ended 31 December 2018

Translation of annual accounts originally issued in Spanish and prepared in accordance with the regulatory
financial reporting framework applicable to the Bank in Spain (see Notes 1 and 50). In the event of a
discrepancy, the Spanish-language version prevails.
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Translation of annual accounts originally issued in Spanish and prepared in accordance with the regulatory financial reporting framework applicable to the Bank in Spain (see Notes 1 and 50). In

the event of a discrepancy, the Spanish-language version prevails.

BANCO SANTANDER, S.A.

BALANCE SHEETS AS AT 31 DECEMBER 2018 AND 2017

(Millions of euros)

ASSETS () Note 2018 2017 ()

CASH, CASH BALANCES AT CENTRAL BANKS AND OTHERS DEPOSITS ON DEMAND 51,931 33,734
FINANCIAL ASSETS HELD FOR TRADING 70,825 64,326
Derivatives 9 51,637

Equity instruments 8 8,644

Debt instruments 7 10,525

Loans and advances 10 19

Central banks -

Credit institutions -

Customers 19

Memorandum items: lent or delivered as guarantee with disposal or pledge rights 31 13,819

NON_TRADING FINANCIAL ASSETS MANDATORILY AT FAUR VALUE THROUGH PROFIT OR LOSS 3,751

Equity instruments 8 224

Debt instruments 7 1,976

Loans and advances 1,551

Central banks -

Credit institutions 6 2

Customers 10 1,549

Memorandum items: lent or delivered as guarantee with disposal or pledge rights -

FINANCIAL ASSETS DESIGNATED AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH PROFIT OR LOSS 41,326

Equity instruments

Debt instruments -

Loans and advances 41,326

Central banks 6 103

Credit institutions 6 17,536

Customers 10 23,687
Memorandum items: lent or delivered as guarantee with disposal or pledge rights 31 5,332
FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME 35915

Equity instruments 8 1,751

Debt instruments 7 32,741

Loans and advances 1,423

Central banks -

Credit institutions 6 185

Customers 10 1,238

Memorandum items: lent or delivered as guarantee with disposal or pledge rights 15,129
FINANCIAL ASSETS AVAILABLE-FOR-SALE

Equity instruments 8

Debt instruments 7
Memorandum items: lent or delivered as guarantee with disposal or pledge rights 31
FINANCIAL ASSETS AT AMORTISED COST 296,943

Debt instruments 7 24,372

Loans and advances 272,571

Central banks 6 46

Credit institutions 6 35,856

Customers 10 236,669

Memorandum items: lent or delivered as guarantee with disposal or pledge rights 6,155
LOANS AND RECEIVABLES

Debt instruments 7

Loans and advances

Central banks 6

Credit institutions 6

Customers 10
Memorandum items: lent or delivered as guarantee with disposal or pledge rights 31

INVESTMENTS HELD-TO-MATURITY 7
Memorandum items: lent or delivered as guarantee with disposal or pledge rights 31
HEDGING DERIVATIVES 32 2,108 2,073
CHANGES IN THE FAIR VALUE OF HEDGED ITEMS IN PORTFOLIO HEDGES
OF INTEREST RATE RISK 268 65
INVESTMENTS 81,734 85,428
Group entities 13 76,324 82,927
Joint ventures entities 310 302
Associated companies 13 5,100 2,199
TANGIBLE ASSETS 15 2,410 1,929
Property, plant and equipment: 2,136 1,690

For own use 1,641 1,331
Leased out under an operating lease 495 359
Investment property: 274 239
Of which: Leased out under an operating lease 274 239
Memorandum items:acquired in financial lease 565 574
INTANGIBLE ASSETS 16 778 225
Goodwill 583 -
Other intangible assets 195 225
TAX ASSETS 24 13,320 10,009
Current tax assets 2,993 2,240
Deferred tax assets 10,327 7,769
OTHER ASSETS 5,027 3,165
Insurance contracts linked to pensions 14 1,654 1,732
Inventories - -
Other 17 3,373 1,433

NON-CURRENT ASSETS HELD FOR SALE 12 2,040 1,720
TOTAL ASSETS 608,376 492,415

(*) See reconciliation of Bank of Spain Circular 4/2004 and subsequent modifications as at December 31, 2017 to Bank of Spain Circular

4/2017 as at January 1, 2018 (Note 1.b).
(**) Presented for comparison purposes only. See Note 1.d.

The accompanying Notes 1 to 50 and Appendices are an integral part of the balance sheet as at 31 December 2018.
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Translation of annual accounts originally issued in Spanish and prepared in accordance with the regulatory financial reporting framework applicable to the Bank in Spain (see Notes 1 and 50). In
the event of a discrepancy, the Spanish-language version prevails.

BANCO SANTANDER, S.A.
BALANCE SHEETS AS AT 31 DECEMBER 2018 AND 2017
(Millions of euros)

LIABILITIES (%) Note 2018 2017 (**)
FINANCIAL LIABILITIES HELD FOR TRADING 58,021 47,952
Derivatives 9 51,698 39,234
Short positions 9 6,323 8,718
Deposits - -
Central banks
Credit institutions
Customers
Marketable debt securities
Other financial liabilities
FINANCIAL LIABILITIES DESIGNATED AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH PROFIT OR LOSS 35,079 32,314
Deposits 35,079 32,314
Central banks 18 12,377 7,913
Credit institutions 18 8,772 15,209
Customers 19 13,930 9,192
Marketable debt securities - -
Other financial liabilities
Memorandum items:subordinated liabilities
FINANCIAL LIABILITIES AT AMORTISED COST 430,675 327,020
Deposits 345,005 264,582
Central banks 18 48,519 25,016
Credit institutions 18 55,883 60,008
Customers 19 240,693 179,558
Marketable debt securities 20 77,095 53,058
Other financial liabilities 22 8,485 9,380
Memorandum items:subordinated liabilities 20y21 17,984 15,413
HEDGING DERIVATIVES 32 3,506 4,014

CHANGES IN THE FAIR VALUE OF HEDGED ITEMS IN PORTFOLIO HEDGES OF INTEREST RISK RATE

PROVISIONS 23 6,681 6,615
Provision for pensions and similar obligations 3,895 4,141
Other long term employee benefits 1111 1,231
Provisions for taxes and other legal contingencies 498 316
isions for i and given 263 196
Other provisions 914 731
TAX LIABILITIES 24 1,303 1,208
Current tax liabilities - R
Deferred tax liabilities 1,303 1,208
OTHER LIABILITIES 17 4,344 2,725

LIABILITIES ASSOCIATED WITH NON-CURRENT ASSETS HELD FOR SALE

TOTAL LIABILITIES 539,609 421,848

SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY 26 69,226 70,717
CAPITAL 8,118 8,068
Called up paid capital 27 8,118 8,068
Unpaid capital which has been called up - -

Memorandum items: uncalled up capital
SHARE PREMIUM 28 50,993 51,053
EQUITY INSTRUMENTS ISSUED OTHER THAN CAPITAL 30 565 686
Equity of financial i - -
Other equity instruments 565 686
OTHER EQUITY INSTRUMENTS 170 150
ACCUMULATED RETAINED EARNINGS 29 7,805 7,796
REVALUATION RESERVES - -
OTHER RESERVES 29 511 1,987
(-) OWN SHARES - -
RESULTS FOR THE PERIOD 3,301 3,006
(-) DIVIDENDS 4 (2,237 (2,029)
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME (459) (150)
ITEMS NOT RECLASSIFIED TO PROFIT OR LOSS 25 (722) (1,096)
ITEMS THAT MAY BE RECLASSIFIED TO PROFIT OR LOSS 25 263 946
TOTAL EQUITY 68,767 70,567
TOTAL LIABILITIES AND EQUITY 608,376 492 415

MEMORANDUM ITEMS

Financial guarantees granted 31 6,508 7,212
Loans commitment granted 31 72,208 62,233
Other i granted 31 57,855 40,860

(*) See reconciliation of Bank of Spain Circular 4/2004 and subsequent modifications as at December 31, 2017 to Bank of Spain Circular 4/2017 as at January 1,
2018 (Note 1.b).
(**) Presented for comparison purposes only. See Note 1.d.

The accompanying Notes 1 to 50 and Appendices are an integral part of the balance sheet as at 31 December 2018.
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Translation of annual accounts originally issued in Spanish and prepared in accordance with the regulatory financial reporting framework applicable

to the Bank in Spain (see Notes 1 and 50). In the event of a discrepancy, the Spanish-language version prevails.

BANCO SANTANDER, S.A.
INCOME STATEMENT

FOR THE YEARS ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2018 AND 2017

(Millions of euros)

® (Debit) / Credit
Note 2018 2017 (**)

Interest income 34 7,381 5,460
Financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income 702 587
Financial assets at amortized cost 5,506 3,983
Other interest income 1,173 890
(Interest expense) 35 (3,860)

Net interest income 3,521 2,257
Dividend income 36 4,151 3,593
Commission income 37 2,853 2,282
(Commission expense) 38 (439) (310)
Gains or losses on financial assets and liabilities not measured at fair value through profit or loss, net 39 516 367
Financial assets at amortized cost 12
Other financial assets and liabilities 504
Gains or losses on financial assets and liabilities held for trading, net 39 74 348
Reclassification of financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income -
Reclassification of financial assets at amortized cost -
Other gains (losses) 74
Gains or losses on non-trading financial assets and liabilities mandatorily at fair value through profit or loss (61)
Reclassification of financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income -
Reclassification of financial assets at amortized cost -
Other gains (losses) (61)
Gains or losses on financial assets and liabilities measured at fair value through profit or loss, net 39 2 (32)
Gains or losses from hedge accounting, net 39 (28) (11)
Exchange differences, net 40 (49) (245)
Other operating income 41 458 302
(Other operating expenses) 41 (641) (506)
Gross income 10,357 8,045
(Administrative expenses) (5.472) (4,060)
(Staff costs) 42 (2,817) (2,109)
(Other general administrative expenses) 43 (2,655) (1,951)
Depreciation and amortisation cost 15 &16 (313) (193)
Provisions or reversal of provision 23 (630) (495)
Impairment or reversal of impairment at financial assets not measured at fair value through profit or loss and net gains and losses from
changes (686) (524)
Financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income -

Financial assets at amortized cost (686)

Financial assets measured at cost

Financial assets available-for-sale

Loans and receivables 10 (451)
Held-to-maturity investments -
Impairment of investments in subsidiaries, joint ventures and associates, net 44 (79) (273)
Impairment on non-financial assets, net - -
Tangible assets - -
Intangible assets - -
Others - -
Gains or losses on non-financial assets and investments, net 45 68 572
Negative goodwill recognised in results -
Gains or losses on non-current assets held for sale classified as discontinued operations 14216& as) (©5)
Profit or loss before tax from continuing operations 3,385 2,977
Tax expense or income from continuing operations 24 (84) 29
Profit for the period from continuing operations 3,301 3,006
Profit or loss after tax from discontinued operations - -
Profit for the period 3,301 3,006

(*) See reconciliation of Bank of Spain Circular 4/2004 and subsequent modifications as at December 31, 2017 to Bank of Spain Circular

4/2017 as at January 1, 2018 (Note 1.b).
(**) Presented for comparison purposes only. See Note 1.d.

The accompanying Notes 1 to 50 and Appendices are an integral part of the balance sheet as at 31 December 2018.
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Translation of annual accounts originally issued in Spanish and prepared in accordance with the regulatory financial reporting
framework applicable to the Bank in Spain (see Notes 1 and 50). In the event of a discrepancy, the Spanish-language version prevails.

BANCO SANTANDER, S.A.

STATEMENTS OF RECOGNISED INCOME AND EXPENSES
FOR THE YEARS ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2018 AND 2017

(Millions of euros)

* Note 2018 2017 (**)

PROFIT FOR THE YEAR 3,301 3,006

OTHER RECOGNISED INCOME AND EXPENSES 23 (410) (356)
Items that will not be reclassified to profit or loss (62) (15)
Actuarial gains/ (losses) on defined benefit pension plans (43) (23)
Other recognised income and expense of investments in subsidiaries, joint venture and associates -
Changes in the fair value of equity instruments measured at fair value through other comprehensive income, (78)
net
Gains or losses resulting from the accounting for hedges of equity instruments measured at fair value through other comprehensive -
income, net
Changes in the fair value of equity instruments measured at fair value through other comprehensive income -
(hedged item)
Changes in the fair value of equity instruments measured at fair value through other comprehensive income -
(hedged item)
Changes in the fair value of financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss attributable to changes in -
credit risk
Income tax relating to items that will not be reclassified to profit or loss 24 27) 8
Items that may be reclassified to profit or loss (348) (341)
Hedges of net investments in foreign operations (Effective portion) -
Revaluation gains (losses) - -
Amounts transferred to income statement - -
Other reclassifications - -
Exchanges differences - -
Revaluation gains (losses) - -
Amounts transferred to income statement - -
Other reclassifications - -
Cash flow hedges 137 7)
Revaluation gains or (losses) 153 )
Amounts transferred to income statement (16) -
Transferred to initial carrying amount of hedged items -
Other reclassifications - -
Financial assets available-for-sale (625)
Revaluation gains or (losses) (283)
Amounts transferred to income statement (342)
Other reclassifications -
Hedging instruments (items not designated) -
Revaluation gains (losses) -
Amounts transferred to income statement -
Other reclassifications -
Debt instruments at fair value with changes in other comprehensive income (634)
Revaluation gains (losses) (135)
Amounts transferred to income statement (499)
Other reclassifications -
Non-current assets held for sale - -
Revaluation gains (losses) - -
Amounts transferred to income statement - -
Other reclassifications - -
Income tax related to items that may be reclassified to profit or loss 24 149 291
Total recognised income and expenses for the year 2,891 2,650

(*) See reconciliation of Bank of Spain Circular 4/2004 and subsequent modifications as at December 31, 2017 to Bank of Spain Circular
4/2017 as at January 1, 2018 (Note 1.b).
(**) Presented for comparison purposes only. See Note 1.d.

The accompanying Notes 1 to 50 and Appendices are an integral part of the balance sheet as at 31 December 2018.
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Translation of annual accounts originally issued in Spanish and prepared in accordance with the regulatory financial reporting framework applicable
to the Bank in Spain (see Notes 1 and 50). In the event of a discrepancy, the Spanish-language version prevails.

BANCO SANTANDER, S.A.

STATEMENTS OF CHANGES IN TOTAL EQUITY
FOR THE YEARS ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2018 AND 2017
(Millions of euros)

Other
. . . (-) Own .
™ Capital Sha_re Other instruments cher equity Retained earnings Revaluation Other Equity Result _forthe (-) Dividends com_prehenswe Total
premium (Other than capital) | instruments reserves reserves shares period income
accumulated
Balance as at 31/12/17 (**) 8,068 51,053 686 150 7,796 - 1,987 - 3,006 (2,029) (150) 70,567
Adjustments due to errors - - - - - - - - - - - -
Adjustments due to changes in accounting policies - - - - - - (518) - - - (12) (530)
Adjusted initial balance 8,068 51,053 686 150 7,796 - 1,469 - 3,006 (2,029) (162) 70,037
Total recognised income and expense - - - - - - - - 3,301 - (410) 2,891
Other changes in equity 50 (60) (121) 20 9 (958) - (3,006) (208) 113 (4,161)
Issuance of ordinary shares 50 (60) - - - - 10 - - - - -
Issuance of preferred shares - - - - - - - - - - - -
Issuance of other financial instruments - - - - - - - - - - - -
Maturity of other financial instruments ; : : } R } } R R R ; :
Conversion of financial liabilities into equity - - - - - - - - - - - -
Capital reduction - - - - - - - - - - - -
Dividends - - - - (968) - - - - (2,237) - (3,205)
Purchase of equity instruments - - - - - - - (816) - - - (816)
Disposal of equity instruments - - - - - - - 816 - - - 816
Transfer from equity to liabilities ; ; ; ; R } } R R R ) ;
Transfer from liabilities to equity ; ; ; ; R } } R R R ) ;
Transfers between equity items : : : ) 977 ; ; R (3,006) 2,029 - -
Increases (decreases) due to business combinations ; ; ; ; R } } R R R ) ;
Share-based payment - - - (53) - - - - - - - (53)
Others increases or (-) decreases of the equity ; ; @21 73 R } (968) R R R 113 (903)
Balance at 31/12/18 8,118 50,993 565 170 7,805 - 511 - 3,301 (2,237) (459) 68,767

(*) See reconciliation of Bank of Spain Circular 4/2004 and subsequent modifications as at December 31, 2017 to Bank of Spain Circular 4/2017 as at January 1, 2018 (Note 1.b).

(**) Presented for comparison purposes only. See Note 1.d.

The accompanying Notes 1 to 50 and Appendices are an integral part of the balance sheet as at 31 December 2018.
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FOR THE YEARS ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2017 AND 2016 (CONTINUED)

STATEMENTS OF CHANGES IN TOTAL EQUITY

(Millions of euros)

Translation of annual accounts originally issued in Spanish and prepared in accordance with the regulatory financial reporting framework applicable
to the Bank in Spain (see Notes 1 and 50). In the event of a discrepancy, the Spanish-language version prevails.

BANCO SANTANDER, S.A.

Other
Copal | Share | Oerdrunents | O0er ot | o | Rorlenion | Or | ety | ReSUente | puigengs | TP |
accumulated
Balance as at 31/12/16 (*) 7,291 44,912 - 135 7,785 - 2,092 - 2,481 (1,667) 206 63,235
Adjustments due to errors - - - - - - - - - - - B
Adjustments due to changes in accounting policies - - - - - - - - - - - R
Adjusted balance as at 01/01/2017 (*) 7,291 44,912 - 135 7,785 - 2,092 - 2,481 (1,667) 206 63,235
Total recognised income and expense - - - - - - - - 3,006 - (356) 2,650
Other changes in equity 777 6,141 686 15 11 - (105) - (2,481) (362) - 4,682
Issuance of ordinary shares 777 6,141 - - - - 6 - - - - 6,924
Issuance of preferred shares - - - - - - - - - - - B
Issuance of other financial instruments - - 686 - - - - - - - - 686
Maturity of other financial instruments - - - - - - - - - - - -
Conversion of financial liabilities into equity - - - - - - - - - - - -
Capital reduction - - - - - - - - - B N -
Dividends - - - - (803) - - - - (2,029) - (2,832)
Purchase of equity instruments - - - - - - - (972) - - - (972)
Disposal of equity instruments - - - - - - 23 972 - - - 995
Transfer from equity to liabilities - - - - - - - - - - - -
Transfer from liabilities to equity - - - - - - - - - - N -
Transfers between equity items - - - - 814 - - - (2,481) 1,667 - -
Increases (decreases) due to business combinations - - - - - - - - - - - -
Share-based payment - - - (46) - - - - - - - (46)
Others increases or (-) decreases of the equity - - - 61 - - (134) - - - - (73)
Balance at 31/12/17 8,068 51,053 686 150 7,796 - 1,987 - 3,006 (2,029) (150) 70,567

The accompanying Notes 1 to 50 and Appendices are an integral part of the statements of changes in total equity for the year ended 31 December 2017.

(*) Restated balances. Presented for comparison purposes only. See Note 1.d.
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Translation of annual accounts originally issued in Spanish and prepared in accordance with the regulatory financial reporting framework applicable
to the Bank in Spain (see Notes 1 and 50). In the event of a discrepancy, the Spanish-language version prevails.

BANCO SANTANDER, S.A.

STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS
FOR THE YEARS ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2018 AND 2017

(Millions of euros)

* Note 2018 2017 (**)

A. CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES 10,443 15,476
Profit for the year 4 3,301 3,006
Adjustments made to obtain the cash flows from operating activities 11,576 1,823
Depreciation and amortisation charge 15&16 313 193
Other adjustments 11,263 1,630
Net increase/(decrease) in operating assets (17,566) (10,429)
Financial assets held-for-trading (5,348) 4,829
Non-trading financial assets mandatorily at fair value through profit or loss (767)

Financial assets designated at fair value through profit or loss (12,600) (8,752)
Financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income 13,331

Financial assets available-for-sale (4,445)
Financial assets at amortized cost (9,298)

Loans and receivables (2,318)
Other operating assets (2,884) (257)
Net increase/(decrease) in operating liabilities 13,411 21,915
Liabilities held-for-trading financial 9,017 (6,597)
Financial liabilities designated at fair value through profit or loss 3,359 17,189
Financial liabilities at amortised cost 2,982 11,854
Other operating liabilities (1,947) (531)
Income tax recovered/(paid) (279) (839)
B. CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES 8,725 (3,823)
Payments 1,472 8,818
Tangible assets 15 459 455
Intangible assets 16 96 138
Investments 13 917 8,225
Subsidiaries and other business units - -
Non-current assets held for sale and associated liabilities - -
Held-to-maturity investments -
Other payments related to investing activities - =
Proceeds 10,197 4,995
Tangible assets 15 160 231
Intangible assets 16 - -
Investments 13 1,671 4,355
Subsidiaries and other business units - -
Non-current assets held for sale and associated liabilities 8,366 340
Held-to-maturity investments 69
Other proceeds related to investing activities - -
C. CASH FLOW FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES (1,208) 7,101
Payments 4,763 4,554
Dividends 4 3,118 2,665
Subordinated liabilities 21 827 764
Redemption of own equity instruments - -
Acquisition of own equity instruments 816 972
Other payments related to financing activities 2 153
Proceeds 3,555 11,655
Subordinated liabilities 21 2,750 2,894
Issuance of own equity instruments - 7,072
Disposal of own equity instruments 805 1,004
Other proceeds related to financing activities - 685
D. EFFECT OF FOREIGN EXCHANGE RATE CHANGES 237 (655)
E. NET INCREASE/(DECREASE) IN CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 18,197 18,099
F. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT BEGINNING OF PERIOD 33,734 15,635
G. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT END OF PERIOD 51,931 33,734
Memorandum items

COMPONENTS OF CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT END OF PERIOD

Cash 1,375 772
Cash equivalents at central banks 45,232 30.800
Other financial assets 5,324 2.162
Less - Bank overdrafts refundable on demand - -

(*) See reconciliation of Bank of Spain Circular 4/2004 and subsequent modifications as at December 31, 2017 to Bank of Spain Circular 4/2017 as at January 1, 2018 (Note 1.b).

(**) Presented for comparison purposes only. See Note 1.d.

The accompanying Notes 1 to 50 and Appendices are an integral part of the balance sheet as at 31 December 2018.




& Santander

Translation of annual accounts originally issued in Spanish and prepared in accordance with the regulatory financial
reporting framework applicable to the Bank in Spain (see Notes 1 and 50). In the event of a discrepancy, the Spanish-
language version prevails.

Banco Santander, S.A.

Notes to the financial statements (annual accounts) for the year ended 31
December 2018

Introduction, basis of presentation of the financial statements (annual accounts) and other information

a) Introduction

Banco Santander, S.A. (“the Bank” or “Banco Santander”) is a private-law entity subject to the rules and
regulations applicable to banks operating in Spain. The Bylaws and other public information on the Bank
can be consulted at its registered office at Paseo de Pereda 9-12, Santander.

In addition to the operations carried on directly by it, the Bank is the head of a group of subsidiaries that
engage in various business activities and which compose, together with it, Santander Group (“the Group”).
Therefore, the Bank is obliged to prepare, in addition to its own separate financial statements, the Group's
consolidated financial statements, which also include the interests in joint ventures and investments in
associates.

The Bank's financial statements for 2017 were approved by the shareholders at the Bank's annual general
meeting on 23 March 2018. The 2018 consolidated financial statements of the Group, the financial
statements of the Bank and of substantially all the Group companies have not been approved yet by their
shareholders at the respective annual general meetings. However, the Bank's board of directors considers
that the aforementioned financial statements will be approved without any significant changes.

In the Appendix X, it is detailed the list of agents that assist the Bank on the performance of its business
activities in Spain.

b) Basis of presentation of the financial statements (annual accounts)

The Bank's financial statements for 2018 were formally prepared by the Bank's directors (at the board
meeting on 26 February 2019) in accordance with Bank of Spain Circular 4/2017, taking into account the
subsequent amendments to and the Spanish corporate and commercial law applicable to the Bank, using
the accounting policies and measurement criteria detailed in Note 2. Accordingly, the financial statements
fairly presented the Bank's equity and financial position at 31 December 2018 and the results of its
operations, of the recognised income and expenses, of the changes in equity and of cash flows in 2018.
These financial statements were prepared using the Bank accounting record.

The notes to the financial statements contain supplementary information to that presented in the balance
sheet, income statement, statement of recognised income and expense, statement of changes in total
equity and statement of cash flows. The notes provide, in a clear, relevant, reliable and comparable
manner, narrative descriptions and breakdowns of these financial statements.

Adoption of new standards and interpretations issues

The following is a summary of the main applicable Bank of Spain Circulars, issued and that come into
force in the financial year 2018:

Bank of Spain Circular 1/2017, of January 31, with amends Circular 5/2016, of May 27, on the calculation
method so that contributions of the entities adhered to the Deposit Guarantee Fund of Credit Institutions
are proportional to their risk profile; and Circular 8/2015, of December 18, to entities and branches adhered
to the Deposit Guarantee Fund of Credit Institutions to determine on information to determine the
calculation bases of the contribution to the Deposit Guarantee Fund of Credit Institutions. (BOE of
February 9, 2018).



& Santander

From the application of this circulars, no significant effects have been identified in the Bank's financial
statements.

Likewise, the following regulations are operating at the moment of the formulation, which effective date is
after December 31, 2018:

Bank of Spain Circular 4/2017 of November 27, to credit institutions, on rules of public and reserved
financial information and models of financial statements.

On December 6, 2017, Circular 4/2017, of November 27, of Bank of Spain, was published in the BOE to
credit institutions, on rules of public and reserved financial information and models of financial statements.
The objective of this circular is to adapt the accounting system of Spanish credit institutions to changes in
the European accounting system resulting from the adoption of two new International Financial Reporting
Standards (IFRS) -IFRS 15 and IFRS 9.

The main aspects contained in IFRS9 and IFRS15, to which aforementioned Circular 4/2017 is adapted,
are the following:

- IFRS 9 Financial instruments

On 1 January 2018, IFRS9 Financial instruments entered into force. IFRS9 establishes the
requirements for recognition and measurement of both financial instruments and certain types of non-
financial-purchase contracts. The aforementioned requirements should be applied retrospectively,
adjusting the opening balance at 1 January 2018, not requiring restatement of the comparative
financial statements.

The adoption of IFRS9 has resulted in changes in the Banks’ accounting policies for the recognition,
classification and measurement of financial assets and liabilities and financial assets impairment.
IFRS9 also significantly modifies other standards related to financial instruments such as IFRS7
"Financial instruments: disclosure”.

Additionally, IFRS9 includes new hedge accounting requirements which have a twofold objective: to
simplify current requirements, and to bring hedge accounting in line with risk management, allowing
to be a greater variety of derivative financial instruments which may be considered to be hedging
instruments. Furthermore, additional breakdowns are required providing useful information regarding
the effect which hedge accounting has on financial statements and also on the entity’s risk
management strategy. The treatment of macro-hedges is being developed as a separate project
under IFRS9. Entities have the option of continuing to apply IAS39 (also included in Bank of Spain
Circular 4/2004 and subsequent amendments) with respect to accounting hedges until the project
has been completed. According to the analysis performed until now, the Bank applies IAS39 in hedge
accounting.

For breakdowns of the notes, according to the regulations in force, the amendments relating to IFRS7
have only been applied to the current period. The breakdowns of the comparative information period
notes maintain the breakdowns made in the previous period.
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The following breakdowns relate to the impact of the adoption of Bank of Spain Circular 4/2017 in the Bank:

a) Classification and measurement of financial instruments

The following table shows a comparison between Bank of Spain Circular 4/2004 and subsequent amendments as of December 31, 2017 and Bank of Spain Circular

4/2017 as of January 1, 2018 of the reclassified financial instruments in accordance with the new requirements of Bank of Spain Circular 4/2017 regarding
classification and measurement (without impairment), as well as its book value:

Circular 4/2004 (31/12/2017)

Circular 4/2017 (01/01/2018)

Book value
Book value Ban%goga\éi!:%er Mi?ogrvélflfj:ct Banco Santander,
Balance Portfolio Banco Santander, S.A. Portfolio ! erg S.A. (after
i A (Million of euros)
(Million of euros) (Million of euros) * merger)
(Million of euros)
Equity instruments Financial assets available for sale 51 Non-trading financial assets mandatorily at fair value through profit or loss 79 8 87
quity (including those that were valued at cost at December) Financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income - 186 186
Loans and receivables 306 | Non-trading financial assets mandatorily at fair value through profit or loss 284 80 364
Financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income 23 484 507
Debt instruments Non-trading financial assets mandatorily at fair value through profit or loss 17 1 18
Financial assets available for sale 395 | Financial assets at amortized cost 165 - 165
Financial assets held for trading 203 - 203
Investments held-to-maturity 1,892 | Financial assets at amortized cost 1,881 - 1,881
. Non-trading financial assets mandatorily at fair value through profit or loss 2,379 137 2,516
Loans and advances Loans and receivables 2,955 - - ——
Financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income 574 - 574

(*) See further detail Note 1.d and Note 1.i.
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b) Reconciliation of impairment provisions from Bank of Spain Circular 4/2004 and subsequent amendments to Bank of Spain Circular 4/2017

The following table shows a comparison between Bank of Spain Circular 4/2004 and subsequent amendments as of December 31, 2017 and Bank of Spain
Circular 4/2017 as of January 1, 2018 of the impairment provisions of the financial instruments in accordance with the new requirements of Bank of Spain

Circular 4/2017:

EUR million

Banco Santander, S.A.

Merger Effect (*)

Banco Santander, S.A. (after merger)

Circular 4/2004

Impairment impact

Circular 4/2017

Circular 4/2017

Circular 4/2017

31-12-2017 01-01-2018 01-01-2018 01-01-2018
Financial assets at amortized cost 4,720 385 5,105 4,780 9,885
Loans and advances 4,632 385 5,017 4,780 9,797
Debt instruments 88 - 88 - 88
Financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income - - - 3 3
Debt instruments - - - 3 3
Commitments and guarantees granted 195 12 207 122 329
Total 4,915 397 5,312 4,905 10,217

(*) See further detail Note 1.d and Note 1.i.

Additionally, there is not an impairment impact on Investments in joint ventures and associates.
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c) Balance sheet reconciliation from Bank of Spain Circular 4/2004 and subsequent amendments to Bank of Spain Circular 4/2017

The following table shows in detail the reconciliation the consolidated balance sheet under Bank of Spain Circular 4/2004 and subsequent amendments as at
December 31, 2017 to Bank of Spain Circular 4/2017 as at January 1, 2018 distinguishing between the impacts due to classification and measurement and due to
impairment once adopted Bank of Spain Circular 4/2017:

Banco Santander, S.A.

Banco Santander, S.A. Banco Santander, S.A. Merger Effect (***) (after merger)
. Circular 4/2004 Namin Classification and . . Circular 4/2017 Circular 4/2017 Circular 4/2017
ASSETS (EUR million) 31-12-2017 modifications ()| measurement impact Impairment impact 01-01-2018 01-01-2018 01-01-2018

Cash, cash balances at central banks and other deposits on demand 33,734 - - - 33,734 10,078 43,812

Financial assets held for trading 64,326 - 203 - 64,529 948 65,477
Derivatives 38,894 - - - 38,894 982 39,876
Equity instruments 10,168 - - - 10,168 0 10,168
Debt instruments 15,242 - 203 - 15,445 (34) 15,411
Loans and advances 22 - - - 22 - 22

Non-trading financial assets mandatorily at fair value through profit or loss - - 2,759 - 2,759 226 2,985
Equity instruments - 79 - 79 8 87
Debt instruments - 301 - 301 81 382
Loans and advances - 2,379 - 2,379 137 2,516

Financial assets designated at fair value through profit or loss 34,021 - - - 34,021 5,295 28,726
Equity instruments - - - -

Debt instruments - - - - - - -
Loans and advances 34,021 - - - 34,021 (5,295) 28,726

Financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income 33,363 597 - 33,960 15,286 49,246
Equity instruments 1,812 - - 1,812 128 1,940
Debt instruments 31,551 23 - 31,574 15,158 46,732
Loans and advances 574 - 574 - 574

Financial assets available-for-sale 33,809 (33,363) (446) -

Equity instruments 1,863 (1,812) (51) -
Debt instruments 31,946 (31,551) (395) -

Financial assets at amortized cost 216,578 2,046 (385) 218,419 69,606 288,025
Debt instruments 13,186 2,046 - 15,232 38 15,270
Loans and advances 203,572 - (385) 203,187 69,568 272,755

Loans and receivables 220,019 {216,758) (3,261) -

Debt instruments 13,492 (13,186) (306) -
Loans and advances 206,527 (203,572) (2,955) -

Investments held to maturity 1,892 - (1,892) -

Investments 85,428 - - - 85,428 (4,236) 81,192

Other assets (**) 19,186 - - 119 19,304 14,795 34,100

TOTAL ASSETS 492,415 - 6 (266) 492,155 101,408 593,563

(*) Due to the entry into force of Bank of Spain Circular 4/2017.

(**) Includes Hedging derivatives, Changes in the fair value of hedged items in portfolio hedges of interest risk, Reinsurance assets, Tangible assets, Intangible assets, Tax assets, Other assets and Non-current assets held for sale.

(***) See further detail Nota 1.d and Note 1.i.
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Merger effect —

Banco Santander, S.A.

Banco Santander, S.A. Banco Santander, S.A. (*F**). (after merger)
- Circular 4/2004 Naming Classification and Impairment Circular 4/2017 Circular 4/2017 Circular 4/2017
LIABILITIES (EUR million) 31-12-2017 modifications measurement impact impact 01-01-2018 01-01-2018 01-01-2018
Financial liabilities held for trading 47,952 - - 47,952 1,052 49,004
Derivatives 39,234 39,234 1,052 40,286
Short positions 8,718 - - 8,718 - 8,718
Deposits - - - - - -
Debt instruments issued - - - - - -
Other financial liabilities - - - - - -
Financial liabilities designated at fair value through profit or 32314 593 31721
loss 32,314 - -
Deposits 32,314 - - 32,314 -593 31,721
Debt instruments issued - - - - - -
Other financial liabilities - - - - - -
Financial liabilities at amortized cost 327,020 - - 327,020 98,091 425,111
Deposits 264,582 - - 264,582 87,211 351,793
Debt instruments issued 53,058 - - 53,058 9,948 63,006
Other financial liabilities 9,380 - - 9,380 932 10,312
Hedging derivatives 4,014 - - 4,014 737 4,751
Changes in the fair value of hedged items in portfolio hedges
of interest rate risk - - - - - -
Provisions 6,615 - 12 6,627 1,185 7,812
Commitments and guarantees given 196 - 12 208 122 330
Other provisions (*) 6,419 - - 6,419 1,063 7,482
Rest of liabilities (**) 3,933 - 1 3,936 1,221 5,157
TOTAL LIABILITIES 421,848 - 13 421,863 101,693 523,556

(*) Includes Pensions and other post-retirements obligations, Other long-term employee benefits, Taxes and other legal contingencies, Contingent liabilities and commitments and Other provisions (including endorsements

and other contingent liabilities).

(**) Includes Liabilities under insurance or reinsurance contracts, Tax liabilities, Other liabilities and Liabilities associated with non current assets held for sale.

(***) See further detail Note 1.d and Note 1.i.
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Merger effect — Banco Santander, S.A.
Banco Santander, S.A. Banco Santander, S.A. (**). (after merger)
Circular Classification and measurement . . .
- . T » - . . Circular 4/2017 Circular 4/2017 Circular 4/2017
EQUITY (EUR million) 31_41/22_02%417 Naming modifications (*) impact Impairment impact 01-01-2018 01-01-2018 01-01-2018
Shareholders’ equity 70,717 16 (279) 70,454 (397) 70,057
Capital - - 8,068 - 8,068
Share premium - - 51,053 - 51,053
Equity instruments issued other than capital 686 - - 686 (161) 525
Other equity 150 - - 150 - 150
Accumulated retained earnings 7,796 - - 7,796 - 7,796
Revaluation reserves - - - - - -
Other reserves (***) 1,987 16 (279) 1,724 (237) 1,487
(-) Own shares - - - - -
Profit attributable to shareholders’ of the parent - - 3,006 1 3,007
(-) Interim dividends - - (2,029) - (2,029)
Other comprehensive income (12) - (162) 111 (51)
Items not reclassified to profit or loss 442 10 - (644) ) (648)
Actuarial gains or losses on defined benefit pension plans - - (1,096) ®3) (1,099)
Non-current assets and disposable groups of items that have been
classified as held for sale B ) B ) )
Share in other recognised income and expenses of investments in joint
ventures and associates B )
Other valuation adjustments - -
Changes in the fair value of equity instruments measured at fair value 242 10 }
with changes in other comprehensive income
Inefficacy of fair value hedges of equity instruments measured at fair
value with changes in other comprehensive income ) )
Changes in the fair value of financial liabilities at fair value through profit
or loss attributable to changes in credit risk ) )
Items that may be reclassified to profit or loss 946 (442) (22) -
Hedge of net investment in foreign operations (effective part) - - -
Exchange differences - - -
Hedging derivatives. Cash flow hedges (effective part) - - -
Changes in the fair value of debt instruments measured at fair value with 298 (16) ; 11
changes in other comprehensive income
Hedging instruments (items not designated) - - - - -
Financial assets available for sale 946 (940) (6) -
Debt instruments 498 (498) - -
Equity instruments 448 (442) (6) -
Non-current assets - - - - - -
Share in other income and expenses recognised in investments in joint
ventures and associates . ) ) ) B )
Non controlling interests - - - - - -
Other comprehensive income - - - - - -
Other elements - - - - - -
EQUITY 70,567 - 4 (279) 70,292 (286) 70,006
TOTAL EQUITY AND LIABILITIES 492,415 6 (266) 492,155 101,407 593,562

(*) Due to the entry into force of Bank of Spain Circular 4/2017.

(**) See further detail Note 1.d and Note 1.i.

(***) The impact recorded in Other reserves under merger effect for a negative amount of 237 million euros is broken down into a negative amount of 255 million euros corresponding to the entry into force of Circular 4/2017

Bank of Spain and a positive amount of 18 million euros for merger reserves.
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- IFRS15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers (effective for annual reporting periods beginning on
or after 1 January 2018) - the new standard on the recognition of revenue from contracts with
customers. It supersedes the following standards and interpretations previous in force: 1AS18,
Revenue; 1AS11, Construction Contracts; IFRIC 13, Customer Loyalty Programs; IFRIC 15,
Agreements for the Construction of Real Estate; IFRIC 18, Transfers of Assets from Customers; and
SIC-31, Revenue-Barter Transactions Involving Advertising Services. Under IFRS15, an entity
recognizes revenue in accordance with the core principle of the standard by applying the following
five steps: identify the contract(s) with a customer; identify the performance obligations in the
contract; determine the transaction price; allocate the transaction price to the performance
obligations identified in the contract; and recognize revenue when as the entity satisfies a
performance obligation.

- Clarifications to IFRS15 income coming from contracts with clients.

Given that IFRS15 does not apply to financial instruments and other contractual rights or obligations
under the scope of IFRS9, no significant effects derive from the application of the aforementioned
Accounting Standard and its clarifications in the Bank's financial statements..

Also, at the date of preparation of these financial statements, the following amendments with an effective
date subsequent to 31 December 2018 were in force:

Circular 2/2018, of December 21, of the Bank of Spain, by which Circular 4/2017, of November 27, is
modified to credit institutions, on rules of public and reserved financial information, and financial statement
models , and Circular 1/2013 of May 24, about Risk Information Center. (BOE December, 28): The main
objective of this Circular is to adopt Circular 4/2017, of November 27, to credit entities, on public and
reserved financial information standards, and financial statement models, to the Regulation (EU )
2017/1986 of the Commission, of October 31, 2017, amending Regulation (EC) No. 1126/2008, adopting
certain International Accounting Standards in accordance with Regulation (EC) No. 1606/2002 of the
European Parliament and of the Council, with regard to the International Financial Reporting Standard
(IFRS-EU) 16, on leases. It should also be mentioned that this circular also modifies Circular 1/2013, of
May 24, on the Risk Information Center (CIR), incorporating minor changes in order to introduce
clarifications and improvements.

The main aspects contained in IFRS 16, to which the aforementioned Circular 2/2018 is adapted, are the
following:

- IFRS16 Leasings substitutes 1AS17, IFRIC (International Financial Reporting Interpretation
Committee) 4, SIC (Standard Interpretations Committee)-15 and SIC-27. It was adopted by the
European Union on 31 October 2017 through the Regulation (EU) 2017/1986.

IFRS16 (effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2019, with an early adoption
option that the Bank establishes the principles for the recognition, measurement, presentation and
breakdown of lease contracts, with the objective of reporting information that faithfully represents the
lease transactions. IFRS16 provides a single accounting model for the lessee, whereby the lessee
must recognise the assets by right of use and the corresponding lease liabilities of all the lease
contracts, unless the lease term is 12 months or less or the underlying asset is of low value.

Transition

The criteria established by the Standard for the registration of the lease contracts will be applied in a
retrospective modified way adjusting the opening balance on the first day of application ( 1st of January
2019). The Bank, has decided to apply the practical solution allowed by the Standard of not evaluating in
the first application of the contracts are or contain a lease (under the new definition), and therefore, the
IFRS16 will only apply to those contracts that were previously identified as lease contracts.

The Group has estimated an impact due to the first standard adoption on the ordinary capital ratio
(Common Equity Tier 1 — CET 1) fully loaded of -20 b.p. Likewise, it is estimated that assets with the right
to use will be approximately recognised by an amount of EUR 6.7 thousand million, of which EUR 4.24
thousand millions correspond to Banco Santander, S.A.
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The main causes of this impact are the requirements of registration of the asset with the right to use
derived from all the lease contracts active during the first application. Thus, the impact being greater for
the Bank leased properties.

The following are the main policies, estimates and criteria for the application of IFRS16 currently defined
by the Bank for its practical adoption:

-Lease term: in general, the lease term of each contract will coincide with the initial term established. With
regard to property contracts, in certain cases the possible consideration of exercising extension or early
cancellation options has been evaluated, based mainly on market factors specific to each asset in each

geography.

-Discount rate: taking into account that the Bank has opted to apply the modified standard retrospectively,
the discount rate used in transition will be the lessee's incremental borrowing rate at this date. For these
purposes, the entity has calculated this incremental interest rate taking as a reference the quoted debt
instruments issued by the Bank. In this regard, the Bank has estimated different interest rate curves based
on the currency and economic environment in which the contracts are located.

-Practical exemptions in transition: the Bank has considered the practical solutions defined in paragraph
C10 of the standard in the application of the modified retrospective method. This application was made on
a contract-by-contract basis, and none of the exemptions were generally applied.

Strategy of implementation of the IFRS 16 and governance

The Bank established a global project and multidisciplinary with the objective of adapting its processes to
the new Standard of accounting of the lease contracts, granting that said processes are adopted in a
homogenous way in all the units of the Bank, and at the same time, to the particularities of each unit.

Thus, the Bank has worked since 2017 in the analysis and identification of the contracts affected by the
Standard, as well as the definition of the main technical criteria that affects the accounting of the lease
contracts.

With respect to the structure of the project’s governance, the Bank has established a periodic meeting of
the direction of the project, and a team in charge of granting the participation of the responsible teams and
coordination with all the geographies.

Main steps and milestones of the project

In relation to the entry of this new Standard, the Bank reported in the interim condensed financial
statements as of 30 June 2018 the progress to that date of the implementation plan of the same.

The Bank has prepared the accounting policy and a methodological framework that has been the
benchmark for the development of the implementation carried out in the different local units. The internal
regulation has been approved under the relevant corporate bodies before the entry into force of the
Standard.

Likewise, the corporate development of the control model over the registration process of the lease
contracts is complete, both in transition and once the Standard is applied. The proposed model includes a
reference design of the controls to be employed in the new developments made for the implementation of
the Standard.

All accounting policies and measurement bases with a material effect on the financial statements for 2018
were applied in their preparation.

¢) Use of critical estimates

The Banks’ results and the determination of equity are sensitive to the accounting policies, measurement
bases and estimates used by the directors of the Bank in preparing the financial statements. The main
accounting policies and measurement bases are set forth in Note 2.
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In the financial statements estimates were occasionally made by the senior management of the Bank and
of the consolidated entities in order to quantify certain of the assets, liabilities, income, expenses and
obligations reported herein. These estimates, which were made on the basis of the best information
available, relate basically to the following:

- The impairment losses on certain assets: it applies to financial assets at fair value through other
comprehensive income, financial assets at amortised cost, non-current assets held for sale,
investments, tangible assets and intangible assets (see Notes 6, 7, 8, 10, 12, 13, 15 and 16);

- The assumptions used in the actuarial calculation of the post-employment benefit liabilities and
commitments and other obligations (see Note 23);

- The useful life of the tangible and intangible assets (see Notes 15 and 16);
- The measurement of goodwill arising (see Note 16);

- The calculation of provisions and the consideration of contingent liabilities (see Note 23).

- The fair value of certain unquoted assets and liabilities (see Notes 6, 7, 8, 9, 10, 11, 18, 19 and 20).
- The recoverability of deferred tax assets (see Note 24).

Although these estimates were made on the basis of the best information available at 2018 year-end,
future events might make it necessary to change these estimates (upwards or downwards) in coming
years. Changes in accounting estimates would be applied prospectively, recognising the effects of the
change in estimates in the related consolidated income statement.

d) Comparative information

As mentioned on Note 1.b), in order to adapt the accounting system of Spanish credit institutions to the
changes related to IFRS15 and IFRS9, on 6 December 2017, Circular 4/2017, of 27 November, of the
Bank of Spain, was published, which repeals Circular 4/2004, of December 22, for those years beginning
as of 1 January 2018. The adoption of this Circular has modified the breakdown and presentation of
certain headings in the financial statements, to adapt them to the aforementioned IFRS9. Information
corresponding to the year ended 31 December 2017, has not been restated under this Circular.

As allowed by the regulation itself, the Bank has chosen not to restate the comparative financial
statements, and the information relating to the year ended on December 31, 2017, has not been reworked
under these criteria, so that it is not comparative. Although, in Note 1.b), a balance reconciliation is
included as of December 31, 2017 under Circular 4/2004 and subsequent amendments and the
corresponding balances as of January 1, 2018 under Circular 4/2017 of Bank of Spain where the effect of
the first application of this Circular is broken down.

Therefore, the information for the year 2017 contained in these notes to the financial statements is
presented with the information relating to 2018 for comparative purposes only, except as mentioned above
in relation to the application of IFRS9, the application of the new requirements of Circular 4/2017 of Bank
of Spain (see note 1.b).

Additionally, as detailed in section i) of this Note, with accounting effects, January 1, 2018, the merger by
absorption of Banco Popular Espafiol, S.A.U. (previous merger by absorption of Banco Popular Espafiol,
S.A.U. with Banco Pastor, S.A.U. and Popular Banca Privada, S.A.U with accounting effects January 1,
2018), Santander Investment Bolsa, Sociedad de Valores, S.A.U. and Popular de Renting, S.A.U.
Although section i) of this Note presents the balances contributed by these companies prior to the
eliminations of internal transactions between said entities and the Bank, in order to facilitate the
comparison of the information corresponding to the composition of the main items of the balance sheet
and its variation during the year, are included in the corresponding Notes the balances that the different
items of the Bank would present on January 1, 2018, once the main effects of the aforementioned mergers
are included in their own balances.

10
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e) Capital management

i. Regulatory and economic capital
The Group's capital management is performed at regulatory and economic levels.

The aim is to secure the Group's solvency and guarantee its economic capital adequacy and its
compliance with regulatory requirements, as well as an efficient use of capital.

To this end, the regulatory and economic capital figures and their associated metrics RORWA (return on
risk-weighted assets), RORAC (return on risk-adjusted capital) and value creation of each business unit-
are generated, analysed and reported to the relevant governing bodies on a regular basis.

Within the framework of the internal capital adequacy assessment process (Pillar Il of the Basel Capital
Accord), the Group uses an economic capital measurement model with the objective of ensuring that there
is sufficient capital available to support all the risks of its activity in various economic scenarios, with the
solvency levels agreed upon by the Group; at the same time the Group assesses, also in the various
scenarios, whether it meets the regulatory capital ratio requirements.

In order to adequately manage the Group's capital, it is essential to estimate and analyse future needs, in
anticipation of the various phases of the business cycle. Projections of regulatory and economic capital are
made based on the budgetary information (balance sheet, income statement, etc.) and the macroeconomic
scenarios defined by the Group's economic research service. These estimates are used by the Group as a
reference when planning the management actions (issues, securitisations, etc.) required to achieve its
capital targets.

In addition, certain stress scenarios are simulated in order to assess the availability of capital in adverse
situations. These scenarios are based on sharp fluctuations in macroeconomic variables (GDP, interest
rates, housing prices, etc.) that mirror historical crisis that could happen again or plausible but unlikely
stress situations.

Following is a brief description of the regulatory capital framework to which the Group is subject.

On 26 June 2013 the Basel Il legal framework was included in European law through Directive 2013/36
(CRD V), repealing Directives 2006/48 and 2006/49, and through Regulation 575/2013 on prudential
requirements for credit institutions and investment firms (CRR).

The CRD IV was transposed into Spanish legislation through Law 10/2014 on the regulation, supervision
and capital adequacy of credit institutions, and its subsequent implementing regulations contained in Royal
Decree-Law 84/2015 and Bank of Spain Circular 2/2016, was completed the adaptation to the Spanish
law.

The CRR came into force immediately, establishes a phase-in that will permit a progressive adaptation to
the new requirements in the European Union. These phase-in arrangements were incorporated into
Spanish regulations through the approval of Royal Decree-Law 14/2013 and Bank of Spain Circular
2/2014. They affect both the new deductions and the issues and items of own funds which cease to be
eligible as such under this new regulation. In March 2016, the European Central Bank published
Regulation 2016/445/UE that modifies some of the phase-in dates applicable to Group, especially deferred
tax assets calendar. The capital buffers provided for in CRD IV are also subject to phase-in; they are
applicable for the first time in 2016 and must be fully implemented by 2019.

The review of the existing capital regulatory framework (CRR/CRD 1V) by European governing bodies is
being finalised. The new framework (CRR II/CRDV), which is expected to be approved at the beginning of
2019, incorporates different Basel standards such as the Fundamental Review of the Trading Book for
Market Risk, the Net Stable Funding Ratio for liquidity risk, the SA-CCR for the calculation of the EAD for
counterparty risk or the interest rate risk in the Banking Book (IRRBB). It also introduces modifications
related to the treatment of central counterparties, MDA, Pillar 2, leverage ratio and Pillar 3 among others.

11
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The most relevant initiative is the implementation of the TLAC Term Sheet established at international level
by the FSB (Financial Stability Board) within the European capital framework, called MREL (Minimum
requirement of Eligible Liabilities) in such a way that systemic entities will have to comply with the
requirements of MREL in Pillar 1. Within this package of modifications, the modification of the Resolution
Directive (BRRD) is also included, replacing it with the BRRD Il where MREL requirements are established
for Pillar 2 for all resolution entities, whether systemic or not, where the resolution authority will decide on a
case-by-case basis the requirements.

The Single Resolution Board's MREL policy for 2017 was based on a step-by-step approach to achieve
the MREL target level within several years, and non-compliance could result in the consideration that the
entity cannot be resolved. In relation to the subordination requirement, the Single Resolution Board
considered that entities of global systemic importance (G-Sllis) have to meet, as a minimum, a level of
subordination equal to 13.5% of the RWA plus the combined buffer requirement.

In 2018 the SRB has set target requirements for MREL at a consolidated level based on the 2017 policy.
These objectives are established for each resolution group, either in MPE (Multiple Point of Entry)
strategies as in the case of the Group, or in SPE (Single Point of Entry) strategies.

At 31 December 2018 the Group met the minimum capital requirements established by current legislation
(See Note 49).

ii. Plan for the roll-out of advanced approaches and authorisation from the supervisory authorities

The Group continues adopting, over the next few years, the advanced internal ratings-based (AIRB)
approach under Basel Il for substantially all its banks, until the percentage of exposure of the loan portfolio
covered by this approach exceeds 90%. The commitment assumed before the supervisor still implies the
adoption of advanced models within the ten key markets where Santander Group operates.

Accordingly, the Group continued in 2018 with the project for the progressive implementation of the
technology platforms and methodological improvements required for the roll-out of the AIRB approach for
regulatory capital calculation purposes at the various Group units.

The Group has obtained authorisation from the supervisory authorities to use the AIRB approach for the
calculation of regulatory capital requirements for credit risk for the Parent and the main subsidiaries in
Spain, the United Kingdom and Portugal, as well as for certain portfolios in Germany, Mexico, Brazil, Chile,
the Nordic countries (Norway, Sweden and Finland), France and the United States.

During 2018, approval was obtained for the sovereign portfolios, Institutions (FIRB method) and
specialised financing (Slotting) in Chile, mortgages and most revolving portfolio of Santander Consumer
Germany as well as the portfolios of dealers of PSA France and PSA UK (FIRB method).

As regards the other risks explicitly addressed under Basel Pillar I, the Group is authorised to use its
internal model for market risk for its treasury trading activities in the UK, Spain, Chile, Portugal and Mexico.

For the purpose of calculating regulatory capital for operational risk, the Group uses the standardised
approach provided for the CRR. On 2018 the European Central Bank authorised the use of the Alternative
Standardised Approach to calculate the capital requirements at consolidated level in Banco Santander
México, S.A., Institucion de Banca Multiple, Grupo Financiero Santander México, in addition to the
approval obtained in 2016 in Brazil.

f) Environmental impact

In view of the business activities carried on by the Bank entities, the Group does not have any
environmental liability, expenses, assets, provisions or contingencies that might be material with respect to
its consolidated equity, financial position or results. Therefore, no specific disclosures relating to
environmental issues are included in these financial statements.

12
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9)

h)

Customer Care Service Annual Report

As required by the Article 17 of Ministry of Economy Order ECQO/734/2004, of 11 March, on the services
and departments of Customer Service and the Customer Ombudsmen of Financial Institutions, the annual
report presented by the Head of the department to the board meeting held on March 2019 is summarised
in the directors' report.

Deposit Guarantee Fund and Resolution Fund
a) Deposit Guarantee Fund

The Bank participates in the Deposit Guarantee Fund (“the DGF”). The annual contribution to be made by
the entities to this fund, established by Royal Decree - Law 16/2011 of October 14, by which the DGF is
created in accordance with the wording given by the Tenth Final Disposition of Law 11/2015 of June 18 on
Recovery and Resolution of credit institutions and investment services companies (in force since June 20,
2015), is determined by the Management Committee of the DGF and is established based on the
guaranteed deposits of each entity and its risk profile. The annual contribution to be made by the entities to
this fund is determined by the Management Committee of the FGD, and consists of the contribution based
on the guaranteed deposits of each entity corrected for its risk profile, which includes the phase of the
economic cycle and the impact of pro-cyclical contributions, according to section 3 of article 6 of the Royal
Decree-Law 16/2011.

The purpose of the FGD is to guarantee deposits with credit institutions up to the limit established in the
mentioned Royal Decree-Law. The expense incurred by the contributions accrued to this organism in the
year 2018 has amounted to 224 million euros (154 million euros in the year 2017), which are recorded
under Other operating expenses in the profit and loss account attached (see Note 41).

b) National Resolution Fund.

In 2015 Royal Decree 1012/2015 of November 6 was published. It develops Law 11/2015 of June 18 on
Recovery and Resolution of credit institutions and investment services companies, and it amended Royal
Decree 2606/1996 of December 20 on Deposit Guarantee Funds of entities of credit. The above
mentioned Law 11/2015 regulates the creation of the National Resolution Fund whose financial resources
should reach, before December 31, 2024, at least 1% of the amount of deposits guaranteed through
contributions from credit institutions and service companies established in Spain. The details of how to
calculate the contributions to this Fund are regulated by Commission Delegated Regulation (EU) 2015/63
of 21 October 2014 and it is calculated by the Ordinary Banking Order Fund ("FROB") on a basis to the
information provided by each entity.

c¢) Single Resolution Fund

In this respect, on 1 January 2016, the FUR introduced by Regulation (EU) No 806/2014 of the European
Parliament and of the Council entered into force. The rules governing the banking union establish that
banks will pay contributions to the FUR over eight years.

The competence of the calculation of the contributions that must be made by credit institutions and
investment firms to the FUR corresponds to the JUR. From 2016 these contributions are based on: (a) a
flat-rate contribution (or annual base contribution) pro rata of the liabilities of each entity excluding own
resources and deposits with coverage with respect to total liabilities and excluding the liabilities own funds
and deposits covered by all entities authorized in the territory of the participating member states; and
based on (b) a risk-adjusted contribution based on the criteria laid down in Article 103 (7) of Directive
2014/59 / EU, taking into account the principle of proportionality and without creating distortions between
banking sector structures in the Member States. The amount of this contribution is accrued annually from
2016.

The expenses incurred by contributions to the National Resolution Fund and to the Single Resolution Fund
in 2017 amounted to EUR 237 million (2017: EUR 181 million) and they are recognised under Other
operating expenses in the accompanying income statement (see Note 41).

13
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i) Merger by absorption

(a) Merger by absorption between Banco Popular Espafiol, S.A.U. (absorbing company) and Banco
Pastor, S.A.U. and Popular Banca Privada, S.A.U. (as absorbed companies) and, subsequently,
merger by absorption between Banco Santander, S.A. (absorbing company) and Banco Popular
Espafiol, S.A.U. (as absorbed company).

On April 23, 2018 the members of the Board of Directors of Banco Popular Espafiol, S.A.U., Banco Pastor,
S.A.U. and Popular Banca Privada S.A.U. drafted and approved the common merger project between
Banco Popular Espafiol, S.A.U. (as absorbing company) and Banco Pastor, S.A.U. and Popular Banca
Privada, S.A.U. (as absorbed companies).

Also, with the same date, the approval of the common merger project between Banco Santander, S.A. (as
an absorbing company) and Banco Popular Espafiol, S.A.U. (as absorbed company) by the Boards of
Directors of both companies. This merger was conditioned, in addition to the obtaining of the usual
regulatory authorizations in this type of transaction, prior to the registration of the Subsidiaries Fusion.

Under the provisions of articles 49.1 and 51 of Law 3/2009, of April 3, on structural modifications of
commercial companies ("LME"), it was not necessary to approve any of the two merger operations
described by the boards of shareholders or sole shareholders, as the case may be, of the participating
companies in the corresponding merger, as the entities being fully absorbed by the respective absorbing
companies are shareholders, and the shareholders of these companies are not invited to the meeting in
accordance with the provisions of article 51 of the LME.

Likewise, the aforementioned transactions constitute mergers of those regulated in article 76.1.c) of Law
27/2014, of November 27, on Corporation Tax ("LIS"). The information required in article 86.1 of the
aforementioned Law with respect to each of the two mergers is incorporated into this report (Annex VII).

Once the required authorization has been obtained from the Ministry of Economy and Business for each of
the mergers (additional provision twelfth Law 10/2014, of June 26, on the organization, supervision and
solvency of credit institutions), as well as the remaining regulatory authorizations to which each merger
was conditioned:

i On September 20, 2018, a merger deed was issued between Popular, Pastor and Popular BP,
which was filed for registration with the Madrid Mercantile Registry on the same date and was
registered on September 24, 2018. As a result , on the occasion of the registration of the Merger
of Subsidiaries, and with an effective date on September 20, 2018, there was the extinction
without liquidation of Pastor and Popular BP and the en bloc transmission of all of their respective
patrimonies to Popular, that acquired them by universal succession and without solution of
continuity.

ii. Also on September 20, 2018, the merger deed between Banco Santander and Popular was
granted, which was presented for registration in the Mercantile Registry of Cantabria on
September 26, 2018 and was registered on the 28th of that same month. Consequently, on the
occasion of the registration of this merger, and with an effective date of September 26, 2018, the
extinction without liquidation of Popular occurred and the block transfer of all of its assets to
Banco Santander, which acquired it by universal succession and without continuity solution.

Given that the companies absorbed in both operations were wholly owned by the absorbing entities, in
accordance with article 49.1, in relation to article 26 of the LME, capital increases were not necessary.
Acquired effectiveness of these mergers in the respective dates indicated above, all the shares of the
absorbed companies were fully amortized, extinguished and cancelled.

The merger balances in both transactions, for the purposes of Spanish legislation, were included in the
financial statements for the year ended December 31, 2017, drawn up by the administrative bodies of each
of the participating companies in the corresponding merger and duly verified by their respective auditors.

In accordance with the accounting regulations applicable, for accounting purposes, each of the mergers
was set on January 1, 2018 as the date from which the operations of the absorbed companies were to be
considered by the Absorbing societies.
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Furthermore, pursuant to article 89.1 of the LIS, both mergers were subject to the tax regime established in
chapter VII of title VII and in the second additional provision of the LIS, as well as in article 45, paragraph
IB10 of the Royal Legislative Decree 1/1993, of September 24, approving the Revised Text of the Tax on
Patrimonial Transmissions and Documented Legal Acts.

Below are the balance sheets of the absorbed companies as of December 31, 2017:

Banco Popular

Banco Pastor

Popular Banca Privada

ASSETS (EUR million) 31-12-2017 31-12-2017 31-12-2017
(Circular 4/2004) (Circular 4/2004) (Circular 4/2004)

Cash, cash balances at central banks and other deposits on demand 8,784 1,320 345
Financial assets held for trading 1,142 32 -

Derivatives 1,142 32 -

Equity instruments - - -

Debt instruments - -

Loans and advances - -
Financial assets designated at fair value through profit or loss - -

Equity instruments - -

Debt instruments - -

Loans and advances - - -
Financial assets available-for-sale 14,619 27 464

Equity instruments 190 - 4

Debt instruments 14,429 27 460
Loans and receivables 72,598 8,629 156

Debt instruments 857 - -

Loans and advances 71,741 8,629 156
Investments held to maturity - - -
Investments 1,819 2 4
Other assets 14,175 240 34
TOTAL ASSETS 113,137 10,250 1,003

. Banco Popular Banco P: r Popular Banca Priv.
LIABILITIES (EUR milior) Ty | S | T ey

Financial liabilities held for trading 1,210 32

Derivatives 1,210 32

Short positions - -

Deposits -

Debt instruments issued -

Other financial liabilities -
Financial liabilities designated at fair value through profit or loss -

Deposits -

Debt instruments issued -

Other financial liabilities - - -
Financial liabilities at amortized cost 103,366 9,801 869

Deposits 92,366 9,775 866

Debt instruments issued 10,121 - -

Other financial liabilities 879 26 3
Hedging derivatives 724 - 21
Changes in the fair value of hedged items in portfolio hedges of interest rate risk - - -
Provisions 1,112 48 13

Commitments and guarantees given 102 8 -

Other provisions 1,010 40 13
Rest of liabilities 936 38 22
TOTAL LIABILITIES 107,348 9,919 925
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EQUITY (EUR million)

Banco Popular
31-12-2017

Banco Pastor
31-12-2017

Popular Banca Privada
31-12-2017

Shareholders’ equity

Capital

Share premium

Equity instruments issued other than capital
Other equity

Accumulated retained earnings

Revaluation reserves

Other reserves

(-) Own shares

Profit attributable to shareholders’ of the parent
(-) Interim dividends

Other comprehensive income

Items not reclassified to profit or loss

Actuarial gains or losses on defined benefit pension plans

Non-current assets and disposable groups of items that have been classified as held for
sale

Share in other recognised income and expenses of investments in joint ventures and
associates

Other valuation adjustments

Items that may be reclassified to profit or loss

Hedge of net investment in foreign operations (effective part)

Exchange differences

Hedging derivatives. Cash flow hedges (effective part)

Financial assets available for sale
Debt instruments
Equity instruments

Non-current assets

Share in other income and expenses recognised in investments in joint ventures and
associates

Non controlling interests

Other comprehensive income

Other elements

5,836
3,420
4,144
3,440
8,427
-13,595
-47

-18
-18

-29

-56
27
25

329
301
205

45
-17

-205

71
23

50

PATRIMONIO NETO

5,789

331

78

TOTAL PASIVO Y PATRIMONIO NETO

113,137

10,250

1,003

In accordance with the provisions of the applicable regulations, as a result of the accounting record of
these merger transactions by absorption carried out by the Bank in the year 2018, an increase in the
Bank's voluntary reserves in said fiscal year has been shown. million euros (Note 29), corresponding to the
difference between 6,880 million euros due to the decrease in the interest in Banco Popular Espafiol, SAU
and 6,898 million of the consolidated net value of the assets and liabilities included in the Bank's balance
sheet from the absorbed companies.

Santander Investment Bolsa, Sociedad de Valores, S.A.U.

On April 23, 2018 the members of the Boards of Directors of Banco Santander, S.A. and Santander
Investment Bolsa, Sociedad de Valores, S.A.U. ("SIBSV") drafted and approved the common merger
project between Banco Santander (as absorbing company) and SIBSV (as absorbed company).

Under the provisions of articles 49.1 and 51 of the LME, it was not necessary to approve the
aforementioned merger by the sole shareholder of SIBSV, as it is wholly owned by Banco Santander, nor
by the shareholders' meeting of Banco Santander, as it does not require it its shareholders in accordance
with the provisions of article 51 of the LME.

Likewise, the operation described here constitutes a merger of those regulated in article 76.1.c) of the LIS.
The information required in article 86.1 of the aforementioned Law with respect to the merger between
Banco Santander and SIBSV is incorporated into this report (Annex VIII).
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Once the required authorization has been obtained from the Ministry of Economy and Business (additional
provision twelfth of Law 10/2014, of June 26, on the supervision and solvency of credit institutions), as well
as of the National Securities Market Commission (article 149, by reference of article 159, of the
Consolidated Text of the Securities Market Law), on November 23, 2018 the corresponding merger deed
was granted, which was submitted for registration and was registered in the Mercantile Registry of
Cantabria on December 3, 2018. Consequently, on the occasion of the registration of this merger, and with
effect date on December 3, 2018, the extinction without liquidation of SIBSV occurred and the block
transfer of all of its assets Banco Santander, which acquired it by universal succession and without
continuity solution. Given that the absorbed company was wholly owned by Banco Santander, in
accordance with article 49.1, in relation to article 26 of the LME, the Bank did not increase capital.
Acquisition of the merger with the aforementioned date of effects, all the shares of SIBSV were fully
amortized, extinguished and cancelled.

The following were considered as merger balances, for the purposes of Spanish legislation, those included
in the financial statements for the year ended December 31, 2017, formulated by the boards of directors of
Banco Santander and SIBSV and duly verified by their respective auditors.

In accordance with the provisions of the applicable accounting regulations, for accounting purposes,
January 1, 2018 was set as the date from which the operations of SIBSV were to be considered by Banco
Santander.

In accordance with article 89.1 of the LIS, the merger described here was subject to the fiscal regime
established in chapter VII of title VIl and in the second additional provision of the LIS, as well as in article
45, paragraph IB) 10. of the Royal Legislative Decree 1/1993, of September 24, approving the Revised
Text of the Tax on Patrimonial Transmissions and Documented Legal Acts.

The following is the balance sheet of SIBSV as of December 31, 2017 (in thousands of euros):

Santander Investment Bolsa, Sociedad de Valores S.A
(in thousand of euros)

ASSETS 2017 LIABILITIES AND EQUITY 2017
Negotiation portfolio 169 Financial liabilities at amortized cost 2862
Financial assets available for sale 2 Provisions 3213
Credit investments 174,491 Tax liabilities 72
Active material 40 Remains of liabilities 38,514
Intangible asset 747
Tax assets 2481 | | TOTAL LIABILITIES 44,661
Other assets 64,995
OWN FUNDS 198,378
Capital 24,882

Issuance premium
P 51,196

Reservations 1,175,971
Result of the excersice 6,329
Adjustments by Valuation (114)
TOTAL EQUITY 198,264
TOTAL ASSETS 242,925 TOTAL LIABILITIES AND EQUITY 242,925

In application of the applicable regulations, as a consequence of the accounting record of this operation of
merger by absorption indicated above carried out by the Bank in the year 2018, an increase in the Bank's
voluntary reserves was shown in said financial year. 1 million euros due to the decrease in the
shareholding in the absorbed company (Note 29).
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Popular de Renting, S.A.U.

On June 25, 2018 the members of the Boards of Directors of Banco Santander, S.A. and Popular de
Renting, S.A.U. ("Popular Renting") drafted and approved the common merger project between Banco
Santander (as absorbing company) and Popular Renting (as absorbed company).

Under the provisions of articles 49.1 and 51 of the LME, it was not necessary to approve the
aforementioned merger by the sole shareholder of Popular Renting, as it is wholly owned by Banco
Santander, nor by the shareholders' meeting of Banco Santander, as it is not require its shareholders in
accordance with the provisions of article 51 of the LME.

Likewise, the operation described here constitutes a merger of those regulated in article 76.1.c) of the LIS.
The information required in article 86.1 of the aforementioned Law with respect to the merger between
Banco Santander and Popular Renting is incorporated into this report (Annex VIII).

Once the required authorization has been obtained from the Ministry of Economy and Business (additional
provision twelfth of Law 10/2014, of June 26, on the supervision and solvency of credit institutions), on
December 18, 2018, the corresponding deed was granted of merger, which was submitted for registration
in the Mercantile Registry of Cantabria on December 28, 2018 and was registered on January 8, 2019. As
a result, on the occasion of the registration of this merger, and with effect date 28 December 2018, there
was the extinction without liquidation of Popular Renting and the block transfer of all its assets to Banco
Santander, which acquired it by universal succession and without interruption. Given that the absorbed
company was wholly owned by Banco Santander, in accordance with article 49.1, in relation to article 26 of
the LME, the Bank did not increase capital. Acquisition of the merger with the aforementioned effects date,
all of Popular Renting's shares were fully amortized, extinguished and cancelled.

The following were considered as merger balances, for purposes of Spanish legislation, those included in
the financial statements for the year ended December 31, 2017, formulated by the boards of directors of
Banco Santander and Popular Renting and duly verified by their respective auditors.

In accordance with the applicable accounting regulations, for accounting purposes, January 1, 2018 was
set as the date from which the Popular Renting transactions were to be considered by Banco Santander.

In accordance with article 89.1 of the LIS, the merger described here was subject to the fiscal regime
established in chapter VII of title VII and in the second additional provision of the LIS, as well as in article
45, paragraph IB) 10. of the Royal Legislative Decree 1/1993, of September 24, approving the
Consolidated Text of Transfer Tax and Documented Legal Acts.

The following is the balance sheet of Popular de Renting, S.A.U. as of December 31, 2017 (in thousands
of euros):

Popular de Renting S.A
(in thousand of euros)

ASSETS 2017 LIABILITIES AND EQUITY 2017
NON-CURRENT ASSETS 60,838 EQUITY 8,043
Long-term financial investments 60,838 Own funds 8,043

Capital 3,005

CURRENT ASSETS 4,420 Reservations 2,480
Commercial debts and others bills to receive the pay,

293 Results of past exercises 1,382

Short-term financial investments

3,445 Result of the exercise 1,176

Short-term accruals 681

Cash and other equivalent liquid assets 409 NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES 2,795
Long term debts 2,795
CURRENT LIABILITIES 54,420
Short-term provisions 56
Short term debts, 1,330
Debts with group companies and short-term associates 51,254
Commercial debitors and other accounts payable 1,377
Short-term accruals 403

TOTAL ASSETS 65,258 TOTAL EQUITY AND LIABILITIES 65,258
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In application of the provisions of the applicable regulations, as a result of the accounting record of this
operation of merger by absorption indicated above carried out by the Bank in the year 2018, no change in
the Bank's voluntary reserves was shown in that year due to the decrease in the share in the absorbed
company (Note 29).

- Merger by absorption between Banco Santander, S.A. (absorbing company) and (a) Santander Finance
Capital, S.A.U., Santander Finance Preferred, S.A.U., Santander Issuances, SAU, Santander
Commercial Paper, S.A.U., Santander International Debt, S.A.U., Santander Perpetual, SAU, Santander
US Debt, S.A.U., Santander Issuer 150, S.A.U., Santander International Preferred, S.A.U. (as absorbed
companies); (b) Fomento e Inversiones, S.A.U. (as absorbed company).

On June 26, 2017, the directors of Banco Santander and of each of the absorbed companies approved
the joint merger project and the merger operation between Banco Santander (as absorbing company)
and Santander Finance Capital, S.A.U., Santander Finance Preferred, S.A.U., Santander Issuances,
S.A.U., Santander Commercial Paper, S.A.U., Santander International Debt, S.A.U., Santander
Perpetual, S.A.U., Santander US Debt, S.A.U., Santander Emisora 150, S.A.U. and Santander
International Preferred, S.A.U. (as absorbed companies).

Also, on June 26, 2017, took place the approval of the common merger project and the merger operation
between Banco Santander (as absorbing company) and Fomento e Inversiones, S.A.U. (as absorbed
company) by the administrators of both companies.

Under the provisions of articles 49.1 and 51 of Law 3/2009, of April 3, on the structural modifications of
commercial companies ("LME"), it was not necessary to approve any of the mergers by the General
Meeting of the Bank.

Likewise, the aforementioned transactions constitute mergers of those regulated in article 76.1.c) of Law
27/2014, of November 27, on Corporation Tax ("LIS").

(@) Santander Finance Capital, S.A.U, Santander Finance Preferred, S.A.U., Santander Issuances,
S.A.U., Santander Commercial Paper, S.A.U., Santander International Debt, S.A.U., Santander
Perpetual, S.A.U., Santander US Debt, S.A.U., Santander Emisora 150, S.A.U., Santander International
Preferred, S.A.U.

Once the mandatory authorization was obtained from the Ministry of Economy, Industry and
Competitiveness Law 10/2014, of June 26, on the organization, supervision and solvency of the credit
institutions) on December 20, 2017, the parallel deed of merger was granted, registered in the Mercantile
Registry of Cantabria, the date of effects is December 27, 2017, the extinction and liquidation of
Santander Finance Capital, S.A.U., Santander Finance Preferred, S.A.U., Santander Issuances, S.A.U.,
Santander Commercial Papel, S.A.U., Santander International Debt, S.A.U., Santander Perpetual,
S.A.U., Santander American Debt, S.A.U., Santander Emisora 150, S.A.U., Santander International
Preferred, S.A.U., respectively, and the block transfer of all of their respective assets to Banco
Santander. It should be noted that the merger, for accounting purposes, has been registered by Banco
Santander, S.A. in the year 2017.

Inasmuch as the absorbing companies were entirely composed of Banco Santander, in accordance with
article 49.1, in relation to article 26 of the LME, the Bank did not increase capital. Acquired effectiveness
with expiration date on December 27, 2017, all the shares of the absorbed companies were fully
amortized, extinguished and cancelled.

The following were considered as merger balances, for the purposes of Spanish legislation, those
included in the financial statements for the year ended December 31, 2016, formulated by the
administrative bodies of each of the companies participating in the merger and, except in the case of
Santander Emisora 150, S.A.U. that it was not subject to the obligation to audit its financial statements,
subject to audit.

In accordance with the provisions of the applicable accounting regulations, for accounting purposes,
January 1, 2017 was set as the date from which the operations of the absorbed companies were to be
considered by Banco Santander, S.A.
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On the other hand, in accordance with article 89.1 of the LIS, the merger was subject to the tax regime
established in chapter VIl of title VII and in the second additional provision of the LIS, as well as in article
45, paragraph IB10 of the Royal Legislative Decree 1/1993, of September 24, approving the

Consolidated Text of Transfer Tax and Documented Legal Acts.

The balance sheets of the absorbed companies as of December 31, 2016 are presented below:

SANTANDER FINANCE CAPITAL, S.A. (SOCIEDAD UNIPERSONAL)

BALANCE AT DECEMBER 31, 2016
(Thousands of euros)

TOTAL ASSETS 2016 TOTAL LIABILITIES AND EQUITY 2016

NON-CURRENT ASSETS 501,288 | EQUITY 1,774
Investments in group entities and associates 501,288 SHAREHOLDER'’S EQUITY 1,774
Capital 151

Reserves 940

Results of previous periods (81)

Results for the period 764

NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES 501,244

Long term debts 501,244

CURRENT ASSETS 10,081 CURRENT LIABILITIES 8,351
Investments in group entities and associates 6,098 Short term debts 8,253
Cash and other equivalent liquid assets 3,983 Commercial debtors 22
Short term accruals 76

TOTAL ASSETS 511,369 TOTAL LIABILITIES AND EQUITY 511,369

SANTANDER INTERNATIONAL PREFERRED, S.A. (SOCIEDAD UNIPERSONAL)
BALANCE AT DECEMBER 31, 2016
(in thousand of euros)
TOTAL ASSETS 2016 TOTAL LIABILITIES AND EQUITY 2016

NON-CURRENT ASSETS 939,227 EQUITY 199
Investments in group entities and associates 939,227 SHAREHOLDER'’S EQUITY 199
Capital 60

Reserves 185

Results of previous periods (13)

Results for the period (33)

NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES 939,193

Long term debts 932,755

Debts with group entities 6,438

CURRENT ASSETS 15.094 CURRENT LIABILITIES 14,929
Investments in group entities and associates 11,425 Short term debts 14,771
Cash and other equivalent liquid assets 3,669 | Short term debts with group entities 102
Commercial debtors 22

Short term accruals 34

TOTAL ASSETS 954,321 TOTAL LIABILITIES AND EQUITY 954,321
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SANTANDER ISSUANCES, S.A. (SOCIEDAD UNIPERSONAL)

BALANCE AT DECEMBER 31, 2016

(Thousands of euros)

TOTAL ASSETS 2016 TOTAL EQUITY AND LIABILITIES 2016
NON CURRENT ASSETS 6,099,588 EQUITY 780
Investments in group entities and associates 6,095,450 SHAREHOLDERS EQUITY 780
Derivatives 4,138 Capital 60
Reserves 1,661
Profit for the period (941)
NON CURRENT LIABILITES 6,051,150
Long term debt 6,013,124
Long term debt with group entities and associates 33,888
Derivatives 4,138
ACTIVO CORRIENTE 298,863 | CURRENT LIABILITES 346,521
Short term investments in group entities and associates 280,420 Short term debt 297,690
Debtors 3 Short term debt with group entities and associates 76
Cash and other assets liquid equivalents 18,440 Commercial creditors and other accounts payable 63
Short term accrual 48,692
TOTAL ASSETS 6,398,451 | TOTAL LIABILITIES AND EQUITY 6,398,451
SANTANDER PERPETUAL, S.A. (SOCIEDAD UNIPERSONAL)
BALANCE AT DECEMBER 31, 2016
(Thousands of euros)
TOTAL ASSETS 2016 TOTAL EQUITY AND LIABILITIES 2016
NON CURRENT ASSETS: 2,173,015 EQUITY: 1,477
Investments in group entities and associates 2,173,015 | SHAREHOLDERS EQUITY 1,477
Capital 151
Reserves 1,357
Prior period profit (59)
Profit for the period 28
NON CURRENT LIABILITES: 2,172,984
Long term debt 171,882
Debt with group entities and associates 2,001,102
CURRENT ASSETS: 19,890 CURRENT LIABILITES: 18,444
Short term investments in group entities and associates 18,202 | Short term debt 236
Cash and other assets liquid equivalents 1,688 | Short term debt with group entities and associates 17,966
Commercial creditors and other accounts payable 23
Short term accrual 219
TOTAL ASSETS 2,192,905 TOTAL EQUITY AND LIABILITIES 2,192,905
SANTANDER US DEBT, S.A. (SOCIEDAD UNIPERSONAL)
BALANCE AT DECEMBER 31.E 2016
(Thousands of euros)
TOTAL ASSETS 2016 TOTAL EQUITY AND LIABILITIES 2016

EQUITY 289
Shareholders”equity 289
Capital 270
Reserves 450
Prior period profit (170)
Profit for the period (261)
CURRENT ASSETS 311 CURRENT LIABILITES: 22
Deferred tax assets 94 | Commercial creditors and other accounts payable 22

Cash and other assets liquid equivalents 217
TOTAL ASSETS 311 | TOTAL EQUITY AND LIABILITIES 311

21




& Santander

SANTANDER FINANCE PREFERRED, S.A. (SOCIEDAD UNIPERSONAL)

BALANCE AT DECEMBER 31, 2016

(Thousands of euros)

TOTAL ASSETS 2016 TOTAL EQUITY AND LIABILITIES 2016
NON CURRENT ASSETS 2,347,824 EQUITY 5,799
Investments in group entities and associates 2,347,824 | SHAREHOLDERS EQUITY 5,799
Capital 151
Reserves 5,622
Profit for the period 26
NON CURRENT LIABILITES 2,347,806
Long term debt 846,326
Long term debt with group entities and associates 1,501,480
CURRENT ASSETS 21,022 | CURRENT LIABILITES 15,241
Investments in group entities and associates 15,034 | Short term debt 5,386
Cash and other assets liquid equivalents 5,988 Short term debt with group entities and associates 9,811
Commercial creditors and other accounts payable 26
Short term accrual 18
TOTAL ASSETS 2,368,846 TOTAL EQUITY AND LIABILITIES 2,368,846
SANTANDER COMMERCIAL PAPER, S.A. (SOCIEDAD UNIPERSONAL)
BALANCE AT DECEMBER 31, 2016
(Thousands of euros)
TOTAL ASSETS 2016 TOTAL EQUITY AND LIABILITIES 2016

EQUITY 4,381
SHAREHOLDERS EQUITY 4,381
Capital 151
Reserves 3,961
Profit for the period 269
CURRENT ASSETS 7,024,361 CURRENT LIABILITES 7,019,980
Investments in group entities and associates 7,019,425 | Short term debt 6,799,451
Short term accrual 54 Debt with group entities and associates 220,255
Cash and other assets liquid equivalents 4,882 | Commercial creditors and other accounts payable 274

TOTAL ASSETS 7,024,361 TOTAL PATRIMONIO NETO Y PASIVO 7,024,361

SANTANDER INTERNATIONAL DEBT, S.A. (SOCIEDAD UNIPERSONAL)
BALANCE AT DECEMBER 31, 2016
(Thousands of euros)
TOTAL ASSETS 2016 TOTAL EQUITY AND LIABILITIES 2016

NON CURRENT ASSETS 9,585,764 EQUITY 8,106
Investments in group entities and associates 9,585,764 SHAREHOLDERS EQUITY 8,106
Capital 180
Reserves 8,277
Profit for the period (351)
NON CURRENT LIABILITES: 9,585,759
Long term debt 8,618,609
Long term debt with group entities and associates 939,389
Long term accrual 27,761
CURRENT ASSETS 5,628,991 CURRENT LIABILITES: 5,620,890
Investments in group entities and associates 5,566,934 | Short term debt 5,256,719
Cash and other assets liquid equivalents 62,057 | Short term debt with group entities and associates 358,909
Commercial creditors and other accounts payable 98
Short term accrual 5,164
TOTAL ASSETS 15,214,755 TOTAL EQUITY AND LIABILITIES 15,214,755
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SANTANDER EMISORA 150, S.A. (SOCIEDAD UNIPERSONAL)

BALANCE AT 31 DECEMBER 31, 2016
(Thousands of euros)

TOTAL ASSETS 2016 TOTAL EQUITY AND LIABILITIES 2016
EQUITY: 966
SHAREHOLDERS EQUITY 966
Capital 60
Reserves 976
Prior period profit (59)
Profit for the period (11)
CURRENT ASSETS 968 NON CURRENT LIABILITES 2
Cash and other assets liquid equivalents 968 Commercial creditors and other accounts payable 2
TOTAL ASSETS 968 TOTAL EQUITY AND LIABILITIES 968

In accordance with the provisions of the applicable regulations, as a result of the accounting record of this
merger by absorption operation carried out by the Bank in the year 2017, an increase in the Bank's voluntary
reserves in said fiscal year has been shown for 313 million euros (Note 29), due to the decrease in the interest
in the nine companies absorbed in 23 million euros and 290 million euros for the equity effect of the
elimination intergroup positions of the Bank and the absorbed companies.

(b) Fomento e Inversiones, S.A.U.

Once the required authorisation was received from the Ministry of Economy and Competitiveness (additional
provision twelfth of Law 10/2014, of June 26, on the supervision and solvency of credit institutions) 28
December 2017, and on achievement of the remaining conditions to which the merger was subject, the related
merger deed was executed and filed at the Cantabria Mercantile Registry and Santander Carteras was
extinguished without liquidation of Fomento e Inversiones, S.A.U. and all of its equity was transferred en bloc
to Banco Santander. For accounting purposes, the merger was registered in the year 2017. Given that the
absorbed company was completed fully owned by Banco Santander, in accordance with article 49.1, in
relation to article 26 of the LME, the Bank did not increase capital. Acquisition of the merger with effective date
on February 6, 2018, all the shares of Fomento e Inversiones, S.A.U. they were fully retired, extinguished and
annulled.

For the purposes of Spanish legislation, the merger balance sheets included in the financial statements for the
year ended 31 December 2016, authorised for issue by the boards of directors of Banco Santander and
Fomento e Inversiones, S.A.U. and subject to audit.

According to applicable accounting regulations for accounting purposes, January 1, 2017 was set as the date
from which the operations of Fomento e Inversiones, S.A.U. was carried out by Banco Santander.

In accordance with article 89.1 of the LIS, the merger described was subject to the tax system established in
chapter VII of title VII and in the second additional provision of the LIS, as well as in article 45, paragraph 1B)
10 of the Royal Legislative Decree 1/1993, of September 24, approving the Consolidated Text of Transfer Tax
and Documented Legal Acts.

The following is the balance sheet of Fomento e Inversiones, S.A.U. at December 31, 2016 (in millions of
euros):

FOMENTO E INVERSIONES, S.A.U.
BALANCE 31 DE DECEMBER DE 2016
(Thousands of euros)

TOTAL ASSETS 2016 TOTAL LIABILITIES AND EQUITY 2016
NON-CURRENT ASSETS NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES
Investments in group entities and associates 1,115,329 | Long term debts with group entities 435,500
Deferred tax liabilities
Long-term financial investment 2,820 5
CURRENT LIABILITIES
Short term debts with group entities 624,663
CURRENT ASSETS Commercial debtors 9
Investment in group entities 76,916
Other financial assets 63,912
. 644
gf:';lf';g ggzrp:ﬂ‘ije';’a'em TOTAL LIABILITIES 1,060,177
13,004
EQUITY
Shareholder’s equity 135,521
Valuation Adjustment 11
TOTAL EQUITY 135,532
TOTAL ASSETS 1,195,709 TOTAL LIABILITIES AND EQUITY 1,195,709
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According to the applicable regulations, as a result of the accounting record of this merger by absorption
indicated above carried out by the Bank in the year 2017, an increase in the Bank's voluntary reserves was
shown in this fiscal year. 51 million euros due to the decrease in the interest in the absorbed company (Note
29).

j) Events after the reporting period

On 6 February the Bank announced that it had completed the placement of preferred securities contingently
convertible into newly issued ordinary shares of the Bank, excluding preemptive subscription rights and for a
nominal value of USD 1,200,000,000 (EUR 1,052,000,000) (the “Issue” and the “CCPS”).

The CCPS were issued at par and its remuneration has been set at 7.50% on an annual basis for the first five
years. The payment of the remuneration of the CCPS is subject to certain conditions and to the discretion of
the Bank. After that, it will be reviewed every five years by applying a margin of 498.9 basis points on the 5-
year Mid-Swap Rate.

k) Other information

As a consequence of the changes in the Financial Services Act (Banking Reform) of 2013 and the
requirements of the Prudential Regulation Authority (PRA) in the United Kingdom, as of January 1, 2019, the
entities in United Kingdom with retail deposits of more than 25,000 million pounds are obliged to
compartmentalize (ring-fencing) their businesses, separating basic retail operations from other activities that
take place outside the delimitation, such as investment banking, wholesale or international and that are
designated as prohibited or excluded.

The Banking Reform Legislation in the United Kingdom specifies:

- Certain services or banking activities whose performance would lead a bank in the United Kingdom to be
"ring-fenced bank".

- Certain banking services or activities, along with certain types of credit risk exposures, which a ring-fenced
bank will be prohibited from conducting (prohibited business).

In order to comply with the requirements of this new regime, Santander UK has separated its retail business
into rings (ring fencing) from other activities and during 2018, it has transferred to the Banco Santander, S.A.
branch in London all the prohibited operations of wholesale banking.

Specifically, during 2018 from the United Kingdom they were transferred to the branch of Banco Santander
S.A. in London EUR 1,600 millions of customer loans, EUR 24,300 millions in other assets (EUR 22,300
related to derivatives trading) and EUR 23,300 millions of liabilities (EUR 21,300 millions related to derivatives
trading).

Accounting policies

The accounting policies applied in preparing the financial statements were as follows:

a) Foreign currency transactions

The Bank's functional currency is the euro. Therefore, all balances and transactions denominated in
currencies other than the euro are deemed to be denominated in foreign currency.

In general, foreign currency balances, including those of branches in countries not belonging to the
Monetary Union, were translated to euros at the average official exchange rates prevailing on the Spanish
spot foreign exchange market at each year-end (using the market price of the US dollar in local markets in
the case of currencies not traded in the Spanish market).

The exchange differences arising on the translation of foreign currency balances to the functional currency
are generally recognised at their net amount under Exchange differences in the Income statement, except
for exchange differences arising on financial instruments at fair value through profit or loss, which are
recognised in the income statement without distinguishing them from other changes in the fair value of
those financial instruments.
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b) Investments in subsidiaries, jointly controlled entities and associates

c)

Subsidiaries or Group entities are defined as entities over which the Bank has the capacity to exercise
control; control is, in general but not exclusively, presumed to exist when the Parent owns directly or
indirectly half or more of the voting power of the investee or, even if this percentage is lower or zero, when,
as in the case of agreements with shareholders of the investee, the Bank is granted control. Control is the
power to govern the financial and operating policies of an entity, as stipulated by the law, the Bylaws or
agreement, so as to obtain benefits from its activities.

Joint ventures are deemed to be ventures that are not subsidiaries but which are jointly controlled by two
or more unrelated entities. This is evidenced by contractual arrangements whereby two or more entities
(venturers) acquire interests in entities (jointly controlled entities) or undertake operations or hold assets so
that strategic financial and operating decisions affecting the joint venture require the unanimous consent of
the venturers.

Associates are entities over which the Bank is in a position to exercise significant influence, but not control
or joint control. Significant influence generally exists when the Bank holds 20% or more of the voting power
of the investee.

Investments in subsidiaries, jointly controlled entities and associates are presented in the balance sheet at
acquisition cost, net of any impairment losses.

When there is evidence of impairment of these investments, the amount of the related impairment loss is
equal to the difference between the carrying amount of the investments and their recoverable amount.
Impairment losses are recognised with a charge to Impairment losses on other assets (net) - Other assets
in the income statement.

As at 31 December 2018, the Bank controls Luri 1 S.A. in which it held an ownership interest of 36% (see
Appendix [). Although the Bank holds less than half the voting power, it manages and, as a result,
exercises control over this entity. The company object of this entity is the acquisition of real estate and
other general operations relating thereto, including rental, and the purchase and sale of properties, the
company object of the latter entity is the provision of payment services.

At 31 December 2018, the Bank exercised joint control of Luri 3, S.A., despite holding 10% of its share
capital. This decision is based on the Bank's presence on the company's board of directors, in which the
agreement of all members is required for decision-making.

Appendices | and Il contain significant information on these companies. In addition, Note 13 provides
information on the most significant acquisitions and disposals in 2018 and 2017.

Definitions and classification of financial instruments
i. Definitions

A financial instrument is any contract that gives rise to a financial asset of one entity and a financial liability
or equity instrument of another entity.

An equity instrument is a contract that evidences a residual interest in the assets of the issuing entity after
deducting all of its liabilities.

A financial derivative is a financial instrument whose value changes in response to the change in an
observable market variable (such as an interest rate, foreign exchange rate, financial instrument price,
market index or credit rating), whose initial investment is very small compared with other financial
instruments with a similar response to changes in market factors, and which is generally settled at a future
date.

Hybrid financial instruments are contracts that simultaneously include a non-derivative host contract
together with a derivative, known as an embedded derivative, that is not separately transferable and has
the effect that some of the cash flows of the hybrid contract vary in a way similar to a stand-alone
derivative.
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Compound financial instruments are contracts that simultaneously create for their issuer a financial liability
and an own equity instrument (such as convertible bonds, which entitle their holders to convert them into
equity instruments of the issuer).

The preference shares contingently convertible into ordinary shares eligible as Additional Tier 1 capital
(“CCPSs”) -perpetual shares, which may be repurchased by the issuer in certain circumstances, the
interest on which is discretionary, and would convert into a variable number of newly issued ordinary
shares if the capital ratio of the Bank or its consolidated group falls below a given percentage (trigger
event), as those two terms are defined in the related issue prospectuses- are recognised for accounting
purposes by the Group as compound instruments. The liability component reflects the issuer's obligation to
deliver a variable number of shares and the equity component reflects the issuer's discretion in relation to
the payment of the related coupons. In order to effect the initial allocation, the Group estimates the fair
value of the liability as the amount that would have to be delivered if the trigger event were to occur
immediately and, accordingly, the equity component, calculated as the residual amount, is zero. In view of
the aforementioned discretionary nature of the payment of the coupons, they are deducted directly from
equity.

Capital perpetual preference shares (“CPPSs”), with the possibility of purchase by the issuer in certain
circumstances, whose remuneration is discretionary, and which will be amortised permanently, totally or
partially, in the event that the Bank or its consolidated group submits a capital ratio lesser than a certain
percentage (trigger event), as defined in the corresponding prospectuses, are accounted for by the Group
as equity instruments.

The following transactions are not treated for accounting purposes as financial instruments:

- Investments in associates and joint ventures (see Note 13).
- Rights and obligations under employee benefit plans (see Note 23).
- Rights and obligations under insurance contracts (see Note 14).

- Contracts and obligations relating to employee remuneration based on own equity instruments (see
Note 30).

ii. Classification of financial assets for measurement purposes

Financial assets are initially classified into the various categories used for management and measurement
purposes, unless they have to be presented as Non-current assets held for sale or they relate to Cash,
cash balances at central banks and other deposits on demand, Changes in the fair value of hedged items
in portfolio hedges of interest rate risk (asset side), Hedging derivatives and Investments, which are
reported separately.

The classification criteria for financial assets depends on the business model for their management and
the characteristics of their contractual flows.

The Bank's business models refer to the way in which it manages its financial assets to generate cash
flows. In defining these models, the Bank takes into account the following factors:

- How key management staff are assessed and reported on the performance of the business model and
the financial assets held in the business model.

- The risks that affect the performance of the business model (and the financial assets held in the business
model) and, specifically, the way in which these risks are managed.

- How business managers are remunerated.
- The frequency and volume of sales in previous years, as well as expectations of future sales.

The analysis of the characteristics of the contractual flows of financial assets requires an assessment of
the congruence of these flows with a basic loan agreement. Contractual cash flows that are only principal
and interest payments on the outstanding principal amount meet this requirement.
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Depending on these factors, the asset can be measured at amortized cost, at fair value with changes in
other comprehensive income, or at fair value with changes through profit and loss. Bank of Spain Circular
4/2017 also establishes an option to designate an instrument at fair value with changes in profit or loss,
under certain conditions. The Bank uses the following criteria for the classification of financial debt
instruments:

- Amortized cost: financial instruments under a business model whose objective is to collect principal and
interest flows, over which there is no significant unjustified sales and fair value is not a key element in the
management of these assets and contractual conditions they give rise to cash flows on specific dates,
which are only payments of principal and interest on the outstanding principal amount. In this sense,
unjustified sales are considered to be those other than those related to an increase in the credit risk of
the asset, unanticipated funding needs (stress case scenarios). Additionally, the characteristics of its
contractual flows represent substantially a "basic financing agreement".

- Fair value with changes in other comprehensive income: financial instruments held in a business model
whose objective is to collect principal and interest cash flows and the sale of these assets, where fair
value is a key factor in their management. Additionally, the contractual cash flow characteristics
substantially represent a “basic financing agreement”.

- Fair value with changes in profit or loss: financial instruments included in a business model whose
objective is not obtained through the above mentioned models, where fair value is a key factor in
managing of these assets, and financial instruments whose contractual cash flow characteristics do not
substantially represent a “basic financing agreement”. In this section it can be enclosed the portfolios
classified under “Financial assets held for trading”, “Non-trading financial assets mandatorily at fair value
through profit or loss” and “Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss”.

Equity instruments will be classified at fair value under Bank of Spain Circular 4/2017, with changes in
profit or loss, unless the Bank decides, for non-trading assets, to classify them at fair value with changes in
other comprehensive income (irrevocably) in the initial moment. The Bank has generally applied this option
to the equity instruments classified as “Available-for-sale” at 31 December 2017 under Bank of Spain
Circular 4/2004 and subsequent amendments. In general, the Bank has applied this option in the case of
equity instruments classified under "Available for Sale" at 31 December 2017 under Bank of Spain Circular
4/2004 and subsequent amendments.

Until 31 December 2017, the Bank applied Bank of Spain Circular 4/2004 and subsequent amendments,
under the following three categories existed that are not applicable under Bank of Spain Circular 4/2017
(See note 1.b):

- Financial assets available-for-sale: this category includes debt instruments not classified as Held-to-
maturity investments, Loans and receivables or Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss, and
equity instruments issued by entities other than subsidiaries, associates and joint ventures, provided
that such instruments have not been classified as Financial assets held for trading or as Financial
assets designated at fair value through profit or loss.

- Loans and receivables: this category includes the investment arising from ordinary lending activities,
such as the cash amounts of loans drawn down and not yet repaid by customers or the deposits placed
with other institutions, whatever the legal instrument, unquoted debt securities and receivables from the
purchasers of goods, or the users of services, constituting part of the Bank's business.

- Investments held-to-maturity: this category includes debt instruments with fixed maturity and with fixed
or determinable payments, for which the Bank has both the intention and proven ability to hold to
maturity.

iii. Classification of financial assets for presentation purposes
Financial assets are classified by nature into the following items in the consolidated balance sheet:
- Cash, cash balances at Central Banks and other deposits on demand: cash balances and balances

receivable on demand relating to deposits with central banks and credit institutions.
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- Loans and advances: includes the debit balances of all credit and loans granted by the Bank, other
than those represented by securities, as well as finance lease receivables and other debit balances of
a financial nature in favour of the Bank, such as cheques drawn on credit institutions, balances
receivable from clearing houses and settlement agencies for transactions on the stock exchange and
organised markets, bonds given in cash, capital calls, fees and commissions receivable for financial
guarantees and debit balances arising from transactions not originating in banking transactions and
services, such as the collection of rentals and similar items. They are classified, on the basis of the
institutional sector to which the debtor belongs, into:

- Central banks: credit of any nature, including deposits and money market operations received from
the Bank of Spain or other central banks.

- Credit institutions: credit of any nature, including deposits and money market operations, in the
name of credit institutions.

- Customers: includes the remaining credit, including money market operations through central
counterparties.

- Debt instruments: bonds and other securities that represent a debt for their issuer, that generate an
interest return, and that are in the form of certificates or book entries.

- Equity instruments: financial instruments issued by other entities, such as shares, which have the
nature of equity instruments for the issuer, other than investments in subsidiaries, joint ventures or
associates. Investment fund units are included in this item.

- Derivatives: includes the fair value in favour of the Bank of derivatives which do not form part of hedge
accounting, including embedded derivatives separated from hybrid financial instruments.

- Changes in the fair value of hedged items in portfolio hedges of interest rate risk: this item is the
balancing entry for the amounts credited to the consolidated income statement in respect of the
measurement of the portfolios of financial instruments which are effectively hedged against interest
rate risk through fair value hedging derivatives.

- Hedging derivatives: Includes the fair value in favour of the Bank of derivatives, including embedded
derivatives separated from hybrid financial instruments, designated as hedging instruments in hedge
accounting.

iv. Classification of financial liabilities for measurement purposes

Financial liabilities are initially classified into the various categories used for management and
measurement purposes, unless they have to be presented as Liabilities associated with non-current assets
held for sale or they relate to Hedging derivatives or Changes in the fair value of hedged items in portfolio
hedges of interest rate risk (liability side), which are reported separately.

Bank of Spain Circular 4/2004 and subsequent amendments financial liabilities classification and
measurement criteria remains substantially unchanged under Bank of Spain Circular 4/2017.
Nevertheless, in most cases, the changes in the fair value of financial liabilities designated at fair value
with changes recognised through profit or loss for the year, due to the entity credit risk, are classified under
other comprehensive income.

Financial liabilities are included for measurement purposes in one of the following categories:

- Financial liabilities held for trading (at fair value through profit or loss): this category includes financial
liabilities incurred for the purpose of generating a profit in the near term from fluctuations in their prices,
financial derivatives not designated as hedging instruments, and financial liabilities arising from the
outright sale of financial assets acquired under reverse repurchase agreements (“reverse repos") or
borrowed (short positions).
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Financial liabilities designated at fair value through profit or loss: financial liabilities are included in this
category when they provide more relevant information, either because this eliminates or significantly
reduces recognition or measurement inconsistencies (accounting mismatches) that would otherwise
arise from measuring assets or liabilities or recognising the gains or losses on them on different bases,
or because a group of financial liabilities or financial assets and liabilities is managed and its
performance is evaluated on a fair value basis, in accordance with a documented risk management or
investment strategy, and information about the group is provided on that basis to the Group's key
management personnel. Liabilities may only be included in this category on the date when they are
incurred or originated.

Financial liabilities at amortised cost: financial liabilities, irrespective of their instrumentation and
maturity, not included in any of the above-mentioned categories which arise from the ordinary
borrowing activities carried on by financial institutions.

v. Classification of financial liabilities for presentation purposes

Financial liabilities are classified by nature into the following items in the consolidated balance sheet:

Deposits: includes all repayable balances received in cash by the Group, other than those
instrumented as marketable securities and those having the substance of subordinated liabilities
(amount of the loans received, which for credit priority purposes are after common creditors), except for
the debt instruments . This item also includes cash bonds and cash consignments received the amount
of which may be invested without restriction. Deposits are classified on the basis of the creditor's
institutional sector into:

- Central banks: deposits of any nature, including credit received and money market operations
received from the Bank of Spain or other central banks.

- Credit institutions: deposits of any nature, including credit received and money market operations in
the name of credit institutions.

- Customer: includes the remaining deposits, including money market operations through central
counterparties.

Marketable debt securities: includes the amount of bonds and other debt represented by marketable
securities, other than those having the substance of subordinated liabilities (amount of the loans
received, which for credit priority purposes are after common creditors, and includes the amount of the
financial instruments issued by the Bank which, having the legal nature of capital, do not meet the
requirements to qualify as equity, such as certain preferred shares issued). This item includes the
component that has the consideration of financial liability of the securities issued that are compound
financial instruments.

Derivatives: includes the fair value, with a negative balance for the Bank, of derivatives, including
embedded derivatives separated from the host contract, which do not form part of hedge accounting.

Short positions: includes the amount of financial liabilities arising from the outright sale of financial
assets acquired under reverse repurchase agreements or borrowed.

Other financial liabilities: includes the amount of payment obligations having the nature of financial
liabilities not included in other items, and liabilities under financial guarantee contracts, unless they
have been classified as non-performing.

Changes in the fair value of hedged items in portfolio hedges of interest rate risk: this item is the
balancing entry for the amounts charged to the consolidated income statement in respect of the
measurement of the portfolios of financial instruments which are effectively hedged against interest
rate risk through fair value hedging derivatives.

Hedging derivatives: includes the fair value of the Bank's liability in respect of derivatives, including
embedded derivatives separated from hybrid financial instruments, designated as hedging instruments
in hedge accounting.
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d) Measurement of financial assets and liabilities and recognition of fair value changes

In general, financial assets and liabilities are initially recognised at fair value which, in the absence of
evidence to the contrary, is deemed to be the transaction price. Financial instruments not measured at fair
value through profit or loss are adjusted by the transaction costs. Financial assets and liabilities are
subsequently measured at each year-end as follows:

i. Measurement of financial assets

Financial assets are measured at fair value are valued mainly at their fair value without deducting any
transaction cost for their sale.

The fair value of a financial instrument on a given date is taken to be the price that would be received to
sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between market participants. The most
objective and common reference for the fair value of a financial instrument is the price that would be paid
for it on an active, transparent and deep market (quoted price or market price). At 31 December 2018 there
were no significant investments in quoted financial instruments that had ceased to be recognised at their
quoted price because their market could not be deemed to be assets.

If there is no market price for a given financial instrument, its fair value is estimated on the basis of the
price established in recent transactions involving similar instruments and, in the absence thereof, of
valuation techniques commonly used by the international financial community, taking into account the
specific features of the instrument to be measured and, particularly, the various types of risk associated
with it.

All derivatives are recognised in the balance sheet at fair value from the trade date. If the fair value is
positive, they are recognised as an asset and if the fair value is negative, they are recognised as a liability.
The fair value on the trade date is deemed, in the absence of evidence to the contrary, to be the
transaction price. The changes in the fair value of derivatives from the trade date are recognised in
Gains/losses on financial assets and liabilities held for trading (net) in the consolidated income statement.
Specifically, the fair value of financial derivatives traded in organised markets included in the portfolios of
financial assets or liabilities held for trading is deemed to be their daily quoted price and if, for exceptional
reasons, the quoted price cannot be determined on a given date, these financial derivatives are measured
using methods similar to those used to measure OTC derivatives.

The fair value of OTC derivatives is taken to be the sum of the future cash flows arising from the
instrument, discounted to present value at the date of measurement (present value or theoretical close)
using valuation techniques commonly used by the financial markets: net present value (NPV), option
pricing models and other methods.

The amount of debt securities and loans and advances under a business model whose objective is to
collect the principal and interest flows are valued at their amortised cost, using the effective interest rate
method in their determination. Amortised cost refers to the acquisition cost of a corrected financial asset or
liability (more or less, as the case may be) for repayments of principal and the part systematically charged
to the consolidated income statement of the difference between the initial cost and the corresponding
reimbursement value at expiration. In the case of financial assets, the amortised cost includes, in addition,
the corrections to their value due to the impairment. In the loans and advances covered in fair value
hedging transactions, the changes that occur in their fair value related to the risk or the risks covered in
these hedging transactions are recorded.

The effective interest rate is the discount rate that exactly matches the carrying amount of a financial
instrument to all its estimated cash flows of all kinds over its remaining life. For fixed rate financial
instruments, the effective interest rate coincides with the contractual interest rate established on the
acquisition date plus, where applicable, the fees and transaction costs that, because of their nature, form
part of their financial return. In the case of floating rate financial instruments, the effective interest rate
coincides with the rate of return prevailing in all connections until the next benchmark interest reset date.

Unquoted equity instruments which cannot be reliably measured in a sufficiently objective manner and
financial derivatives that have those instruments as their underlying and are settled by delivery of those
instruments are measured at acquisition cost adjusted, where appropriate, by any related impairment loss.
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The amounts at which the financial assets are recognised represent, in all material respects, the Group’s
maximum exposure to credit risk at each reporting date. Also, the Group has received collateral and other
credit enhancements to mitigate its exposure to credit risk, which consist mainly of mortgage guarantees,
cash collateral, equity instruments and personal security, assets leased out under finance lease and full-
service lease agreements, assets acquired under repurchase agreements, securities loans and credit
derivatives.

ii. Measurement of financial liabilities

In general, financial liabilities are measured at amortised cost, as defined above, except for those included
under Financial liabilities held for trading and Financial liabilities designated at fair value through profit or
loss and financial liabilities designated as hedged items (or hedging instruments) in fair value hedges,
which are measured at fair value.

iii. Valuation techniques

The following table shows a summary of the fair values, at the end of 2018 and 2017 of the financial
assets and liabilities indicated below, classified on the basis of the various measurement methods used by
the Group to determine their fair value:

Millions of euros
2018 (*) 2017
Published Published
price price
quotations quotations
in active Internal in active Internal
Markets Models (Level 2 Markets Models (Level 2
(Level 1) and 3) Total (Level 1) and 3) Total
Financial assets held for trading 37,108 55,771 92,879 58,215 67,243 125,458
Non-trading financial assets mandatorily at fair
value through profit or loss 1,835 8,895 10,730
Financial assets designated at fair value through
profit or loss 3,102 54,358 57,460 3,823 30,959 34,782
Financial assets at fair value through other
comprehensive income 103,590 17,501 121,091
Financial assets available-for-sale (1) 113,258 18,802 132,060
Hedging derivatives (assets) - 8,607 8,607 - 8,537 8,537
Financial liabilities held for trading 16,104 54,239 70,343 21,828 85,796 107,624
Financial liabilities designated at fair value through
profit or loss 987 67,071 68,058 769 58,847 59,616
Hedging derivatives (liabilities) 5 6,358 6,363 8 8,036 8,044
Liabilities under insurance contracts - 765 765 - 1,117 1117

(1) In addition to the financial instruments measured at fair value shown in the foregoing table, at December 31, 2017, the Group held
equity instruments classified as Financial assets available-for-sale and carried at cost amounting to EUR 1,211 million.

The same information in the table above, but referred to Banco Santander, S.A. it is presented below:

Millions of euros
31/12/2018(*) 01/01/2018(**) 31/12/2017
Published Published Published
price price price
quotations Internal quotations Internal quotations Internal
in active Models Total in active Models Total in active Models Total
Markets (Level 2 Markets (Level 2 Markets (Level 2
(Level 1) and 3) (Level 1) and 3) (Level 1) and 3)
Financial assets held for trading 18,961 51,864 | 70,825 25,491 39,986 | 65,477 25,322 39,004 | 64,326
Non-trading financial assets mandatorily at fair value
through profit or loss 41 3,710 3,751 19 2,966 2,985
Financial assets designated at fair value through profit or
loss - 41,326 | 41,326 - 28,726 | 28,726 - 34,021 | 34,021
Financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive
income 33,492 2,423 | 35,915 46,194 3,051 | 49,246
Financial assets available-for-sale 31,239 2,570 | 33,809
Hedging derivatives (assets) - 2,108 2,108 - 2,223 2,223 - 2,073 2,073
Financial liabilities held for trading 7,399 50,622 | 58,021 9,497 39,507 | 49,004 9,497 38,455 | 47,952
Financial liabilities designated at fair value through profit or
loss - 35,079 | 35,079 - 31,721 | 31,721 - 32,313 | 32,313
Hedging derivatives (liabilities) - 3,506 3,506 - 4,751 4,751 - 4,014 4,014

(*) See reconciliation of Bank of Spain Circular 4/2004 and subsequent modifications as at December 31, 2017 to Bank of Spain Circular
4/2017 as at January 1, 2018 (Note 1.b).

(**) See further detail Note 1.d and Note 1.i.
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The financial instruments at fair value determined on the basis of published price quotations in active
markets (Level 1) include government debt securities, private-sector debt securities, derivatives traded in
organised markets, securitised assets, shares, short positions and fixed-income securities issued.

In cases where price quotations cannot be observed, management makes its best estimate of the price
that the market would set, using its own internal models. In most cases, these internal models use data
based on observable market parameters as significant inputs (Level 2) and, in cases, they use significant
inputs not observable in market data (Level 3). In order to make these estimates, various techniques are
employed, including the extrapolation of observable market data. The best evidence of the fair value of a
financial instrument on initial recognition is the transaction price, unless the fair value of the instrument can
be obtained from other market transactions performed with the same or similar instruments or can be
measured by using a valuation technique in which the variables used include only observable market data,
mainly interest rates.

The Group, to which Banco Santander, belongs to has developed a formal process for the systematic
valuation and management of financial instruments, which has been implemented worldwide across all the
Group's units. The governance scheme for this process distributes responsibilities between two
independent divisions: Treasury (development, marketing and daily management of financial products and
market data) and Risk (on a periodic basis, validation of pricing models and market data, computation of
risk metrics, new transaction approval policies, management of market risk and implementation of fair
value adjustment policies).

The approval of new products follows a sequence of steps (request, development, validation, integration in
corporate systems and quality assurance) before the product is brought into production. This process
ensures that pricing systems have been properly reviewed and are stable before they are used.

The following subsections set forth the most important products and families of derivatives, and the related
valuation techniques and inputs, by asset class:

Fixed income and inflation

The fixed income asset class includes basic instruments such as interest rate forwards, interest rate swaps
and cross currency swaps, which are valued using the net present value of the estimated future cash flows
discounted taking into account basis swap and cross currency spreads determined on the basis of the
payment frequency and currency of each leg of the derivative. Vanilla options, including caps, floors and
swaptions, are priced using the Black-Scholes model, which is one of the benchmark industry models.
More exotic derivatives are priced using more complex models which are generally accepted as standard
across institutions.

These pricing models are fed with observable market data such as deposit interest rates, futures rates,
cross currency swap and constant maturity swap rates, and basis spreads, on the basis of which different
yield curves, depending on the payment frequency, and discounting curves are calculated for each
currency. In the case of options, implied volatilities are also used as model inputs. These volatilities are
observable in the market for cap and floor options and swaptions, and interpolation and extrapolation of
volatilities from the quoted ranges are carried out using generally accepted industry models. The pricing of
more exotic derivatives may require the use of non-observable data or parameters, such as correlation
(among interest rates and cross-asset), mean reversion rates and prepayment rates, which are usually
defined from historical data or through calibration.

Inflation-related assets include zero-coupon or year-on-year inflation-linked bonds and swaps, valued with
the present value method using forward estimation and discounting. Derivatives on inflation indices are
priced using standard or more complex bespoke models, as appropriate. Valuation inputs of these models
consider inflation-linked swap spreads observable in the market and estimations of inflation seasonality, on
the basis of which a forward inflation curve is calculated. Also, implied volatilities taken from zero-coupon
and year-on-year inflation options are also inputs for the pricing of more complex derivatives.
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Equity and foreign exchange

The most important products in these asset classes are forward and futures contracts; they also include
vanilla, listed and OTC (Over-The-Counter) derivatives on single underlying assets and baskets of assets.
Vanilla options are priced using the standard Black-Scholes model and more exotic derivatives involving
forward returns, average performance, or digital, barrier or callable features are priced using generally
accepted industry models or bespoke models, as appropriate. For derivatives on illiquid stocks, hedging
takes into account the liquidity constraints in models.

The inputs of equity models consider yield curves, spot prices, dividends, asset funding costs (repo margin
spreads), implied volatilities, correlation among equity stocks and indices, and cross-asset correlation.
Implied volatilities are obtained from market quotes of European and American-style vanilla call and put
options. Various interpolation and extrapolation techniques are used to obtain continuous volatility for
illiquid stocks. Dividends are usually estimated for the mid and long term. Correlations are implied, when
possible, from market quotes of correlation-dependent products. In all other cases, proxies are used for
correlations between benchmark underlyings or correlations are obtained from historical data.

The inputs of foreign exchange models include the yield curve for each currency, the spot foreign
exchange rate, the implied volatilities and the correlation among assets of this class. Volatilities are
obtained from European call and put options which are quoted in markets as of-the-money, risk reversal or
butterfly options. llliquid currency pairs are usually handled by using the data of the liquid pairs from which
the illiquid currency can be derived. For more exotic products, unobservable model parameters may be
estimated by fitting to reference prices provided by other non-quoted market sources.

Credit

The most common instrument in this asset class is the credit default swap (CDS), which is used to hedge
credit exposure to third parties. In addition, models for first-to-default (FTD), n-to-default (NTD) and single-
tranche collateralised debt obligation (CDO) products are also available. These products are valued with
standard industry models, which estimate the probability of default of a single issuer (for CDS) or the joint
probability of default of more than one issuer for FTD, NTD and CDO.

Valuation inputs are the yield curve, the CDS spread curve and the recovery rate. For indices and
important individual issuers, the CDS spread curve is obtained in the market. For less liquid issuers, this
spread curve is estimated using proxies or other credit-dependent instruments. Recovery rates are usually
set to standard values. For listed single-tranche CDO, the correlation of joint default of several issuers is
implied from the market. For FTD, NTD and bespoke CDO, the correlation is estimated from proxies or
historical data when no other option is available.

Valuation adjustment for counterparty risk or default risk

The Credit valuation adjustment (CVA) is a valuation adjustment to OTC derivatives as a result of the risk
associated with the credit exposure assumed to each counterparty.

The CVA is calculated taking into account potential exposure to each counterparty in each future period.
The CVA for a specific counterparty is equal to the sum of the CVA for all the periods. The following inputs
are used to calculate the CVA:

- Expected exposure: including for each transaction the mark-to-market (MtM) value plus an add-on for
the potential future exposure for each period. Mitigating factors such as collateral and netting
agreements are taken into account, as well as a temporary impairment factor for derivatives with
interim payments.

- Loss Given Default: percentage of final loss assumed in a counterparty credit event/default.

- Probability of default: for cases where there is no market information (the CDS quoted spread curve,
etc.), proxies based on companies holding exchange-listed CDS, in the same industry and with the
same external rating as the counterparty, are used.

- Discount factor curve.
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The debit valuation adjustment (DVA) is a valuation adjustment similar to the CVA but, in this case, it
arises as a result of the Group's own risk assumed by its counterparties in OTC derivatives.

The CVA at 31 December 2018 amounted to EUR 351 million (8.8% compared to 31 December 2017) and
DVA amounted to EUR 261 million (18.9% compared to 31 December 2017) for Bank. The variations are
due to the fact that credit spreads for the most liquid maturities have been increased in percentages over
30%.

With respect to Banco Santander, S.A. at 31 December 2018, CVA adjustments were recorded for an
amount of 268,7 million euros (-17% vs. December 31, 2017) and DVA adjustments for an amount of
125,7 million euros (-43% vs. 31 December 2017). The decrease is due to the fact that credit spreads have
been reduced by percentages greater than 40% in the most liquid terms and reductions in the exposure of
the main counterparties.

In addition, the Group amounts the funding fair value adjustment (FFVA) is calculated by applying future
market funding spreads to the expected future funding exposure of any uncollateralised component of the
OTC derivative portfolio. This includes the uncollateralised component of collateralised derivatives in
addition to derivatives that are fully uncollateralised. The expected future funding exposure is calculated by
a simulation methodology, where available. The FFVA impact is not material for the consolidated financial
statements as of 31 December 2018, 2017 and 2016.

As a result of the first application of IFRS9, the exposure at 1 January 2018, in level 3 financial
instruments, has increased by EUR 2,183 million, mainly for loans and receivables, arising from new
requirements regarding the classification and measurement of amortised cost items at other fair value
items whose value is calculated using unobservable market inputs (see note 1.b).

With respect to Banco Santander, S.A., the exposure to January 1, 2018 in financial instruments of level 3
has increased by 623 million euros for the same reason as in the Group.

In addition, the Group has reclassified in 2018 to level 3 the market value of certain transactions of bonds,
long-term repos and derivatives for an approximate amount of EUR 1,300 million, the reason for this
classification has been mainly due to lack of liquidity in certain significant inputs in the fair value of the
aforementioned financial instruments. The amount reclassified to Level 3 by Banco Santander, S.A. is
EUR 1.020 million.

During 2018 and 2017 the Group has not carried out significant reclassifications of financial instruments
between levels except the changes disclosed in the level 3 table.

Valuation adjustments due to model risk

The valuation models described above do not involve a significant level of subjectivity, since they can be
adjusted and recalibrated, where appropriate, through internal calculation of the fair value and subsequent
comparison with the related actively traded price. However, valuation adjustments may be necessary when
market quoted prices are not available for comparison purposes.

The sources of risk are associated with uncertain model parameters, illiquid underlying issuers, and poor
quality market data or missing risk factors (sometimes the best available option is to use limited models
with controllable risk). In these situations, the Bank calculates and applies valuation adjustments in
accordance with common industry practice. The main sources of model risk are described below:

- In the fixed income markets, the sources of model risk include bond index correlations, basis spread
modelling, the risk of calibrating model parameters and the treatment of near-zero or negative interest
rates. Other sources of risk arise from the estimation of market data, such as volatilities or yield curves,
whether used for estimation or cash flow discounting purposes.

- In the equity markets, the sources of model risk include forward skew modelling, the impact of
stochastic interest rates, correlation and multi-curve modelling. Other sources of risk arise from
managing hedges of digital callable and barrier option payments. Also worthy of consideration as
sources of risk are the estimation of market data such as dividends and correlation for quanto and
composite basket options.
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- For specific financial instruments relating to home mortgage loans secured by financial institutions in
the UK (which are regulated and partially financed by the Government) and property asset derivatives,
the main input is the Halifax House Price Index (HPI). In these cases, risk assumptions include
estimations of the future growth and the volatility of the HPI, the mortality rate and the implied credit

spreads.

- Inflation markets are exposed to model risk resulting from uncertainty around modelling the correlation
structure among various CPI rates. Another source of risk may arise from the bid-offer spread of

inflation-linked swaps.

- The currency markets are exposed to model risk resulting from forward skew modelling and the impact
of stochastic interest rate and correlation modelling for multi-asset instruments. Risk may also arise
from market data, due to the existence of specific illiquid foreign exchange pairs.

- The most important source of model risk for credit derivatives relates to the estimation of the
correlation between the probabilities of default of different underlying issuers. For illiquid underlying
issuers, the CDS spread may not be well defined.

Set forth below are the financial instruments at fair value whose measurement was based on internal
models (Levels 2 and 3) at 31 December 2018 and 2017:

Million of euros

Fair values calculated
using internal models at
31/12/18 (*)

Level 2 Level 3 Valuation techniques Main assumptions
ASSETS: 140,659 4,473
Financial assets held for trading 55,033 738
Credit institutions - - | Present value method Yield curves, FX market prices
Customers (**) 205 - | Present value method Yield curves, FX market prices
Debt and equity instruments 314 153 | Present value method Yield curves, HPI, FX market prices
Derivatives 54,514 585
Swaps 44,423 185 | Present value method, Gaussian Copula | Yield curves, FX market prices, HPI, Basis, Liquidity
)
Exchange rate options 617 2 | Black-Scholes Model Yield curves, Volatility surfaces, FX market prices, Liquidity
Interest rate options 3,778 149 | Black’s Model, multifactorial advanced | Yield curves, Volatility surfaces, FX market prices, Liquidity
models interest rate
Interest rate futures - - | Present value method Yield curves, FX market prices
Index and securities options 1,118 198 | Black-Scholes Model Yield curves, Volatility surfaces, FX & EQ market prices, Dividends,
Correlation, Liquidity, HPI
Other 4,578 51 | Present value method, Advanced Yield curves, Volatility surfaces, FX and EQ market prices, Dividends,
stochastic volatility models and other Correlation, Liquidity, Others
Hedging derivatives 8,586 21
Swaps 7,704 21 | Present value method FX market prices, Yield curves, Basis
Interest rate options 20 - | Black's Model FX market prices, Yield curves, Volatility surfaces
Present value method, Advanced Yield curves, Volatility surfaces, FX market prices, Credit, Liquidity, Others
Other 862 -| stochastic volatility models and other
Non-trading financial assets mandatorily at fair value
through profit or loss 7,492 1,403
Equity instruments 98! 462 | Present value method Market price, Interest rates curves, Dividends and Others
Debt instruments 5,085 481 | Present value method Interest rates curves
Present value method, swap asset model
Loans and receivables (***) 1,422 460 | & CDS Interest rates curves and Credit curves
Financial assets designated at fair value through profit
or loss 53,482 876
Central banks 9,226 - | Present value method Interest rates curves, FX market prices
Credit institutions 22,897 201 | Present value method Interest rates curves, FX market prices
Customers 21,355 560 | Present value method Interest rates curves, FX market prices, HPI
Debt instruments 4 115 | Present value method Interest rates curves, FX market prices
Financial assets at fair value through other
comprehensive income 16,066 1,435
Equity instruments 455 581 [ Present value method Market price, Interest rates curves, Dividends and Others
Debt instruments 14,699 165 | Present value method Interest rates curves, FX market prices
Loans and receivables 912 689 | Present value method Interest rates curves, FX market prices and Credit curves
Financial assets available for sale
Debt instruments
LIABILITIES 127,991 442
Financial liabilities held for trading 53,950 289
Central banks - - | Present value method Yield curves, FX market prices
Credit institutions - - | Present value method Yield curves, FX market prices
Customers - - | Present value method Yield curves, FX market prices
Derivatives 53,950 289
Present value method, Gaussian Copula | Yield curves, FX market prices, Basis, Liquidity, HPI
Swaps 43,489 11| (*x)
Exchange rate options 610 7 | Black-Scholes Model Yield curves, Volatility surfaces, FX market prices, Liquidity
Black's Model, multifactorial advanced | Yield curves, Volatility surfaces, FX market prices, Liquidity
Interest rate options 4,411 26| models interest rate
Index and securities options 1,233 143 | Black-Scholes Model Yield curves, FX market prices
Black's Model Yield curves, Volatility surfaces, FX & EQ market prices, Dividends,
Interest rate and equity futures 7 - i i ty, HPI
Present value method, Advanced surfaces, FX & EQ market prices, Dividends,
Other 4,200 2| stochastic volatility models and other Correlation, Liquidity, HPI
Short positions - - | Present value method Yield curves ,FX & EQ market prices, Equity
Hedging derivatives 6,352 6
Swaps 5,868 6 | Present value method Yield curves ,FX & EQ market prices, Basis
Interest rate options 158 - | Black's Model Yield curves , Volatility surfaces, FX market prices, Liquidity
Present value method, Advanced Yield curves , Volatility surfaces, FX market prices, Liquidity, Other
Other 326 - | stochastic volatility models and other
Financial liabilities designated at fair value through
profit or loss 66,924 147 | Present value method Yield curves, FX market prices
Liabilities under insurance contracts 765 -
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Millions of euros

Fair values calculated using internal models at

31/12/17
Level 2 | Level 3 Valuation techniques
ASSETS: 124,178 1,363
Financial assets held for trading 66,806 437
Credit institutions 1,696 - | Present value method
Customers (**) 8,815 - | Present value method
Debt and equity instruments 335 32 | Present value method
Derivatives 55,960 405
Swaps 44,766 189 | Present value method, Gaussian Copula (****)
Exchange rate options 463 5| Black-Scholes Model
Interest rate options 4,747 162 | Black's Model, Heath-Jarrow- Morton Model
Interest rate futures 2 - | Present value method
Index and securities options 1,257 5 | Black-Scholes Model
Other 4,725 44 | Present value method, Monte Carlo simulation and others
Hedging derivatives 8,519 18
Swaps 7,896 18 | Present value method
Exchange rate options - - | Black-Scholes Model
Interest rate options 13 - | Black's Model
Other 610 - N/A
Financial assets designated at fair value through
profit or loss 30,677 282
Credit institutions 9,889 - | Present value method
Customers (****) 20,403 72 | Present value method
Debt and equity instruments 385 210 | Present value method
Financial assets available-for-sale 18,176 626
Debt and equity instruments 18,176 626 | Present value method
LIABILITIES: 153,600 196
Financial liabilities held for trading 85,614 182
Central banks 282 - | Present value method
Credit institutions 292 - | Present value method
Customers 28,179 - | Present value method
Derivatives 56,860 182
Swaps 45,041 100 | Present value method, Gaussian Copula (****)
Exchange rate options 497 9| Black-Scholes Model
Interest rate options 5,402 19 | Black's Model, Heath-Jarrow- Morton Model
Index and securities options 1,527 41 | Black-Scholes Model
Interest rate and equity futures 1 - | Black's Model
Other 4,392 13| Present value method, Monte Carlo simulation and others
Short positions 1 - | Present value method
Hedging derivatives 8,029 7
Swaps 7,573 7 | Present value method
Exchange rate options - -
Interest rate options 287 - | Black's Model
Other 169 - N/A
Financial liabilities designated at fair value
through profit or loss 58,840 7 | Present value method
Liabilities under insurance contracts 1117 -

(*) Level 2 internal models use data based on observable market parameters, while level 3 internal models use significant non-observable

inputs in market data.

(**) Includes mainly short-term loans and reverse repurchase agreements with corporate customers (mainly brokerage and investment

companies).

(***)

Includes credit risk derivatives with a net fair value of EUR 0 million at 31 December 2018 (31 December 2017 and 2016: net fair value

of EUR 0 million and EUR -1 million, respectively). These assets and liabilities are measured using the Standard Gaussian Copula

Model.

(****) Includes home mortgage loans to financial institutions in the UK (which are regulated and partly financed by the Government). The fair
value of these loans was obtained using observable market variables, including current market transactions with similar amounts and
collateral facilitated by the UK Housing Association. Since the Government is involved in these financial institutions, the credit risk
spreads have remained stable and are homogeneous in this sector. The results arising from the valuation model are checked against

current market transactions.
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The same information from the previous table, but referred to Banco Santander, S.A., is presented below:

Millions of euros

Millions of euros

Fair values calculated using internal

Fair values calculated using internal models

models at 31/12/18(*) at 01/01/18(**)
Level 2 Level 3 Valuation
Level 2 Level 3 techniques Main assumptions
ASSETS: 98,196 3,233 75,430 1,581
Financial assets held for trading 51,458 406 39,596 390
Credit institutions - - - - Present value method Yield curves, FX market prices
Customers (**) 19 5 - Present value method Yield curves, FX market prices
Debt and equity instruments 1,023 32 915 32 Present value method Yield curves, FX market prices
Derivatives 50,416 374 38,659 358
Swaps 42,766 364 30,901 £ ] ield curves, FX market prices, HPI, Basis, Liquidity
Exchange rate options 4,470 - 4,230 - Black-Scholes Model Yield curves, Volatility surfaces, FX market prices, Liquidity
Interest rate options 2,511 1 3,010 ks Model e, Yield curves, Volatility surfaces, FX market prices, Liquidity
Interest rate futures 32 - 25 - Present value method Yield curves, FX market prices
Index and securities options 674 9 318 - kS Mode et Yield curves, Volatility surfaces, FX market prices, Liquidity
Present value method ,
Modelos de volatilidad Yield curves, Volatility surfaces, FX and EQ market prices,
@7 N s estocasticos avanzados y Dividends, Correlation, Liquidity, Others
Other otros
Hedging derivatives 2,086 21 2,206 18
Swaps 1,702 21 1,692 18 Present value method Yield curves, FX market prices, Basis
Interest rate options 263 \ 459 - Black’s Model FX market prices, Yield curves, Volatility surfaces
Other 115 - 49 -
Present value method,
Modelos de volatilidad | Yield curves, Volatility surfaces, FX market prices, Credit, Liquidity,
estocésticos avanzados ers
y otros
Non-trading financial assets
mandatorily at fair value through 2,747 962 2,455 509
profit or loss
Equity instruments 42 141 13 54 Yield curves, FX market prices & EQ, Dividends, Others
Debt instruments 1,335 641 63 318 Present value method
Loans and receivables (**) 1,370 180 2,379 137
Financial assets designated at fair
value through profitgor loss 40,585 740 28,721 -
Central banks 103 - - Present value method Yield curves, FX market prices
Credit institutions 17,335 201 5,949 - Present value method Yield curves, FX market prices
Customers 23,147 539 22,778 - Present value method Yield curves, FX market prices, HPI
Debt instruments - - - Present value method FX market prices, Yield curves
fmﬁﬂ;EL?ﬁiertig;?:QI;’:r::ﬁ/e 1,320 1,104 2,446 664 Present value method | Yield curves , FX market prices & EQ, Dividends, Liquidity, Other
income
Equity instruments 343 331 347 664
Debt instruments 326 - 1,525 -
Loans and receivables 651 773 574 -
Financial assets available for sale
Debt instruments
LIABILITIES 88,737 470 75,680 298 Present value method Yield curves, FX market prices
Financial liabilities held for trading 50,301 321 39,216 291 Present value method Yield curves, FX market prices
Central banks - - - - Present value method Yield curves, FX market prices
Credit institutions - - - -
Customers - - - -
Derivatives 50,301 321 39,216 291 P’é:i’;;"’gﬂ'::f:‘gg) Yield curves, FX market prices, Basis, Liquidity, HPI
Swaps 40,634 306 28,157 291 Black-Scholes Model Yield curves, Volatility surfaces, FX market prices, Liquidity
Exchange rate options 4,406 - 4,263 - D Mot et Yield curves, Volatility surfaces, FX market prices, Liquidity
Interest rate options 2,416 9 2,959 - Black-Scholes Model Yield curves, FX market prices
Index and securities options 34 - 24 - Present value methog | Y110 CUTves, Voletlity surfaces, P & EQcﬁ?@ﬁf.Sé'cffqﬁ'av.seﬂdﬁu
Interest rate and equity futures 543 - 1,155 - Present value method Yield curves, FX market prices y equity
Other 2,267 6 2,659 - Present value method Yield curves, FX market prices y equity
Short positions - - - -
Hedging derivatives 3,499 7 4,744 7 Present value method Yield curves, FX market prices, Basis
Swaps 3,075 7 4,428 7
Exchange rate options 273 - 128 Black’s Model Yield curves, Volatility surfaces, FX market prices, Liquidity
Present value method,
150 R 187 Modelos de volatilidad | Yield curves, Volatility surfaces, FX market prices, Credit, Liquidity,
. estocésticos avanzados Others
Interest rate options y otros
Other 1 - 1 Present value method Yield curves, FX market prices
Present value method,
Financial liabilities designated at 34037 142 31,720 B Z{Lﬁ;’.félii‘&'ﬁn“z'ﬂii Yield curves, Volatility surfaces, FX market prices, Credit, qugl‘d':gs,
fair value through profit or loss y otros
Liabilities under insurance _ _ _ _
contracts

(*) See reconciliation of Bank of Spain Circular 4/2004 and subsequent modifications as at December 31, 2017 to Bank of Spain Circular
4/2017 as at January 1, 2018 (Note 1.b).

(**) See further detail Note 1.d and Note 1.i.
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Millions of euros
Fair values calculated using
internal models at
31/12/17
Level 2 Level 3 Valuation techniques Main assumptions
ASSETS: 76,710 958
Financial assets held for trading 38,614 390
Customers (a) 22 -| Present Value Method FX market prices, Yield curves
Debt and equity instruments 915 32| Present Value Method FX market prices, Yield curves
Derivatives 37,677 358 Present Value Method, Gaussian FX market prices, Yield curves, Volatility
Copula (b) Black-Scholes Model, surfaces, Liquidity, Correlation
Heath-Jarrow-Morton Model,
Montecarlo simulation and others
Hedging derivatives 2,055 18| Present Value Method, Gaussian FX market prices, Yield curves, Volatility
Copula (b) Black-Scholes Model, surfaces, Liquidity, Correlation
Heath-Jarrow-Morton Model,
Montecarlo simulation and others
Financial assets designated at fair value 34,021
through profit or loss
Credit institutions 11,243 Present Value Method FX market prices, Yield curves
Customers 22,778 -| Present Value Method FX market prices, Yield curves, HPI
Financial assets available-for-sale 2,020 550
Debt and equity instruments 2,020 550 | Present Value Method FX market prices, Yield curves
LIABILITIES: 74,485 298
Financial liabilities held for trading 38,164 291
Present Value Method, Gaussian FX market prices, Yield curves, Volatility
— Copula (b) Black-Scholes Model, surfaces, Liquidity, Correlation
Derivatives 38,164 291 Heath-Jarrow-Morton Model, a Y
Montecarlo simulation and others
Hedging derivatives 4,007 7| Present Value Method, Gaussian FX market prices, Yield curves, Volatility
Copula (b) Black-Scholes Model, surfaces, Liquidity, Correlation
Heath-Jarrow-Morton Model,
Montecarlo simulation and others
Financial liabilities designated at fair
value through profit or loss 32,314
Central banks 7,913 -| Present Value Method FX market prices, Yield curves
Credit institutions 15,209 -| Present Value Method FX market prices, Yield curves
Customers 9,192 -| Present Value Method FX market prices, Yield curves

Level 3 financial instruments

Set forth below are the Group's main financial instruments measured using unobservable market data as
significant inputs of the internal models (Level 3):

- Instruments in Santander UK's portfolio (loans, debt instruments and derivatives) linked to the House
Price Index (HPI). Even if the valuation techniques used for these instruments may be the same as
those used to value similar products (present value in the case of loans and debt instruments, and the
Black-Scholes model for derivatives), the main factors used in the valuation of these instruments are
the HPI spot rate, the growth and volatility thereof, and the mortality rates, which are not always

observable in the market and, accordingly, these instruments are considered illiquid.

HPI spot rate: for some instruments the NSA HPI spot rate, which is directly observable and
published on a monthly basis, is used. For other instruments where regional HPI rates must be
used (published quarterly), adjustments are made to reflect the different composition of the
rates and adapt them to the regional composition of Santander UK's portfolio.

HPI growth rate: this is not always directly observable in the market, especially for long
maturities, and is estimated in accordance with existing quoted prices. To reflect the uncertainty
implicit in these estimates, adjustments are made based on an analysis of the historical volatility
of the HPI, incorporating reversion to the mean.

HPI volatility: the long-term volatility is not directly observable in the market but is estimated on
the basis of shorter-term quoted prices and by making an adjustment to reflect the existing
uncertainty, based on the standard deviation of historical volatility over various time periods.

Mortality rates: these are based on published official tables and adjusted to reflect the
composition of the customer portfolio for this type of product at Santander UK.

- Callable interest rate derivatives (Bermudan-style options) where the main unobservable input is
mean reversion of interest rates.
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- Trading derivatives on interest rates, taking as an underlying asset titling and with the amortization
rate (CPR, Conditional prepayment rate) as unobservable main entry.

- Derivatives from trading on inflation in Spain, where volatility is not observable in the market.

- Derivatives on volatility of long-term interest rates (more than 30 years) where volatility is not
observable in the market at the indicated term.

- Equity volatility derivatives, specifically indices and equities, where volatility is not observable in the
long term.

- HTC&S (Hold to collect and sale) syndicated loans classified in the fair value category with changes
in other comprehensive income, where the cost of liquidity is not directly observable in the market, as
well as the prepayment option in favour of the borrower.

The measurements obtained using the internal models might have been different if other methods or
assumptions had been used with respect to interest rate risk, to credit risk, market risk and foreign
currency risk spreads, or to their related correlations and volatilities. Nevertheless, the Bank’s directors
consider that the fair value of the financial assets and liabilities recognised in the consolidated balance
sheet and the gains and losses arising from these financial instruments are reasonable.

The Group’s net amount recognised in profit and loss in 2018 arising from models whose significant inputs
are unobservable market data (Level 3) amounted to a EUR 10 million loss (EUR 116 million profit in
2017), amounting to EUR 65 million profit for the Bank in 2018 (EUR 82 million loss in 2017).
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The table below shows the effect, at 31 December 2018 on the fair value of the main financial instruments classified as Level 3 of a reasonable change in the
assumptions used in the valuation. This effect was determined by applying the probable valuation ranges of the main unobservable inputs detailed in the following table:

Portfolio/Instrument

Impacts (Million of euros)

(Level 3) Valuation technique Main unobservable inputs Range Weighted average Unfavourable Favourable
scenario scenario
Financial assets held for trading
Trading derivatives Present value method Curves on TAB indices (*) (@) (a) (0.3) 0.3
Long-term rates MXN (@) (a) - -
Present value method, Modified Black-Scholes Model HPI forward growth rate 0%-5% 2.7% (24.0) 20.7
HPI spot rate nla 783(***) (7.8) 7.8
Interest Rate Curves, FX Market Prices CPR n/a nla (163.2) (84.4)
Long-term FX volatility 11%-17% 14.75% (34.4) 5.0
Financial assets at fair value through other
comprehensive income
Debt instruments and equity holdings Present value method, others Contingencies for litigation 0%-100% 29% (23.8) 9.7
Present value method, others Late payment and prepayment rate capital cost long-term profit growth rate (a) (@) (6.6) 6.6
Present value method, others Interest Rate Curves, FX Market Prices and Credit Curves (a) (@) 1.8 (1.8)
Local Volatility Long term volatility nla 34.0% 244.9 (313.8)
Non-trading financial assets mandatorily at fair
value through profit or loss
Credit to customers Weighted average by probability (according to forecast
mortality rates) of European HPI options, using the
Black-Scholes model HPI forward growth rate 0%-5% 2.8% (6.2) 5.0
Debt instruments and equity instruments HPI spot rate nla 783(***) (11.2) 11.2
TD Black Spain volatility n/a 4.7% 2.2 (11.5)
Model Asset Swap & CDS Model - Interest Rate Curves and Credit n/a 7.7% (19.8) 4.4
Cvx. Adj (SLN) Long term volatility nla 8.0% (121.2) 105.1
Financial liabilities held for trading
Trading derivatives Present value method, modified Black-Scholes Model HPI forward growth rate 0%-5% 2.6% (5.4) 5.8
HPI spot rate n/a 722(**) (4.9 4.8
Curves on TAB indices (*) (@) (a) - -
Bid Offer Spread IRS TIIE 3by
Discounted flows denominated in different currencies IRS TIIE 2bp - 6bp X-CCY MXN/USTD abp 12 12
Long-term rates MXN X-CCY USD/MXN 3bp - 10bp
Hedging derivatives (liabilities) Advanced models of local and stochastic volatility Correlation between the price of shares 55%-75% 65% nla nla
Advanced multi-factor interest rate models Mean reversion of interest rates 0.0001-0.03 0.01 (***) - -
Financial liabilities designated at fair value
through profit or loss - - - - (b) (b)

(*) TAB: “Tasa Activa Bancaria” (Active Bank Rate). Average interest rates on 30, 90, 180 and 360-day deposits published by the Chilean Association of Banks and Financial Institutions (ABIF) in nominal currency (Chilean peso) and in real terms,
adjusted for inflation (in Chilean unit of account (Unidad de Fomento - UF)).

(**) There are national and regional HPIs. The HPI spot value is the weighted average of the indices that correspond to the positions of each portfolio. The impact reported is in response to a 10% shift.

(***) Theoretical average value of the parameter. The change made for the favourable scenario is from 0.0001 to 0.03. An unfavourable scenario was not considered as there was no margin for downward movement from the parameter's current level.

(@) The exercise was performed for the unobservable inputs described in the column "Main unobservable inputs" under probable scenarios. The weighted average range and value used is not shown because this exercise has been carried out jointly for
different inputs or variants of them (for example, the TAB input are vector-term curves, for which there are also nominal and indexed curves to inflation), it is not possible to break down the result in an isolated manner by type of input. In the case of the

TAB curve, the result is reported before movements of +/- 100 bp for the joint sensitivity of this index in CLP (Chilean peso) and UF. The same applies for interest rates in MXN (Mexican peso).

(b)  The Group calculates the potential impact on the measurement of each instrument on a joint basis, regardless of whether the individual value is positive (assets) or negative (liabilities), and discloses the joint effect associated with the related
instruments classified on the asset side of the consolidated balance sheet.
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Lastly, the changes in the financial instruments classified as Level 3 in 2018 and 2017 were as follows:

01-01-2018 (*)

Changes

31-12-18

Fair value Changes in
calculated using Changes in fair fair value Fair value calculated
internal models | Purchases/ Sales/ value recognised | recognised in Level using internal models
Million of euros (Level 3) Issuances Amortization | Settlements in profit or loss equity reclassifications | Other (Level 3)
Financial assets held for trading 437 85 (26) (34) (16) - 312 (20) 738
Debt instruments and equity instruments 32 22 (6) (34) 2 - 141 4) 153
Trading derivatives 405 63 (20) - (18) - 171 (16) 585
Swaps 189 - ®) - 4 - 4 4) 185
Exchange rate options 5 - - - ) - - 1) 2
Interest rate options 162 - 3) - (16) - 8 () 149
Index and securities options 5 41 1) - (35) - 195 @) 198
Other 44 22 ) - 31 (36) @) 51
Hedging derivatives (Assets) 18 - - - 3 - - - 21
Swaps 18 - - - 3 - - - 21
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss - 105 - - 19 - 699 53 876
Credit entities - - - - 1) - 202 - 201
Loans and advances to customers - - - - 6 - 497 57 560
Debt instruments - 105 - - 14 - 4) 115
Non-trading financial assets mandatorily at fair value through profit or loss 1,365 66 (30) (5) 12 - 31 (36) 1,403
Loans and advances to customers 465 56 (22) - 20 - - (59) 460
Debt instruments 518 - @) - (29) - 1 ) 481
Equity instruments 382 10 1) (5) 21 - 30 25 462
Financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income 1,726 162 (238) - - (269) 147 (93) 1,435
TOTAL ASSETS 3,546 418 (294) (39) 18 (269) 1,189 (96) 4,473
Financial liabilities held for trading 182 41 (95) - 9 - 161 ) 289
Trading derivatives 182 41 (95) - 9 - 161 ) 289
Swaps 100 - © - © - 28 ©) 111
Exchange rate options 9 - - - ) - - - 7
Interest rate options 19 - [6h) - (1) - 10 [6h) 26
Index and securities options 41 41 87) - 25 - 128 (5) 143
Others 13 - - - (6) - (5) - 2
Hedging derivatives (Liabilities) 7 - - - @) - - - 6
Swaps 7 - - - @) - - 6
Financial liabilities designated at fair value through profit or loss 7 140 - - - - - 147
TOTAL LIABILITIES 196 181 (95) - 8 - 161 ©) 442
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2016 Changes 2017
Fair value
Fair value Changes in fair | Changes in fair calculated
calculated using value value using internal
internal models recognised in recognised Level models

Million of euros (Level 3) Purchases Sales Issuances Settlements profit or loss in equity reclassifications Other (Level 3)
Financial assets held for trading 341 45 (21) - (129) - 200 1 437
Debt and equity instruments 40 - @) - (] - - - 32
Derivatives 301 45 (14) - (128) - 200 405
Swaps 55 1 (6) . (59) - 200| @ 189
Exchange rate options 2 5 - - ) - E - 5
Interest rate options 173 - - - (11) - - - 162
Index and securities options 26 - (6] - (18) - E @) 5
Other 45 39 7 - (38) - - 5 44
Hedging derivatives (Assets) 27 - ) - @) - - - 18
Swaps 27 - ) - @) - - - 18
Financial assets designated at fair value through profit or loss 325 - ) - (20) - - (14) 282
Loans and advances to customers 74 - ) - 3 - - (3) 72
Debt instruments 237 - () - (21) - g (10) 199
Equity instruments 14 - - - ) - g 1) 11
Financial assets available-for-sale 656 1 (239) (5) - 59 (6), 160 626
TOTAL ASSETS 1,349 46 (271) (5) (156) 59 194 147 1,363
Financial liabilities held for trading 69 33 3) - (38) - 126 (5) 182
Derivatives 69 33 3) - (38) - 126 (5) 182
Swaps 1 - - - (26) - 126 1) 100
Exchange rate options - 21 - - (11) - E (©] 9
Interest rate options 21 - - - @) - - - 19
Index and securities options 46 - 3) - - - E ©)] 41
Other 1 12 - - 1 - - @) 13
Hedging derivatives (Liabilities) 9 - - - ) - E - 7
Swaps 9 - - - @) - - - 7
Financial liabilities designated at fair value through profit or loss 8 - - - - - - )] 7
TOTAL LIABILITIES 86 33 I6) R (40) _ 126 ©) 196
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iv. Recognition of fair value changes

As a general rule, changes in the carrying amount of financial assets and liabilities are recognised in the
consolidated income statement. A distinction is made between the changes resulting from the accrual of
interest and similar items, (which are recognised under Interest income or Interest expense, as
appropriate), and those arising for other reasons, which are recognised at their net amount under
Gains/losses on financial assets and liabilities.

Adjustments due to changes in fair value arising from:

- Financial assets at fair value with changes in other comprehensive income are recorded temporarily, in
the case of debt instruments in other comprehensive income - Elements that can be reclassified to
profit or loss - Financial assets at fair value with changes in other comprehensive income, while in the
case of equity instruments are recorded in other comprehensive income - Elements that will not be
reclassified to portfolio - Changes in the fair value of equity instruments valued at fair value with
changes in other comprehensive income. Exchange differences on debt instruments measured at fair
value with changes in other comprehensive income are recognised under Exchange Differences, net of
the consolidated income statement. Exchange differences on equity instruments, in which the
irrevocable option of being measured at fair value with changes in other comprehensive income has
been chosen, are recognised in Other comprehensive income - Items that will not be reclassified to
profit or loss - Changes in the fair value of equity instruments measured at fair value with changes in
other comprehensive income.

- Items charged or credited to Items that may be reclassified to profit or loss — Financial assets at fair
value through other comprehensive income and Other comprehensive income — Items that may be
reclassified to profit or loss — Exchange differences in equity remain in the Bank's consolidated equity
until the asset giving rise to them is impaired or derecognised, at which time they are recognised in the
consolidated income statement.

- Unrealised gains on Financial assets classified as Non-current assets held for sale because they form
part of a disposal group or a discontinued operation are recognised in Other comprehensive income
under Items that may be reclassified to profit or loss — Non-current assets held for sale.

v. Hedging transactions

The Bank financial derivatives for the following purposes: i) to facilitate these instruments to customers
who request them in the management of their market and credit risks; ii) to use these derivatives in the
management of the risks of the Group entities' own positions and assets and liabilities (hedging
derivatives); and iii) to obtain gains from changes in the prices of these derivatives (derivatives).

Financial derivatives that do not qualify for hedge accounting are treated for accounting purposes as
trading derivatives.

A derivative qualifies for hedge accounting if all the following conditions are met:
1. The derivative hedges one of the following three types of exposure:

a. Changes in the fair value of assets and liabilities due to fluctuations, among others, in the interest
rate and/or exchange rate to which the position or balance to be hedged is subject (fair value
hedge);

b. Changes in the estimated cash flows arising from financial assets and liabilities, commitments and
highly probable forecast transactions (cash flow hedge);

c. The net investment in a foreign operation (hedge of a net investment in a foreign operation).
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2.

It is effective in offsetting exposure inherent in the hedged item or position throughout the expected
term of the hedge, which means that:

a.

At the date of arrangement the hedge is expected, under normal conditions, to be highly effective
(prospective effectiveness).

There is sufficient evidence that the hedge was actually effective during the whole life of the hedged
item or position (retrospective effectiveness). To this end, the Bank checks that the results of the
hedge were within a range of 80% to 125% of the results of the hedged item.

There must be adequate documentation evidencing the specific designation of the financial derivative
to hedge certain balances or transactions and how this hedge was expected to be achieved and
measured, provided that this is consistent with the Bank's management of own risks.

The changes in value of financial instruments qualifying for hedge accounting are recognised as
follows:

a.

In fair value hedges, the gains or losses arising on both the hedging instruments and the hedged
items attributable to the type of risk being hedged are recognised directly in the consolidated
income statement.

In fair value hedges of interest rate risk on a portfolio of financial instruments, the gains or losses
that arise on measuring the hedging instruments are recognised directly in the consolidated income
statement, whereas the gains or losses due to changes in the fair value of the hedged amount
(attributable to the hedged risk) are recognised in the consolidated income statement with a
balancing entry under Changes in the fair value of hedged items in portfolio hedges of interest rate
risk on the asset or liability side of the balance sheet, as appropriate.

In cash flow hedges, the effective portion of the change in value of the hedging instrument is
recognised temporarily in Other comprehensive income — under Items that may be reclassified to
profit or loss — Hedging derivatives — Cash flow hedges (effective portion) until the forecast
transactions occur, when it is recognised in the consolidated income statement, unless, if the
forecast transactions result in the recognition of non-financial assets or liabilities, it is included in the
cost of the non-financial asset or liability.

In hedges of a net investment in a foreign operation, the gains or losses attributable to the portion
of the hedging instruments qualifying as an effective hedge are recognised temporarily in Other
comprehensive income under Items that may be reclassified to profit or loss — Hedges of net
investments in foreign operations until the gains or losses — on the hedged item are recognised in
profit or loss.

. The ineffective portion of the gains or losses on the hedging instruments of cash flow hedges and

hedges of a net investment in a foreign operation is recognised directly under Gains/losses on
financial assets and liabilities (net) in the consolidated income statement, in Gains or losses from
hedge accounting, net.

If a derivative designated as a hedge no longer meets the requirements described above due to expiration,
ineffectiveness or for any other reason, the derivative is classified for accounting purposes as a trading
derivative.

When fair value hedge accounting is discontinued, the adjustments previously recognised on the hedged
item are amortised to profit or loss at the effective interest rate recalculated at the date of hedge
discontinuation. The adjustments must be fully amortised at maturity.

When cash flow hedge accounting is discontinued, any cumulative gain or loss on the hedging instrument
recognised in equity under other comprehensive income - ltems that may be reclassified to profit or loss
(from the period when the hedge was effective) remains in this equity item until the forecast transaction
occurs, at which time it is recognised in profit or loss, unless the transaction is no longer expected to occur,
in which case the cumulative gain or loss is recognised immediately in profit or loss.
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vi. Derivatives embedded in hybrid financial instruments

e)

f)

Derivatives embedded in other financial instruments or in other host contracts are accounted for separately
as derivatives if their risks and characteristics are not closely related to those of the host contracts,
provided that the host contracts are not classified as financial assets/liabilities designated at fair value
through profit or loss or as Financial assets/liabilities held for trading.

Derecognition of financial assets and liabilities

The accounting treatment of transfers of financial assets depends on the extent to which the risks and
rewards associated with the transferred assets are transferred to third parties:

1. If the Group transfers substantially all the risks and rewards to third parties unconditional sale of
financial assets, sale of financial assets under an agreement to repurchase them at their fair value at
the date of repurchase, sale of financial assets with a purchased call option or written put option that is
deeply out of the money, securitisation of assets in which the transferor does not retain a subordinated
debt or grant any credit enhancement to the new holders, and other similar cases-, the transferred
financial asset is derecognised and any rights or obligations retained or created in the transfer are
recognised simultaneously.

2. If the Group retains substantially all the risks and rewards associated with the transferred financial
asset -sale of financial assets under an agreement to repurchase them at a fixed price or at the sale
price plus interest, a securities lending agreement in which the borrower undertakes to return the same
or similar assets, and other similar cases-, the transferred financial asset is not derecognised and
continues to be measured by the same criteria as those used before the transfer. However, the
following items are recognised:

a. An associated financial liability, which is recognised for an amount equal to the consideration
received and is subsequently measured at amortised cost, unless it meets the requirements for
classification under Financial liabilities designated at fair value through profit or loss.

b. The income from the transferred financial asset not derecognised and any expense incurred on
the new financial liability, without offsetting.

3. If the Group neither transfers nor retains substantially all the risks and rewards associated with the
transferred financial asset -sale of financial assets with a purchased call option or written put option
that is not deeply in or out of the money, securitisation of assets in which the transferor retains a
subordinated debt or other type of credit enhancement for a portion of the transferred asset, and other
similar cases- the following distinction is made:

a. If the transferor does not retain control of the transferred financial asset, the asset is
derecognised and any rights or obligations retained or created in the transfer are recognised.

b. If the transferor retains control of the transferred financial asset, it continues to recognise it for an
amount equal to its exposure to changes in value and recognises a financial liability associated
with the transferred financial asset. The net carrying amount of the transferred asset and the
associated liability is the amortised cost of the rights and obligations retained, if the transferred
asset is measured at amortised cost, or the fair value of the rights and obligations retained, if the
transferred asset is measured at fair value.

Accordingly, financial assets are only derecognised when the rights to the cash flows they generate have
expired or when substantially all the inherent risks and rewards have been transferred to third parties.
Similarly, financial liabilities are only derecognised when the obligations they generate have been
extinguished or when they are acquired with the intention either to cancel them or to resell them.

Offsetting of financial instruments

Financial asset and liability balances are offset, i.e. reported in the balance sheet at their net amount, only
if the Bank currently has a legally enforceable right to set off the recognised amounts and intends either to
settle on a net basis, or to realise the asset and settle the liability simultaneously.
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Following is the detail of financial assets and liabilities that were offset in the balance sheets as at 31
December 2018 and 2017:

Millons of euros

31/12/2018 01/01/2018 (*) 31/12/2017
Net amount Net amount Net amount
Gross amount of financial Gross amount of financial Gross amount of financial
Gross of financial assets Gross of financial assets Gross of financial assets
amount of | liabilities offset | presented in | amount of | liabilities offset | presented in | amount of | liabilities offset | presented in
financial in the balance the balance financial in the balance the balance financial in the balance the balance
Assets assets sheet sheet assets sheet sheet assets sheet sheet
Derivatives 93,693 (39,949) 53,745 69,070 (27,445) 41,625 68,412 (27,445) 40,967
Repos 36,319 - 36,319 28,206 - 28,206 31,211 - 31,211
Millons of euros
31/12/2018 01/01/2018 (*) 31/12/2017
Net amount Net amount Net amount
Gross amount | of financial Gross amount | of financial Gross amount | of financial
Gross of financial liabilities Gross of financial liabilities Gross of financial liabilities
amount of | assets offsetin | presented in | amount of | assets offsetin | presented in | amount of | assets offsetin | presented in
financial the balance the balance financial the balance the balance financial the balance the balance
Liabilities liabilities sheet sheet liabilities sheet sheet liabilities sheet sheet
Derivatives 95,153 (39,949) 55,204 70,816 (27,445) 43,371 70,693 (27,445) 43,248
Repos 29,389 - 29,389 40,273 - 40,273 40,506 - 40,506

(*) See further detail Note 1.d and Note 1.i.

9)

Most of the derivatives and repos not offset in the balance sheet are subject to netting and collateral
arrangements.

At December 31, 2018 the balance sheet amounts EUR 81,157 million on derivatives and repos as assets
and EUR 73,610 million on derivatives and repos as liabilities that are subject to netting and collateral
arrangements (EUR 51,423 million and EUR 66,915 million in 2017, respectively).

Impairment of financial assets
i. Definition

The Bank associates an impairment in the value of financial assets measured at amortized cost, debt
instruments measured at fair value with changes in other comprehensive income, lease receipts and
commitments and guarantees granted that are not measured at fair value.

The impairment for expected credit losses is recorded with a charge to the consolidated income statement
for the period in which the impairment arises. In the event of occurrence, the recoveries of previously
recognised impairment losses are recorded in the consolidated income statement for the period in which
the impairment no longer exists or is reduced.

In the case of purchased or originated credit-impaired assets, the Bank only recognizes at the reporting
date the changes in the expected credit losses during the asset time life since the initial recognition as a
credit loss. In the case of assets measured at fair value with changes in other comprehensive income, the
changes in the fair value due to expected credit losses are charged in the consolidated income statement
of the year where the change happened, reflecting the rest of the valuation in the other comprehensive
income.

As a rule, the expected credit loss is estimated as the difference between the contractual cash flows to be
recovered and the expected cash flows discounted with the original effective interest rate. In the case of
purchased or originated credit-impaired assets, this difference is discounted using the effective interest
rate adjusted by credit rating.
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a)

b)

c)

d)

Depending on the classification of financial instruments, which is mentioned in the following sections, the
expected credit losses may be along 12 months or during the life of the financial instrument:

- 12-month expected credit losses: they are the expected credit losses arising from the potential
default events, as defined in the following sections that are estimated to be likely to occur within
the 12 months following the reporting date. These losses will be associated with financial assets
classified as "normal risk" as defined in the following sections.

- Expected credit losses over the life of the financial instrument: expected credit losses arising
from potential default events that are estimated to be likely to occur throughout the life of the
transaction. These losses are associated with financial assets classified as "normal risk under
watchlist" or "doubtful risk".

With the purpose of estimating the expected life of the financial instrument all the contractual terms have
been taken into account (e.g. prepayments, duration, purchase options, etc.), being the contractual period
(including extension options) the maximum period considered to measure the expected credit losses. In
the case of financial instruments with an uncertain maturity period and a component of undrawn
commitment (e.g.: credit cards), the expected life is estimated through quantitative analyses to determine
the period during which the entity is exposed to credit risk, also considering the effectiveness of
management procedures that mitigate such exposure (e.g. the ability to unilaterally cancel such financial
instruments, etc.).

The following constitute effective guarantees:

Mortgage guarantees on housing as long as they are first duly constituted and registered in favour of the
entity; the properties include:

i. Buildings and building elements, distinguishing among:
- Houses;
- Offices commercial and multi-purpose premises;
- Rest of buildings such as non-multi-purpose premises and hotels.
ii. Urban and developable ordered land.

iii. Rest of properties that would be classified in: buildings and building elements under
construction, such as property development in progress and halted development, and the rest of
land types, such as rustic lands.

Collateral guarantees on financial instruments in the form of cash deposits and debt securities issued by
creditworthy issuers.

Other types of real guarantees, including properties received in guarantee and second and subsequent
mortgages on properties, as long as the entity demonstrates its effectiveness. When assessing the
effectiveness of the second and subsequent mortgages on properties the entity will implement particularly
restrictive criteria. It will take into account, among others, whether the previous charges are in favour of
the entity itself or not and the relationship between the risk guaranteed by them and the property value.

Personal guarantees, as well as the incorporation of new owners, covering the entire amount of the
transaction and implying direct and joint liability to the entity of persons other entities whose solvency is
sufficiently proven to ensure the reimbursement of the operation on the agreed terms.

ii. Financial instruments presentation

For the purposes of calculating the impairment adjustment, and in accordance with its internal policies, the
Bank classifies its financial instruments (financial asset, risk or contingent commitment) measured at
amortized cost or fair value through other comprehensive income in one of the following categories:

- Normal Risk ("Stage 1"): includes all instruments that do not meet the requirements to be classified in
the rest of the categories.
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- Normal risk under watchlist ("Stage 2"): includes all instruments that, without meeting the criteria for
classification as doubtful or default risk, shown significant increases in credit risk since initial
recognition.

In order to determine whether a financial instrument has increased its credit risk since initial recognition
and is to be classified in Stage 2, the Bank considers the following criteria:

Changes in the risk of a default occurring through the
expected life of the financial instrument are analysed and
quantified with respect to its credit level in its initial
recognition.

Quantitafive criteria With the purpose of determining if such changes are

considered as significant, with the consequent classification
into stage 2, each Group unit has defined the quantitative
thresholds to consider in each of its portfolios taking into
account corporate guidelines ensuring a consistent
interpretation in all geographies.

In addition to the quantitative criteria indicated, various
indicators are used that are aligned with those used by the
Group in the normal management of credit risk. Irregular
positions of more than 30 days and renewals are common
criteria in all Group units. In addition, each unit can define
Qualitative criteria other qualitative indicators, for each of its portfolios,
according to the particularites and normal management
practices in line with the policies currently in force (e.g. use
of management alerts, etc.).

The use of these qualitative criteria is complemented with
the use of an expert judgement, under the corresponding
governance.

In the case of forbearances, instruments classified as "normal risk under watchlist* may be reclassified to
"normal risk" in the following circumstances: at least two years have elapsed from the date of
reclassification to that category or from its forbearance date, the client has paid the accrued principal and
interest amounts, and the client has no other instruments with amounts of more than 30 days past due

- Doubtful Risk (“Stage 3"): includes financial instruments, overdue or not, in which, without meeting the
circumstances to classify them in the category of default risk, there are reasonable doubts about their
total refund (principal and interests) by the client in the terms contractually agreed. Likewise, off-
balance-sheet exposures whose payment is probable and their recovery doubtful are considered in
Stage 3. Within this category, two situations are differentiated:

- Doubtful risk for non-performing loans: financial instruments, whatever their holder and
guarantee were, that have an amount more than 90 days past due for principal, interest or
expenses contractually agreed. This category also includes the amounts of all the transactions of
a customer when the transactions with overdue amounts more than 90 days old are more than
20% of the amounts pending collection.

These instruments may be reclassified to other categories if, as a result of the collection of part
of the amounts due, the reasons for their classification in this category disappear and the
customer does not have amounts more than 90 days past due in other transactions.

- Doubtful risk for reasons other than non-performing loans: this category includes doubtful
recovery operations that are not overdue by more than 90 days.
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The Bank considers that a transaction to be doubtful for reasons other than delinquency when
one or more combined events have occurred with a negative impact on the estimated future
cash flows of the transaction. To this end, the following indicators, among others, are
considered:

a) Negative net equity or decrease because of losses of the client's net equity by at least
50% during the last financial year.

b) Continued losses or significant decrease in revenue or, in general, in the customer's
recurring cash flows.

c) Generalised delay in payments or insufficient cash flows to service debts.

d) Significantly inadequate economic or financial structure or inability to obtain additional
financing from the client.

e) Existence of an internal or external credit rating showing that the customer is in default.

f)  Existence of overdue customer commitments with a significant amount to public
institutions or employees.

These transactions may be reclassified to other categories if, as a result of an individualized
study, reasonable doubts about their total reimbursement under the terms contractually agreed
upon disappear and there are no amounts more than 90 days past due.

In the case of forbearances, instruments classified as doubtful risk may be reclassified to the
category of 'normal risk under watchlist' when the following circumstances are present: a
minimum period of one year has elapsed from the forbearance date, the client has paid the
accrued principal and interest amounts, and the client has no other instrument with amounts of
more than 90 days past due.

Default Risk: includes all financial assets, or part of them, for which, after an individualised analysis,
their recovery is considered remote due to a notorious and irrecoverable deterioration of their solvency.

In any case, except in the case of transactions with collateral covering more than 10% of the amount
of the transaction, the Bank considers the following as a remote recovery: the transactions of holders
who are in the liquidation phase of bankruptcy proceedings, doubtful transactions due to non-
performing loans older than four years in this category and doubtful transactions due to non-
performing loans whose portion not covered by collateral has been maintained with 100% credit risk
coverage for more than two years.

A financial asset amount is maintained in the balance sheet until they are considered as a "default
risk", either all or a part of it, and the write-off is registered from the balance sheet.

In the case of operations that have only been partially derecognised, for removal reasons or because
a part of the total amount is considered unrecoverable, the remaining amount shall be fully classified
in the category of "doubtful risk".

The classification of a financial asset, or part of it, as a 'default risk' does not involve the disruption of
negotiations and legal proceedings to recover the amount.

Impairment valuation assessment

The Bank has policies, methods and procedures in place to hedge its credit risk, both due to the
insolvency attributable to counterparties and its residence in a specific country. These policies, methods
and procedures are applied in the concession, study and documentation of financial assets, risks and
contingent commitments, as well as in the identification of their impairment and in the calculation of the
amounts needed to cover their credit risk.

The asset impairment model in Bank of Spain Circular 4/2017 applies to financial assets measured at
amortised cost, debt instruments at fair value with changes in other comprehensive income, leasing
payments and commitments and guarantees granted that are not measured at fair value.
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The impairment represents the best estimation of the financial assets expected credit losses at the balance
sheet date, both individually and collectively.

- Individually: For the purposes of making estimates of provisions for credit risk arising from the
insolvency of a financial instrument, the Bank makes an individualised estimate of the expected credit
losses on those financial instruments that are considered to be significant and with sufficient
information to make such a calculation.

Therefore, this classification mostly includes wholesale banking customers - Corporations, specialised
financing - as well as some of the largest companies — Chartered and developers - from retail banking.

The individualised estimate of the impairment adjustment for the financial asset is equal to the
difference between the gross carrying amount of the transaction and the estimated value of the
expected cash flows receivable discounted using the original effective interest rate of the transaction.
The estimate of these cash flows takes into account all available information on the financial asset and
the effective guarantees associated with that asset.

- Collectively: the entity estimates expected credit losses collectively in cases where they are not
estimated on an individual basis. This includes, for example, risks with individuals, sole proprietors or
retail banking companies subject to standardised management.

For the purposes of the collective calculation of expected credit losses, the Bank has consistent and
reliable internal models. For the development of these models, instruments with similar credit risk
characteristics that are indicative of the debtors' capacity to pay are considered.

The credit risk characteristics used to group the instruments are, among others: type of instrument,
debtor's sector of activity, geographical area of activity, type of guarantee, age of amounts past due
and any other factor relevant to the estimation of future cash flows.

The Bank performs retrospective and monitoring to evaluate the reasonableness of the collective
calculation.

On the other hand, the methodology required to quantify the expected loss due to credit events is based
on an unbiased and weighted consideration by the probability of occurrence of a series of scenarios,
considering a range of between three and five possible future scenarios, depending on the characteristics
of each unit, which could have an impact on the collection of contractual cash flows, always taking into
account the time value of money, as well as all available and relevant information on past events, current
conditions and forecasts of the evolution of macroeconomic factors that are shown to be relevant for the
estimation of this amount (for example: GDP (Gross Domestic Product), house price, unemployment rate,
etc.).

For the estimation of the parameters used in the estimation of impairment provisions (EAD (Exposure at
Default), PD (Probability of Default), LGD (Loss Given Default) and discount rate), the Group based its
experience in developing internal models for the calculation of parameters both in the regulatory area and
for management purposes, adapting the development of the impairment provision models under Bank of
Spain Circular 4/2017.

- Exposure at default: is the amount of estimated risk incurred at the time of the counterparty's analysis.

- Probability of default: is the estimated probability that the counterparty will default on its principal and/or
interest payment obligations.

- Loss given default: is the estimate of the severity of the loss incurred in the event of non-compliance. It
depends mainly on the updating of the guarantees associated with the operation and the future cash
flows that are expected to be recovered.
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h)

The definition of default implemented at the Bank for the purpose of calculating the impairment provision
models is based on the definition in Article 178 of Regulation 575/2013 of the European Union (CRR),
which is fully aligned with the requirements of IFRS 9, which considers that a "default" exists in relation to
a specific customer/contract when at least one of the following circumstances exists: the entity considers
that there are reasonable doubts about the payment of all its credit obligations or that the
customer/contract is in an irregular situation for more than 90 days with respect to any significant credit
obligation.

In addition, the Bank considers the risk generated in all cross-border transactions due to circumstances
other than the usual commercial risk of insolvency (sovereign risk, transfer risk or risks arising from
international financial activity, such as wars, natural catastrophes, balance of payments crisis, etc.).

Bank of Spain Circular 4/2017 includes a series of practical solutions that can be implemented by entities,
with the aim of facilitating its implementation. However, in order to achieve a complete and high-level
implementation of the standard, and following the best practices of the industry, the Bank does not apply
these practical solutions in a generalised manner:

- Rebuttable presumption that the credit risk has increased significantly, when payments are more than
30 days past due: this threshold is used as an additional, but not primary, indicator of significant risk
increase. Additionally, there may be cases in the Bank where its use has been rebutted as a result of
studies that show a low correlation of the significant risk increase with this past due threshold.

- Assets with low credit risk at the reporting date: the Bank assesses the existence of significant risk
increase in all its financial instruments.

This information is provided in more detail in Note 49 c. (Credit risk).

Repurchase agreements and reverse repurchase agreements

Purchases (sales) of financial instruments under a non-optional resale (repurchase) agreement at a fixed
price (repos) are recognised in the consolidated balance sheet as financing granted (received), based on
the nature of the debtor (creditor), under Loans and advances with central banks, Loans and advances to
credit institutions or Loans and advances to customers (Deposits from central banks, Deposits from credit
institutions or Customer deposits).

Differences between the purchase and sale prices are recognised as interest over the contract term.

Non-current assets and Liabilities associated with non-current assets held for sale and Liabilities
included in alienable groups of items that have been classified as held for sale

Non-current assets held for sale includes the carrying amount of individual items, disposal groups or items
forming part of a business unit earmarked for disposal (discontinued operations), whose sale in their
present condition is highly likely to be completed within one year from the reporting date. Therefore, the
recovery of the carrying amount of these items -which can be of a financial nature or otherwise- will
foreseeably be effected through the proceeds from their disposal.

Specifically, property or other non-current assets received by the consolidated entities as total or partial
settlement of their debtors' payment obligations to them are deemed to be Non-current assets held for
sale, unless the consolidated entities have decided to make continuing use of these assets. In this
connection, for the purpose of its consideration in the initial recognition of these assets, the Bank obtains,
at the foreclosure date, the fair value of the related asset through a request for appraisal by external
appraisal agencies.
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The Bank has in place a corporate policy that ensures the professional competence and the independence
and objectivity of the external appraisal agencies, in accordance with the regulations, which require
appraisal agencies to meet independence, neutrality and credibility requirements, so that the use of their
estimates does not reduce the reliability of its valuations. This policy establishes that all the appraisal
companies and agencies with which the Bank works in Spain should be registered in the Official Register
of the Bank of Spain and that the appraisals performed by them should follow the methodology established
in Ministry of Economy Order ECO/805/2003, of 27 March. The main appraisal companies and agencies
with which they worked in Spain in 2018 are as follows: Eurovaloraciones, S.A., |bertasa, S.A., Tinsa
Tasaciones Inmobiliarias, S.A.U., Krata, S.A. y Valtenic, S.A.

Also, this policy establishes that the various subsidiaries abroad work with appraisal companies that have
recent experience in the area and the type of asset under appraisal and meet the independence
requirements established in the corporate policy. They should verify, inter alia, that the appraisal company
is not a party related to the Bank and that its billings to the Group in the last twelve months do not exceed
15% of the appraisal company's total billings.

Liabilities associated with non-current assets held for sale includes the balances payable arising from the
assets held for sale or disposal groups and from discontinued operations.

Non-current assets and disposal groups of items that have been classified as held for sale are generally
recognised at the date of their allocation to this category and are subsequently valued at the lower of their
fair value less costs to sell and its book value Non-current assets and disposal groups of items that are
classified as held for sale are not amortised as long as they remain in this category.

At 31 December 2018 the fair value less costs to sell of non-current assets held for sale exceeded their
carrying amount by EUR 255 million (EUR 174 million in 2017); however, in accordance with the applicable
legislation, this unrealised gain could not be recognised.

The value of the portfolio is determined as the sum of the values of the individual elements that compose
the portfolio, without considering any total or batch grouping in order to correct the individual values.

The valuation of the portfolio of non-current assets held for sale has been carried out basically applying the
following models:

- Market Value Model used in the valuation of finished residential properties (housing and parkings)
and buildings of a tertiary nature (offices, commercial premises and multipurpose buildings). The
current market value of real estate is based on automated valuations obtained by comparison of
peers distinguishing by location and typology of the property. In addition, for individual significant
assets, complete individual valuations are performed. Valuations made using this method are
considered as Level 2.

- Market Value Model according to the Evolution of Market Values issued in the valuation of property
developments in progress. The current market value of the properties is estimated on the basis of
complete individual valuations of third parties, calculated from the values of feasibility studies and
development costs of the promotion, as well as selling expenses, distinguishing by location and
typology of the property. The valuation of real estate assets under construction is made considering
the current situation of the property and not considering the final value of the property. Valuations
made using this method are considered as Level 3.

- Market Value Model according to the Statistical Evolution of Lands Values (Methodology used in the
valuation of lands). A statistical update method is used, taking as reference the indexes published by
the Ministry of Development applied to the latest individual valuations (appraisals) carried out by
independent valuation companies and agencies. Valuations made using this method are considered
as Level 2.

With the periodicity included in Circular 4/2017, full individual appraisals or automated appraisals are made
that complement those made through our methodology and may involve adjustments in provisions.
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k)

In addition, in relation to the previously mentioned valuations, less selling costs, are contrasted with the
sales experience of each type of asset in order to confirm that there is no significant difference between
the sale price and the valuation.

Impairment losses on an asset or disposal group arising from a reduction in its carrying amount to its fair
value (less costs to sell) are recognised under Gains or (losses) on non-current assets held for sale not
classified as discontinued operations in the consolidated income statement. The gains on a non-current
asset held for sale resulting from subsequent increases in fair value (less costs to sell) increase its carrying
amount and are recognised in the consolidated income statement up to an amount equal to the impairment
losses previously recognised.

Reinsurance Assets and Liabilities under insurance contracts

Insurance contracts linked to pensions on the asset side of the balance sheet, included in the section
Other assets (Note 2.n) includes the amounts that the Bank is entitled to receive for insurance contracts
with third parties and, specifically, the insurer's share of the technical provisions recorded by the insurance
entities.

At least once a year these assets are reviewed to ascertain whether they are impaired (i.e. there is
objective evidence, as a result of an event that occurred after initial recognition of the reinsurance asset,
that the Bank may not receive all amounts due to it under the terms of the contract and the amount that will
not be received can be reliably measured), and any impairment loss is recognised in the income statement
and the assets are written down.

Tangible assets

Tangible assets includes the amount of buildings, land, furniture, vehicles, computer hardware and other
fixtures owned by the consolidated entities or acquired under finance leases. Tangible assets are classified
by use as follows:

i. Property, plant and equipment for own use

Property, plant and equipment for own use — including tangible assets received by the consolidated
entities in full or partial satisfaction of financial assets representing receivables from third parties which are
intended to be held for continuing use and tangible assets acquired under finance leases— are presented
at acquisition cost, less the related accumulated depreciation and any estimated impairment losses
(carrying amount higher than recoverable amount).

Depreciation is calculated, using the straight-line method, on the basis of the acquisition cost of the assets
less their residual value. The land on which the buildings and other structures stand has an indefinite life
and, therefore, is not depreciated.

The period tangible asset depreciation charge is recognized in the income statement and is calculated
using the following depreciation rates (based on the average years of estimated useful life of the various
assets):

Annual

rate
Buildings for own use 2
Furniture 10
Fixtures 5
Computer equipment 25
Vehicles 16
Other 5
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The Bank assess at the reporting date whether there is any indication that an asset may be impaired (i.e.
its carrying amount exceeds its recoverable amount). If this is the case, the carrying amount of the asset is
reduced to its recoverable amount and future depreciation charges are adjusted in proportion to the
revised carrying amount and to the new remaining useful life (if the useful life has to be re-estimated).

Similarly, if there is an indication of a recovery in the value of a tangible asset, the consolidated entities
recognise the reversal of the impairment loss recognised in prior periods and adjust the future depreciation
charges accordingly. In no circumstances may the reversal of an impairment loss on an asset raise its
carrying amount above that which it would have if no impairment losses had been recognised in prior
years.

The estimated useful lives of the items of property, plant and equipment for own use are reviewed at least
at the end of the reporting period with a view to detecting significant changes therein. If changes are
detected, the useful lives of the assets are adjusted by correcting the depreciation charge to be recognised
in the consolidated income statement in future years on the basis of the new useful lives

Upkeep and maintenance expenses relating to property, plant and equipment for own use are recognised
as an expense in the period in which they are incurred, since they do not increase the useful lives of the
assets.

ii. Investment property

Investment property reflects the net values of the land, buildings and other structures held either to earn
rentals or for obtaining profits by sales due to future increase in market prices.

The criteria used to recognise the acquisition cost of investment property, to calculate its depreciation and
its estimated useful life and to recognise any impairment losses thereon are consistent with those
described in relation to property, plant and equipment for own use.

In order to evaluate the possible impairment the Bank determines periodically the fair value of its
investment property so that, at the end of the reporting period, the fair value reflects the market conditions
of the investment property at that date. This fair value is determined annually, taking as benchmarks the
valuations performed by independent experts. The methodology used to determine the fair value of
investment property is selected based on the status of the asset in question; thus, for properties
earmarked for lease, the valuations are performed using the sales comparison approach, whereas for
leased properties the valuations are made primarily using the income capitalisation approach and,
exceptionally, the sales comparison approach.

In the sales comparison approach, the property market segment for comparable properties is analysed,
inter alia, and, based on specific information on actual transactions and firm offers, current prices are
obtained for cash sales of those properties. The valuations performed using this approach are considered
as Level 2 valuations.

In the income capitalisation approach, the cash flows estimated to be obtained over the useful life of the
property are discounted taking into account factors that may influence the amount and actual obtainment
thereof, such as: (i) the payments that are normally received on comparable properties; (ii) current and
probable future occupancy; (iii) the current or foreseeable default rate on payments. The valuations
performed using this approach are considered as Level 3 valuations, since significant unobservable inputs
are used, such as current and probable future occupancy and/or the current or foreseeable default rate on
payments.

iii. Assets leased out under an operating lease

Property, plant and equipment - Leased out under an operating lease reflects the amount of the tangible
assets, other than land and buildings, leased out by the Bank under an operating lease.

The criteria used to recognise the acquisition cost of assets leased out under operating leases, to calculate
their depreciation and their respective estimated useful lives and to recognise the impairment losses
thereon are consistent with those described in relation to property, plant and equipment for own use.
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I) Accounting for leases
i. Finance leases

Finance leases are leases that transfer substantially all the risks and rewards incidental to ownership of
the leased asset to the lessee.

When the Bank as the lessors of an asset, the sum of the present value of the lease payments receivable
from the lessee, including the exercise price of the lessee’s purchase option at the end of the lease term
when such exercise price is sufficiently below fair value at the option date such that it is reasonably certain
that the option will be exercised, is recognised as lending to third parties and is therefore included under
Loans and receivables in the balance sheet.

When the Bank acts as the lessees, they present the cost of the leased assets in the consolidated balance
sheet, based on the nature of the leased asset, and, simultaneously, recognise a liability for the same
amount (which is the lower of the fair value of the leased asset and the sum of the present value of the
lease payments payable to the lessor plus, if appropriate, the exercise price of the purchase option). The
depreciation policy for these assets is consistent with that for property, plant and equipment for own use.

In both cases, the finance income and finance charges arising under finance lease agreements are
credited and debited, respectively, to interest and similar income and Interest expense and similar charges
in the consolidated income statement so as to produce a constant rate of return over the lease term.

ii. Operating leases

In operating leases, ownership of the leased asset and substantially all the risks and rewards incidental
thereto remain with the lessor.

When the Bank acts as the lessor, it presents the acquisition cost of the leased assets under Tangible
assets (see Note 15). The depreciation policy for these assets is consistent with that for similar items of
property, plant and equipment for own use, and income from operating leases is recognised on a straight-
line basis under Other operating income in the income statement.

When the Bank acts as the lessees, the lease expenses, including any incentives granted by the lessor,
are charged on a straight-line basis to Other general administrative expenses in its income statements.

The gross value calculated applying Bank of Spain Circular 4/2017 and subsequent modifications as of 31
December 2018 of the future payments committed by the Bank for existing non-cancellable operating
lease agreements amounts to EUR 6,302 million, of which EUR 290 million is payable within one year,
EUR 1,118 million between one and five years and EUR 4,894 million in more than five years.

iii. Sale and leaseback transactions

In sale and leaseback transactions where the sale is at fair value and the leaseback is an operating lease,
any profit or loss is recognised at the time of sale. In the case of finance leasebacks, any profit or loss is
amortised over the lease term.

In accordance with Bank of Spain Circular 4/2017 and subsequent modifications, in determining whether a
sale and leaseback transaction results in an operating lease, the Group should analyse, inter alia, whether
at the inception of the lease there are purchase options whose terms and conditions make it reasonably
certain that they will be exercised, and to whom the gains or losses from the fluctuations in the fair value of
the residual value of the related asset will accrue.

m) Intangible assets

Intangible assets are identifiable non-monetary assets (separable from other assets) without physical
substance which arise as a result of a legal transaction or which are developed internally by the
consolidated entities. Only assets whose cost can be estimated reliably and from which the consolidated
entities consider it probable that future economic benefits will be generated are recognised.
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Intangible assets are recognised initially at acquisition or production cost and are subsequently measured
at cost less any accumulated amortisation and any accumulated impairment losses.

Goodwill

Any excess of the cost of the investments in the equity of subsidiaries, joint ventures and associates
entities accounted for using the equity method over the corresponding underlying carrying amounts
acquired, adjusted at the date of first-time consolidation, is allocated as follows:

- If it is attributable to specific assets and liabilities of the companies acquired, by increasing the value
of the assets (or reducing the value of the liabilities) whose fair values were higher (lower) than the
carrying amounts at which they had been recognised in the acquired entities' balance sheets.

- If it is attributable to specific intangible assets, by recognising it explicitly in the consolidated balance
sheet provided that the fair value of these assets within twelve months following the date of
acquisition can be measured reliably.

- The remaining amount is recognised as goodwill, which is allocated to one or more cash-generating
units (a cash-generating unit is the smallest identifiable group of assets that, as a result of continuing
operation, generates cash inflows that are largely independent of the cash inflows from other assets
or groups of assets). The cash-generating units represent the Bank’s geographical and/or business
segments.

Goodwill is only recognised when it has been acquired for consideration and represents, therefore, a
payment made by the acquirer in anticipation of future economic benefits from assets of the acquired entity
that are not capable of being individually identified and separately recognised.

Goodwill, in accordance with Bank of Spain Circular 4/2017, will be amortised over a 10-year period unless
proven otherwise. The debits to the income statements for the amortisation of these assets are recorded
under the section Amortisation in the income statement.

At the end of each annual reporting period or whenever there is any indication of impairment goodwill is
reviewed for impairment (i.e. a reduction in its recoverable amount to below its carrying amount) and, if
there is any impairment, the goodwill is written down with a charge to Impairment or reversal of impairment
on non-financial assets, net - Intangible assets in the income statement.

Other intangible assets

Other intangible assets includes the amount of identifiable intangible assets (such as purchased customer
lists and computer software).

In accordance with Rule Twenty Eight of Bank of Spain Circular 4/2017, in the financial statements
(individual and consolidated) not subject to the framework of International Financial Reporting Standards,
intangible assets will be assets with a limited useful life.

Intangible assets useful life may not exceed the period during which the entity is entitled to use the asset. If
the right of use is for a limited period that can be renewed, the useful life will include the renewal period
only when there is evidence that the renewal will be carried out without significant cost.

When the useful life of assets cannot be estimated reliably, they will be amortized over a period of ten
years. In the absence of evidence to the contrary, the useful life of goodwill, if applicable, shall be deemed
ten years.

Intangible assets shall be amortised in accordance with the criteria established for the tangible assets (a
maximum period of 10 years). The Bank reviews, at least at the end of each year, the amortisation period
and the amortisation method of each of its intangible assets and, if it considers that they are not
appropriate, the impact will be treated as a change in its accounting estimates.

The intangible asset amortisation charge is recognised under Depreciation and amortisation cost in the
consolidated income statement.
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In both cases the Bank recognises any impairment loss on the carrying amount of these assets with a
charge to Impairment or reversal of impairment on non-financial assets, net - Intangible assets in the
income statement. The criteria used to recognise the impairment losses on these assets and, where
applicable, the reversal of impairment losses recognised in prior years are similar to those used for
tangible assets (See Note 2.k).

Internally developed computer software

n)

f)

0)

Internally developed computer software is recognised as an intangible asset if, among other requisites
(basically the Bank's ability to use or sell it), it can be identified and its ability to generate future economic
benefits can be demonstrated.

Expenditure on research activities is recognised as an expense in the year in which it is incurred and
cannot be subsequently capitalised.

Other assets

Other assets in the balance sheet includes the amount of any assets not recorded in other items, the
breakdown being as follows:

- Inventories: this item includes the amount of any assets, other than financial instruments, that are held
for sale in the ordinary course of business, that are in the process of production, construction or
development for such purpose, or that are to be consumed in the production process or in the provision
of services. Inventories includes land and other property held for sale in the property development
business.

Inventories are measured at the lower of cost and net realisable value, which is the estimated selling
price of the inventories in the ordinary course of business, less the estimated costs of completion and
the estimated costs required to make the sale.

Any write-downs of inventories -such as those due to damage, obsolescence or reduction of selling
price- to net realisable value and other impairment losses are recognised as expenses in the year in
which the impairment or loss occurs. Subsequent reversals are recognised in the income statement for
the year in which they occur.

The carrying amount of inventories is derecognised and recognised as an expense in the period in
which the revenue from their sale is recognised.

- Other: this item includes the balance of all prepayments and accrued income (excluding accrued
interest, fees and commissions), the net amount of the difference between pension plan obligations
and the value of the plan assets with a balance in the entity's favour, when this net amount is to be
reported in the consolidated balance sheet, and the amount of any other assets not included in other
items.

Other liabilities

Other liabilities includes the balance of all accrued expenses and deferred income, excluding accrued
interest, and the amount of any other liabilities not included in other categories.

Provisions and contingent assets and liabilities
When preparing the Bank's financial statements, the Bank’s directors made a distinction between:

- Provisions: credit balances covering present obligations at the reporting date arising from past events
which could give rise to a loss for the Bank, which is considered to be likely to occur and certain as to
its nature but uncertain as to its amount and/or timing.
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p)

a)

- Contingent liabilities: possible obligations that arise from past events and whose existence will be
confirmed only by the occurrence or non-occurrence of one or more future events not wholly within the
control of the consolidated entities. They include the present obligations of the consolidated entities
when it is not probable that an outflow of resources embodying economic benefits will be required to
settle them. The Bank does not recognise the contingent liability. The Bank will disclose a contingent
liability, unless the possibility of an outflow of resources embodying economic benefits is remote.

- Contingent assets: possible assets that arise from past events and whose existence is conditional on,
and will be confirmed only by, the occurrence or non-occurrence of one or more uncertain future events
not wholly within the control of the Bank. Contingent assets are not recognised in the consolidated
balance sheet or in the income statement, but rather are disclosed in the notes, provided that it is
probable that these assets will give rise to an increase in resources embodying economic benefits.

The Bank's financial statements include all the material provisions with respect to which it is considered
that it is more likely than not the obligation will have to be settled. In accordance with accounting
standards, contingent liabilities must not be recognised in the consolidated financial statements, but must
rather be disclosed in the notes.

Provisions, which are quantified on the basis of the best information available on the consequences of the
event giving rise to them and are reviewed and adjusted at the end of each year, are used to cater for the
specific obligations for which they were originally recognised. Provisions are fully or partially reversed
when such obligations cease to exist or are reduced.

Provisions are classified according to the obligations covered as follows (see Note 23):

- Provision for pensions and similar obligations: includes the amount of all the provisions made to cover
post-employment benefits, including obligations to pre-retirees and similar obligations (Note 2.u).

- Other long-term employee remuneration: includes other commitments assumed with early retirement
personnel, as detailed in Note 2.v).

- Provisions for commitments and guarantees given: include the amount of the provisions made to
cover contingent liabilities -defined as those transactions in which the Bank guarantees the obligations
of a third party, arising as a result of financial guarantees granted or contracts of another kind- and
contingent commitments -defined as irrevocable commitments that may give rise to the recognition of
financial assets.

- Provisions for taxes and other legal contingencies: include the amount of the provisions recognised to
cover tax and legal contingencies and litigation and the other provisions recognised by the Bank.

- Other provisions: include the remaining provisions recognised by the Bank as the ones for
restructuring and environmental actions.

Court proceedings and/or claims in process

In addition to the disclosures made in Note 1, at the end of 2018 certain court proceedings and claims
were in process against the Group entities arising from the ordinary course of their operations (see Note
23).

Own equity instruments
Own equity instruments are those meeting both of the following conditions:

- The instruments do not include any contractual obligation for the issuer: (i) to deliver cash or another
financial asset to a third party; or (ii) to exchange financial assets or financial liabilities with a third party
under conditions that are potentially unfavourable to the issuer.
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- The instruments will or may be settled in the issuer's own equity instruments and are: (i) a non-
derivative that includes no contractual obligation for the issuer to deliver a variable number of its own
equity instruments; or (ii) a derivative that will be settled by the issuer through the exchange of a fixed
amount of cash or another financial asset for a fixed number of its own equity instruments.

Transactions involving own equity instruments, including their issuance and cancellation, are charged
directly to equity.

Changes in the value of instruments classified as own equity instruments are not recognised in the
consolidated financial statements. Consideration received or paid in exchange for such instruments,
including the coupons on preference shares contingently convertible into ordinary shares, is directly added
to or deducted from equity.

Equity-instrument-based employee remuneration

Own equity instruments delivered to employees in consideration for their services, if the instruments are
delivered once the specific period of service has ended, are recognised as an expense for services (with
the corresponding increase in equity) as the services are rendered by employees during the service
period. At the grant date the services received (and the related increase in equity) are measured at the fair
value of the equity instruments granted. If the equity instruments granted are vested immediately, the Bank
recognises in full, at the grant date, the expense for the services received.

When the requirements stipulated in the remuneration agreement include external market conditions (such
as equity instruments reaching a certain quoted price), the amount ultimately to be recognised in equity will
depend on the other conditions being met by the employees (normally length of service requirements),
irrespective of whether the market conditions are satisfied. If the conditions of the agreement are met but
the external market conditions are not satisfied, the amounts previously recognised in equity are not
reversed, even if the employees do not exercise their right to receive the equity instruments.

Recognition of income and expenses

The most significant criteria used by the Bank to recognise income and expenses are summarised as
follows:

i. Interest income, interest expenses and similar items

Interest income, interest expenses and similar items are generally recognised on an accrual basis using
the effective interest method. Dividends received from other companies are recognised as income when
the Bank's right to receive them arises.

However, the recognition of accrued interest in the income statement is suspended for debt instruments
individually classified as impaired and for the instruments for which impairment losses have been
assessed collectively because they have payments more than 90 days past due. Any interest that may
have been recognised in the income statement before the corresponding debt instruments were classified
as impaired, and that had not been collected at the date of that classification, is considered when
determining the allowance for loan losses; accordingly, if subsequently collected, the reversal of the
related impairment losses on this interest is recognised. Interest whose recognition in the income
statement has been suspended is accounted for as interest income, when collected, on a cash basis.

ii. Commissions, fees and similar items

Fee and commission income and expenses are recognised in the income statement using criteria that vary
according to their nature. The main criteria are as follows:

- Fee and commission income and expenses relating to financial assets and financial liabilities
measured at fair value through profit or loss are recognised when paid.

- Those arising from transactions or services that are performed over a period of time are recognised
over the life of these transactions or services.
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t)

- Those relating to services provided in a single act are recognised when the single act is carried out.
iii. Non-finance income and expenses

They are recognised for accounting purposes when the good is delivered or the non-financial service is
rendered. To determine the amount and timing of recognition, a five-step model is followed: identification of
the contract with the customer, identification of the separate obligations of the contract, determination of
the transaction price, distribution of the transaction price among the identified obligations and finally
recording of income as the obligations are satisfied.

iv. Deferred collections and payments

These are recognised for accounting purposes at the amount resulting from discounting the expected cash
flows at market rates.

v. Loan arrangement fees

Loan arrangement fees, mainly loan origination, application and information fees, are accrued and
recognised in income over the term of the loan.

Financial guarantees

Financial guarantees are defined as contracts whereby an entity undertakes to make specific payments on
behalf of a third party if the latter fails to do so, irrespective of the various legal forms they may have, such
as guarantees, insurance policies or credit derivatives.

The Bank initially recognises the financial guarantees provided on the liability side of the consolidated
balance sheet at fair value, which is generally the present value of the fees, commissions and interest
receivable from these contracts over the term thereof, and simultaneously the Bank recognises the amount
of the fees, commissions and similar interest received at the inception of the transactions and a credit on
the asset side of the consolidated balance sheet for the present value of the fees, commissions and
interest outstanding.

Financial guarantees, regardless of the guarantor, instrumentation or other circumstances, are reviewed
periodically so as to determine the credit risk to which they are exposed and, if appropriate, to consider
whether a provision is required. The credit risk is determined by application of criteria similar to those
established for quantifying impairment losses on debt instruments carried at amortised cost (described in
Note 2.g above).

The provisions made for these transactions are recognised under Provisions - Provisions for contingent
liabilities and commitments and guarantees given in the balance sheet (See note 23). These provisions are
recognised and reversed with a charge or credit, respectively, to Provisions (net) in the income statement.

If a specific provision is required for financial guarantees, the related unearned commissions recognised
under Financial liabilities at amortised cost - Other financial liabilities in the consolidated balance sheet are
reclassified to the appropriate provision.

Post-employment benefits

Under the collective agreements currently in force and other arrangements, the Bank has undertaken to
supplement the public social security system benefits accruing to certain employees, and to their
beneficiary right holders, for retirement, permanent disability or death, and the post-employment welfare
benefits.

The Bank's post-employment obligations to its employees are deemed to be defined contribution plans
when the Group makes pre-determined contributions (recognised under Staff costs in the consolidated
income statement) to a separate entity and will have no legal or effective obligation to make further
contributions if the separate entity cannot pay the employee benefits relating to the service rendered in the
current and prior periods. Post-employment obligations that do not meet the aforementioned conditions are
classified as defined benefit plans (see Note 23).

60



& Santander

Defined contribution plans

The contributions made in this connection in each year are recognised under Staff costs in the
consolidated income statement. The amounts not yet contributed at each year-end are recognised, at their
present value, under Provisions - Provision for pensions and similar obligations on the liability side of the
consolidated balance sheet.

Defined benefit plans

The Bank recognises under Provisions - Provision for pensions and similar obligations on the liability side
of the consolidated balance sheet (or under Other assets on the asset side, as appropriate) the present
value of its defined benefit post-employment obligations, net of the fair value of the plan assets.

Plan assets are defined as those that will be directly used to settle obligations and that meet the following
conditions:

- They are not owned by the Bank, but by a legally separate third party that is not a party related to the
Bank.

- They are only available to pay or fund post-employment benefits and they cannot be returned to the
consolidated entities unless the assets remaining in the plan are sufficient to meet all the benefit
obligations of the plan and of the entity to current and former employees, or they are returned to
reimburse employee benefits already paid by the Bank.

If the Bank can look to an insurer to pay part or all of the expenditure required to settle a defined benefit
obligation, and it is practically certain that said insurer will reimburse some or all of the expenditure
required to settle that obligation, but the insurance policy does not qualify as a plan asset, the Group
recognises its right to reimbursement -which, in all other respects, is treated as a plan asset- under
Insurance contracts linked to pensions on the asset side of the consolidated balance sheet.

Post-employment benefits are recognised as follows:

- Current service cost, (the increase in the present value of the obligations resulting from employee service
in the current period), is recognised under Staff costs.

- The past service cost, which arises from changes to existing post-employment benefits or from the
introduction of new benefits and includes the cost of reductions, is recognised under Provisions or
reversal of provisions.

- Any gain or loss arising from a liquidation of the plan is included in the provisions or reversion of
provisions.

- Net interest on the net defined benefit liability (asset), i.e. the change during the period in the net
defined benefit liability (asset) that arises from the passage of time, is recognised under Interest
expense and similar charges (Interest and similar income if it constitutes income) in the income
statement.

The premeasurement of the net defined benefit liability (asset) is recognised under Other comprehensive
income under items not reclassified to profit or loss and includes:

- Actuarial gains and losses generated in the year, arising from the differences between the previous
actuarial assumptions and what has actually occurred and from the effects of changes in actuarial
assumptions.

- The return on plan assets, excluding amounts included in net interest on the net defined benefit
liability (asset).

- Any change in the effect of the asset ceiling, excluding amounts included in net interest on the net
defined benefit liability (asset).
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X)

Other long-term employee benefits

Other long-term employee benefits, defined as obligations to pre-retirees -taken to be those who have
ceased to render services at the entity but who, without being legally retired, continue to have economic
rights vis-a-vis the entity until they acquire the legal status of retiree-, long-service bonuses, obligations for
death of spouse or disability before retirement that depend on the employee's length of service at the entity
and other similar items, are treated for accounting purposes, where applicable, as established above for
defined benefit post-employment plans, except that actuarial gains and losses are recognised under
Provisions or reversal of provisions, net, in the income statement (see Note 23).

Termination benefits

Termination benefits are recognised when there is a detailed formal plan identifying the basic changes to
be made, provided that implementation of the plan has begun, its main features have been publicly
announced or objective facts concerning its implementation have been disclosed.

Income tax

The income tax expense is recognised in the income statement, except when it results from a transaction
recognised directly in equity, in which case the related tax effect is also recognised in equity.

The current income tax expense is calculated as the sum of the current tax resulting from application of the
appropriate tax rate to the taxable profit for the year (net of any deductions allowable for tax purposes),
and of the changes in deferred tax assets and liabilities recognised in the income statement.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities include temporary differences, which are identified as the amounts
expected to be payable or recoverable on differences between the carrying amounts of assets and
liabilities and their related tax bases, and tax loss and tax credit carryforwards. These amounts are
measured at the tax rates that are expected to apply in the period when the asset is realised or the liability
is settled.

The Tax assets includes the amount of all tax assets, which are broken down into current -amounts of tax
to be recovered within the next twelve months- and deferred -amounts of tax to be recovered in future
years, including those arising from tax loss or tax credit carryforwards.

Tax liabilities includes the amount of all tax liabilities (except provisions for taxes), which are broken down
into current -the amount payable in respect of the income tax on the taxable profit for the year and other
taxes in the next twelve months- and deferred -the amount of income tax payable in future years.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised in respect of taxable temporary differences associated with
investments in subsidiaries, associates or joint ventures, except when the Bank is able to control the timing
of the reversal of the temporary difference and, in addition, it is probable that the temporary difference will
not reverse in the foreseeable future.

Deferred tax assets are only recognised for temporary differences to the extent that it is considered
probable that the consolidated entities will have sufficient future taxable profits against which the deferred
tax assets can be utilised, and the deferred tax assets do not arise from the initial recognition (except in a
business combination) of other assets and liabilities in a transaction that affects neither taxable profit nor
accounting profit. Other deferred tax assets (tax loss and tax credit carryforwards) are only recognised if it
is considered probable it will have sufficient future taxable profits against which they can be utilised.

Income and expenses recognised directly in equity are accounted for as temporary differences.

The deferred tax assets and liabilities are reassessed at the reporting date in order to ascertain whether
any adjustments need to be made on the basis of the findings of the analyses performed (see Note 24).
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y) Residual maturity periods and average interest rates

The analysis of the maturities of the balances of certain items in the balance sheet and the average
interest rates at the end of the reporting periods is provided in Note 48.

z) Statement of recognized income and expenses

This statement presents the income and expenses generated by the Bank as a result of its business
activity in the year, and a distinction is made between the income and expenses recognised in the income
statement for the year and the other income and expenses recognised directly in equity.

Accordingly, this statement presents:
a. Profit for the year.

b. The net amount of the income and expenses recognised in Other comprehensive income under items
that will not be reclassified to profit or loss.

c. The net amount of the income and expenses recognised in Other comprehensive income under items
that may be reclassified subsequently to profit or loss.

d. The income tax incurred in respect of the items indicated in b) and c) above, except for the valuation
adjustments arising from investments in associates or joint ventures accounted for using the equity
method, which are presented net.

e. Total recognised income and expense, calculated as the sum of a) to d) above.

The amount of the income and expenses relating to entities accounted for using the equity method
recognised directly in equity is presented in this statement, irrespective of the nature of the related items,
under Entities accounted for using the equity method.

The statement presents the items separately by nature, grouping together items that, in accordance with
the applicable accounting standards, will not be reclassified subsequently to profit and loss since the
requirements established by the corresponding accounting standards are met.

aa) Statement of changes in total equity

This statement presents all the changes in equity, including those arising from changes in accounting
policies and from the correction of errors. Accordingly, this statement presents a reconciliation of the
carrying amount at the beginning and end of the year of all the equity items, and the changes are grouped
together on the basis of their nature into the following items:

a. Adjustments due to changes in accounting policies and to errors: include the changes in equity arising
as a result of the retrospective restatement of the balances in the financial statements, distinguishing
between those resulting from changes in accounting policies and those relating to the correction of
errors.

b. Income and expense recognised in the year: includes, in aggregate form, the total of the
aforementioned items recognised in the consolidated statement of recognised income and expense.

c. Other changes in equity: includes the remaining items recognised in equity, including, inter alia,
increases and decreases in capital, distribution of profit, transactions involving own equity instruments,
equity-instrument-based payments, transfers between equity items and any other increases or
decreases in equity.
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ab)Statements of cash flows

The following terms are used in the statements of cash flows with the meanings specified:

- Cash flows: inflows and outflows of cash and cash equivalents, which are short-term, highly liquid
investments that are subject to an insignificant risk of changes in value, irrespective of the portfolio in
which they are classified.

The Bank classifies as cash and cash equivalents the balances recognised under Cash, cash balances
at Central Banks and other deposits on demand in the consolidated balance sheet.

- Operating activities: the principal revenue-producing activities of credit institutions and other activities
that are not investing or financing activities.

- Investing activities: the acquisition and disposal of long-term assets and other investments not included
in cash and cash equivalents.

- Financing activities: activities that result in changes in the size and composition of the equity and
liabilities that are not operating activities.

In fiscal year 2018, the Bank has charged interest in the amount of EUR 6,989 million and paid interest in
the amount of EUR 4,886 million.

Likewise, the dividends received and paid by the Bank are detailed in Notes 4 and 26.

3. Santander Group

a)

b)

Banco Santander, S.A. and international Group structure.

The growth of the Group in the last decades has led the Bank to also act, in practice, as a holding entity of
the shares of the various companies in its Group, and its results are becoming progressively less
representative of the performance and earnings of the Group. Therefore, each year the Bank determines
the amount of the dividends to be distributed to its shareholders on the basis of the consolidated net profit,
while maintaining the Group's traditionally high level of capitalisation and taking into account that the
transactions of the Bank and of the rest of the Group are managed on a consolidated basis
(notwithstanding the allocation to each company of the related net worth effect).

At the international level, the various banks and other subsidiaries, joint ventures and associates of the
Group are integrated in a corporate structure comprising various holding companies which are the ultimate
shareholders of the banks and subsidiaries abroad.

The purpose of this structure, all of which is controlled by the Bank, is to optimise the international
organisation from the strategic, economic, financial and tax standpoints, since it makes it possible to define
the most appropriate units to be entrusted with acquiring, selling or holding stakes in other international
entities, the most appropriate financing method for these transactions and the most appropriate means of
remitting the profits obtained by the Group's various operating units to Spain.

The Appendices provide relevant data on the consolidated Group companies and on the companies
accounted for using the equity method.

Acquisitions and disposals

Following is a summary of the main acquisitions and disposals of ownership interests in the share capital
of other entities and other significant corporate transactions performed by the Bank in the last two years:
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i- Sale of the 49% stake in Wizink

Once the relevant regulatory authorizations had been obtained, on 6 November 2018 the operations
related to the agreement reached with entities managed by Varde Partners, Inc (“Varde) and with WiZink
Bank, S.A. (“WiZink”) communicated by the Group on 26 March 2018 by virtue of which:

i. Banco Santander, S.A. sold its 49% stake in WizZink to Varde for EUR 1,043 million, with no significant
impact on the Bank's results.

ii. Banco Santander, S.A. and Banco Santander Totta, S.A. acquired the business of credit and debit cards
marketed by Grupo Banco Popular in Spain and Portugal that WiZink had acquired in 2014 and 2016. As a
result of this transaction, the Bank paid a total of EUR 681 million, receiving net assets worth EUR 306
million (mainly customer loans worth EUR 315 million), with the business combination generating a
goodwill of EUR 375 million, which will be managed by the businesses in Spain.

With these transactions, the Bank resumed Grupo Banco Popular's debit and credit card business, which
improves the commercial strategy and facilitates Grupo Banco Popular's integration process.

ii. Acquisition of Banco Popular Espafiol, S.A.U.

On 7 June 2017 (the acquisition date), as part of its growth strategy in the markets where it is present, the
Group communicated the acquisition of 100% of the share capital of Banco Popular Espafiol, S.A.U.
(merged with Banco Santander, see Note 3.b)v) as a result of a competitive sale process organised in the
framework of a resolution scheme adopted by the Single Resolution Board (“SRB”) and executed by the
FROB, Spanish single resolution board, in accordance with Regulation (EU) 806/2014 of the European
Parliament and of the Council of 15 May 2014, and Law 11/2015, of June 18, for the recovery and
resolution of credit institutions and investment firms.

As part of the execution of the resolution:

- All the shares of Banco Popular outstanding at the closing of market on 7 June 2017 and all the shares
resulting from the conversion of the regulatory capital instruments Additional Tier 1 issued by Banco
Popular have been converted into undisposed reserves.

- All the regulatory capital instruments Tier 2 issued by Banco Popular have been converted into newly
issued shares of Banco Popular, all of which have been acquired for a total consideration of one euro
by the Group.

The transaction was approved by all the applicable regulatory and antitrust authorities in the territories
where Banco Popular operated.

The accounting balance for which the Bank had recorded the 100% interest in Banco Popular Espafiol,
S.A. as of December 31, 2017, it is detailed in Note 13b).
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In accordance with IFRS3, the Group measured the identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed at
fair value. The detail of this fair value of the identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed at the
business combination date was as follows:

As of 7 June 2017 Million
of euros
Cash and balances with central banks 1,861
Financial assets available-for-sale 18,974
Deposits from credit institutions 2,971
Loans and receivables (*) 82,057
Investments 1,815
Intangible assets (*) 133
Tax assets (*) 3,945
Non-current assets held for sale (*) 6,531
Other assets 6,259
Total assets 124,546
Deposits from central banks 28,845
Deposits from credit institutions 14,094
Customer deposits 62,270
Marketable debt securities and other financial liabilities 12,919
Provisions (*+*) 1,816
Other liabilities 4,850
Total liabilities (*+) 124,794
Net assets (248)
Purchase consideration -
Goodwill 248

*) The main fair value adjustments were the following:
- Loans and receivables: in the estimation of their fair value, impairment have been considered for an approximate amount
of EUR 3,239 million, considering, among others, the sale process carried out by the Bank.

- Foreclosed assets: the valuation, considering the sale process carried out by the company, has meant a reduction in the
value of EUR 3,806 million, approximately.
- Intangible assets: includes value reductions amounting to approximately of EUR 2,469 million, mainly recorded under the
“Intangible assets - goodwill”.
- Deferred tax assets: mainly corresponds to the reduction of the value of negative tax bases and deductions for an
approximate amount of EUR 1,711 million.
(**)  After the initial analysis and the conversion of the subordinated debt, the best estimation is there is no significant impact
between fair value and previous carrying amount of the financial liabilities.
(***) As a result of the resolution of Banco Popular, it includes the estimated cost of EUR 680 million relating to the potential
compensation to the shareholders of Banco Popular of which EUR 535 million have been applied to the fidelity action.

The Bank during 2018, closed their assessment exercise of the assets acquired and liabilities assumed at
fair value, without any modification with respect to what was recorded in 2017.

iii. Sale agreement of Banco Popular’s real estate business

In relation with Banco Popular's real estate business, on 8 August 2017, the Group announced the
agreement with a Blackstone fund for the acquisition by the fund of 51% of, and hence the assignment of
control over, part of Banco Popular's real estate business (the “Business”), which comprises a portfolio of
foreclosed properties, real estate companies, non-performing loans relating to the sector and other assets
related to these activities owned by Banco Popular and its affiliates (including deferred tax assets allocated
to specific real estate companies which are part of the transferred portfolio) registered on certain specified
dates (31 March 2017 or 30 April 2017).(See Note 12).

The agreements were entered following the European Commission’s unconditional authorization of the
acquisition of Banco Popular Espafiol S.A.U. by Banco Santander, S.A. for the purposes of competition
law.
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The transaction closed on 22 March 2018 following receipt of the required regulatory authorizations and
other usual conditions in this type of transactions. The transaction has consisted of the creation of various
companies, being the parent company Project Quasar Investments 2017, S.L., in which Banco Santander,
S.A. maintains 49% of the share capital and Blackstone the remaining 51%, and to which Banco Popular
and some subsidiaries has transferred the business constituted by the indicated assets, and its
participation in the capital of Aliseda Real Estate Management Services, S.L. The value attributed to the
contributed assets is approximately 10,000 million euros (see Note 12), of which approximately 70% was
financed with third party bank debt. After the contribution to the vehicle by its shareholders of the
necessary liquidity for the transaction of the business, the 49% stake in the capital of the vehicles was
recorded in the consolidated balance sheet of the Bank for EUR 1,701 million in the "Investments in joint
ventures and associates - entities” section (See Note 13.a) ii.)., without significant impact in the Bank’s
income statement.

iv. Merger by absorption of Banco Santander, S.A. with Banco Popular Espafiol, S.A.U.

On 23 April 2018 the boards of directors of Banco Santander, S.A. and Banco Popular Espafiol, S.A.U.
agreed to approve and sign the merger project by absorption of Banco Popular Espafiol, S.A.U. by Banco
Santander, S.A.

On 28 September 2018 the merger certificate of Banco Popular Espafiol, S.A.U. by Banco Santander, S.A.
was registered in the Mercantile Registry of Cantabria. After the merger, Banco Santander, S.A. has
acquired, by universal succession, all the rights and obligations of Banco Popular Espafiol, S.A.U.,
including those that have been acquired from Banco Pastor, S.A.U. and Popular Banca Privada, S.A.U., by
virtue of the merger of Banco Pastor, S.A.U. and Popular Banca Privada, S.A.U. with Banco Popular
Espafiol, S.A.U. that was also approved on 23 April 2018 by the respective board of directors (See Note 1.
i).

c) Off-shore entities

According to current Spanish regulation, Santander has entities in 4 off-shore territories: Jersey, Guernsey,
Isle of Man and Cayman Islands. These four jurisdictions comply with OECD standards in terms of
transparency and exchange of information for tax purposes. Santander have 4 subsidiaries and 4
operative branches in off-shore territories: these are governed by the tax regimes of those territories.
Santander also has 4 subsidiaries in off-shore territories, of which 3 are tax resident in the UK and 1 tax
resident in Spain, to whose tax regimes they are subjected. The Group has no presence in any of the 5
territories included in the European Union’s current blacklist according to the last update of November
2018, neither in non-cooperative territories for tax purposes as defined by the OECD in July 2017.

1) Subsidiaries in off-shore territories.

At the reporting date, the Group has 4 subsidiaries resident in off-shore territories, two in Jersey,
Whitewick Limited (inactive company) and Abbey National International Limited, and one in the Isle of
Man, ALIL Services Limited. These subsidiaries contributed a profit of approximately EUR 0.2 million to the
Group’s consolidated profit in 2018. In addition, during 2018, a new company domiciled in Jersey was
created, named Santander International Limited, subsidiary of Santander UK Group Holdings plc, in order
to make possible the separation of business imposed by the banking reform in the United Kingdom ("Ring-
fence") that came into force on January 1, 2019, although this company will be liquidated in the near
future.

Il) Off-shore branches.

Also, the Group has 4 operative off-shore branches: 2 in the Cayman Islands, 1 in the Isle of Man and 1 in
Jersey. These branches report to, consolidate their balance sheets and income statements and are taxed
with, their respective foreign headquarters (Cayman Islands) or in the territories where they are located
(Jersey and Isle of Man). Additionally, as a result of comply with the Ring-Fence regulation in the UK
mentioned in the previous point, there is another branch in Jersey of Santander UK plc, which is currently
not operative and will be closed in early 2019.

The aforementioned entities have a total of 144 employees as of December 2018.
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IIl) Subsidiaries in off-shore territories that are tax resident in the UK and Spain.

As indicated, the Group also has 4 subsidiaries constituted in off-shore territories that are not considered
to be off-shore entities, since 3 of them are tax residents in the UK and, therefore, subject to UK tax law
during the period and operate exclusively from the UK (one of these subsidiaries is expected to be
liquidated in 2019). Also, since April 2018, the fourth subsidiary has ceased to be a resident for tax
purposes in the UK to become a tax resident in Spain.

IV) Other off-shore investments.

The Group manages from Brazil a segregated portfolio company called Santander Brazil Global
Investment Fund SPC in the Cayman Islands, and manages from the United Kingdom a protected cell
company in Guernsey called Guaranteed Investment Products 1 PCC Limited. The Group also has,
directly or indirectly, few financial investments located in tax havens including Olivant Limited in Guernsey,
entity whose liquidation or sale is expected to be carried out soon.

V) OECD.

The Group has no presence in non-cooperative territories for tax purposes as defined by the OECD in July
2017. In this sense it should be noted that Jersey, Guernsey, Isle of Man and Cayman Islands, comply with
OECD standards in terms of transparency and exchange of information for tax purposes.

VI) The European Union.

On 5 December, 2017, the European Commission published some lists of non-cooperative jurisdictions for
tax purposes (where there is no member state of the European Union): blacklist, gray list and territories
which have received a grace period. Throughout 2018, the European Commission has updated these lists.

Currently the EU blacklist is composed of 5 jurisdictions in which the Group has no presence. These
jurisdictions have not committed, or have not done it sufficiently, to comply with a series of measures in
relation to fiscal transparency, corporate tax, or the respect of the principles of the OECD to avoid the
erosion of the tax bases and the transfer of benefits (better known by the English term anti-BEPS).

On the contrary there are 63 jurisdictions in the gray list that have committed, in a way considered
sufficient, to correct their legal frameworks to align them with international standards and whose
implementation will be monitored by the EU. Among others, this list includes the 4 jurisdictions in which the
Group has presence and are off-shore territories in accordance with current Spanish legislation (Jersey,
Guernsey, Isle of Man and Cayman Islands). Additionally, Hong Kong, Bahamas, Switzerland, Uruguay
and Panama are included in the gray list, although according to the current Spanish legislation are not off-
shore territories and, as disclosed before, have committed to modify their legislation, as for example
implementing the Common Reporting Standards (CRS), developed by the OECD, as an automatic
information exchange system between jurisdictions.

The Group has 2 subsidiaries and 1 branch located in Hong Kong, 6 subsidiaries (1 of them in liquidation
and 1 tax resident in the USA) and 2 branches in Bahamas (1 of them in process of closure), 6
subsidiaries in Switzerland, 12 subsidiaries in Uruguay (6 of which are in liquidation) and 1 subsidiary in
Panama with reduced activity that has already received authorization from the Superintendency of Banks
of Panama for its voluntary liquidation.

At present, Spain has in force Double Taxation Agreements with exchange of information clause with Hong
Kong, Switzerland, Uruguay and Panama, as well as Tax Information Exchange Agreement with Bahamas.

VII) Impact of forthcoming changes to Spain’s tax law.

On October 23, 2018, the Spanish Government published the Draft Law on measures to prevent and fight
against tax fraud, which expands the concept of tax haven, including not only the countries and territories
that were already considered as such, but also other tax regimes that are determined as harmful in a
regulatory manner. In addition, new criteria are regulated for inclusion in the list of tax havens. As long as
the list of countries and territories and harmful tax regimes that are considered tax havens are not
determined by regulation, the former list of tax havens established in Royal Decree 1080/1991, of 5th July,
will continue in force.
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The Group has established appropriate procedures and controls (risk management, supervision,
verification and review plans and periodic reports) to prevent reputational, tax and legal risk at these
entities. Also, the Group has continued to implement its policy of reducing the number of these off-shore

units.

The financial statements of the Group’s off-shore units are audited by PwC (PricewaterhouseCoopers)

member firms in 2018 and 2017.

d) Group consolidated balance sheet, income statement, statement of recognised income and

expenses, statement of changes in total equity and cash-flow statement

The Group's consolidated balance sheets at December 31, 2018 and 2017 and the consolidated income statements,
consolidated statements of recognised income and expense, consolidated statements of changes in total equity and

consolidated statements of cash flows for the years then ended are as follows:

Santander Group — Consolidated balance sheets — (millions of euros)

ASSETS 2018 2017 ()
CASH, CASH BALANCES AT CENTRAL BANKS AND OTHER DEPOSITS ON DEMAND 113,663 110,995
FINANCIAL ASSETS HELD FOR TRADING 92,879 125,458
Derivatives 55,939 57,243
Equity instruments 8,938 21,353
Debt instruments 27,800 36,351
Loans and advances 202 10,511
Central banks - -
Credit institutions - 1,696
Customers 202 8,815
Memorandum items: lent or delivered as guarantee with disposal or pledge rights 23,495 50,891
NON-TRADING FINANCIAL ASSETS MANDATORILY AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH PROFIT OR LOSS 10,730
Equity instruments 3,260
Debt instruments 5,587
Loans and advances 1,883
Central banks -
Credit institutions 2
Customers 1,881
Memorandum items: lent or delivered as guarantee with disposal or pledge rights -
FINANCIAL ASSETS DESIGNATED AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH PROFIT OR LOSS 57,460 34,782
Equity instruments 933
Debt instruments 3,222 3,485
Loans and advances 54,238 30,364
Central banks 9,226 -
Credit institutions 23,097 9,889
Customers 21,915 20,475
Memorandum items: lent or delivered as guarantee with disposal or pledge rights 6,477 5,766
FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME 121,091
Equity instruments 2,671
Debt instruments 116,819
Loans and advances 1,601
Central banks -
Credit institutions -
Customers 1,601
Memorandum items: lent or delivered as guarantee with disposal or pledge rights 35,558
FINANCIAL ASSETS AVAILABLE-FOR-SALE 133,271
Equity instruments 4,790
Debt instruments 128,481
Memorandum items: lent or delivered as guarantee with disposal or pledge rights 43,079
FINANCIAL ASSETS AT AMORTISED COST 946,099
Debt instruments 37,696
Loans and advances 908,403
Central banks 15,601
Credit institutions 35,480
Customers 857,322
Memorandum items: lent or delivered as guarantee with disposal or pledge rights 18,271
LOANS AND RECEIVABLES 903,013
Debt instruments 17,543
Loans and advances 885,470
Central banks 26,278
Credit institutions 39,567
Customers 819,625
Memorandum items: lent or delivered as guarantee with disposal or pledge rights 8,147
INVESTMENTS HELD-TO-MATURITY 13,491
Memorandum items: lent or delivered as guarantee with disposal or pledge rights 6,996
HEDGING DERIVATIVES 8,607 8,537
CHANGES IN THE FAIR VALUE OF HEDGED ITEMS IN PORTFOLIO HEDGES OF INTEREST RISK 1,088 1,287
INVESTMENTS 7,588 6,184
Joint ventures entities 979 1,987
Associated entities 6,609 4,197
ASSETS UNDER INSURANCE OR REINSURANCE CONTRACTS 324 341
TANGIBLE ASSETS 26,157 22,974
Property, plant and equipment 24,594 20,650
For own-use 8,150 8,279
Leased out under an operating lease 16,444 12,371
Investment property 1,563 2,324
Of which leased out under an operating lease 1,195 1,332
Memorandum items:acquired in lease 98 96
INTANGIBLE ASSETS 28,560 28,683
Goodwill 25,466 25,769
Other intangible assets 3,094 2914
TAX ASSETS 30,251 30,243
Current tax assets 6,993 7,033
Deferred tax assets 23,258 23,210
OTHER ASSETS 9,348 9,766
Insurance contracts linked to pensions 210 239
Inventories 147 1,964
Other 8,991 7,563
NON-CURRENT ASSETS HELD FOR SALE 5,426 15,280
TOTAL ASSETS 1,459,271 1,444,305

(*) Presented for comparison purposes only
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Santander Group — Consolidated balance sheet statement (millions of euros)

LIABILITIES 2018 2017 (%)

FINANCIAL LIABILITIES HELD FOR TRADING 70,343 107,624
Derivatives 55,341 57,892
Short positions 15,002 20,979
Deposits - 28,753
Central banks - 282
Credit institutions - 292
Customers - 28,179
Marketable debt securities - -
Other financial liabilities -

FINANCIAL LIABILITIES DESIGNATED AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH PROFIT OR LOSS 68,058 59,616
Deposits 65,304 55,971
Central banks 14,816 8,860
Credit institutions 10,891 18,166
Customers 39,597 28,945
Marketable debt securities 2,305 3,056
Other financial liabilities 449 589

Memorandum items:subordinated liabilities -

FINANCIAL LIABILITIES AT AMORTISED COST 1,171,630 1,126,069
Deposits 903,101 883,320
Central banks 72,523 71,414
Credit institutions 89,679 91,300
Customers 740,899 720,606
Marketable debt securiti 244,314 214910
Other financial liabi S 24,215 27,839

Memorandum items:subordinated liabilities 23,820 21,510

HEDGING DERIVATIVES 6,363 8,044

CHANGES IN THE FAIR VALUE OF HEDGED ITEMS IN PORTFOLIO HEDGES OF INTEREST RATE RISK 303 330

LIABILITIES UNDER INSURANCE OR REINSURANCE CONTRACTS 765 1117

PROVISIONS 13,225 14,489
Pensions and other post-retirement obligations 5,558 6,345
Other long term employee benefits 1,239 1,686
Taxes and other legal contingencies 3,174 3,181
Contingent liabilities and commitments 779 617
Other provisions 2,475 2,660

TAX LIABILITIES 8,135 7,592
Current tax liabilities 2,567 2,755
Deferred tax liabilities 5,568 4,837

OTHER LIABILITIES 13,088 12,591

LIABILITIES ASSOCIATED WITH NON-CURRENT ASSETS HELD FOR SALE - -

TOTAL LIABILITIES 1,351,910 1,337,472

SHAREHOLDERS” EQUITY 118,613 116,265

CAPITAL 8,118 8,068
Called up paid capital 8,118 8,068
Unpaid capital which has been called up - -
Memorandum items: uncalled up capital - -

SHARE PREMIUM 50,993 51,053

EQUITY INSTRUMENTS ISSUED OTHER THAN CAPITAL 565 525
Equity of the financial il - -
Other equity instruments issued 565 525

OTHER EQUITY 234 216

ACCUMULATED RETAINED EARNINGS 56,756 53,437

REVALUATION RESERVES - -

OTHER RESERVES (3.567) (1,602)
Reserves or accumulated losses in joint ventures investments 917 724
Others (4,484) (2,326)

(-) OWN SHARES (59) (22)

PROFIT ATTRIBUTABLE TO SHAREHOLDERS OF THE PARENT 7,810 6,619

() INTERIM DIVIDENDS (2,237) (2,029)

OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME (22,141) (21,776)
ITEMS NOT RECLASSIFIED TO PROFIT OR LOSS (2,936) (4,034)
ITEMS THAT MAY BE RECLASSIFIED TO PROFIT OR LOSS (19,205) (17,742)

NON-CONTROLLING INTEREST 10,889 12,344

Other comprehensive income (1,292) (1,436)

Other items 12,181 13,780

EQUITY (*) 107,361 106,833
TOTAL LIABILITIES AND EQUITY 1,459,271 1,444,305

MEMORANDUM ITEMS: OFF BALANCE SHEET AMOUNTS
Loans commitment granted 218,083 207,671
Financial guarantees granted 11,723 14,499

Other commitments granted 74,389 64,917

(*) Presented for comparison purposes only.
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Santander Group — Consolidated statement of income (millions of euros)

(Debit) Credit
2018 2017 (*)

Interest income 54,325 56,041
Financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income 4,481 4,384
Financial assets at amortized cost 47,560 49,096
Other interest income 2,284 2,561
Interest expense (19,984) (21,745)
Interest income / (charges) 34,341 34,296
Dividend income 370 384
Income from companies accounted for using the equity method 737 704
Commission income 14,664 14,579
Commission expense (3,179) (2,982)
Gain or losses on financial assets and liabilities not measured at fair value through profit or loss, net 604 404
Financial assets at amortized cost 39
Other financial assets and liabilities 565
Gain or losses on financial assets and liabilities held for trading, net 1,515 1,252
Reclassification of financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income -
Reclassification of financial assets at amortized cost -
Other gains (losses) 1,515
Gains or losses on non-trading financial assets and liabilities mandatorily at fair value through profit or loss 331
Reclassification of financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income -
Reclassification of financial assets at amortized cost -
Other gains (losses) 331
Gain or losses on financial assets and liabilities measured at fair value through profit or loss, net (57) (85)
Gain or losses from hedge accounting, net 83 (11)
Exchange differences, net (679) 105
Other operating income 1,643 1,618
Other operating expenses (2,000) (1,966)
Income from assets under insurance and reinsurance contracts 3,175 2,546
Expenses from liabilities under insurance and reinsurance contracts (3.124) (2,489)
Total income 48,424 48,355
Administrative expenses (20,354) (20,400)
Staff costs (11,865) (12,047)
Other general administrative expenses (8,489) (8,353)
Depreciation and amortisation cost (2,425) (2,593)
Provisions or reversal of provisions, net (2,223) (3,058)
Impairment or reversal of impairment at financial assets not measured at fair value through profit or loss and net gains and

losses from changes (8,986) (9,259)
Financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income 1)

Financial assets at amortized cost (8,985)

Financial assets measured at cost 8)
Financial assets available-for-sale (10)
Loans and receivables (9,241)
Held-to-maturity investments -
Impairment or reversal of impairment of investments in subsidiaries, joint ventures and associates, net 17) (13)
Impairment or reversal of impairment on non-financial assets, net (190) (1,260)
Tangible assets (83) (72)
Intangible assets (117) (1,073)
Others 10 (115)
Gain or losses on non-financial assets and investments, net 28 522
Negative goodwill recognised in results 67 -
Gains or losses on non-current assets held for sale not classified as discontinued operations (123) (203)
Operating profit/(loss) before tax 14,201 12,091
Tax expense or income from continuing operations (4,886) (3,884)
Profit from continuing operations 9,315 8,207
Profit or loss after tax from discontinued operations - -
Profit for the year 9,315 8,207
Profit attributable to non-controlling interests 1,505 1,588
Profit attributable to the parent 7,810 6,619
Earnings per share

Basic 0.449 0.404
Diluted 0.448 0.403

(*) Presented for comparison purposes only.
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Santander Group — Consolidated statements of recognised income and expense (millions of euros)

2018 2017 (*)

CONSOLIDATED PROFIT FOR THE YEAR 9,315 8,207

OTHER RECOGNISED INCOME AND EXPENSE (1,899) (7,320)

Items that will not be reclassified to profit or loss 332 (88)

Actuarial gains and losses on defined benefit pension plans 618 (157)

Non-current assets held for sale - -

Other recognised income and expense of investments in subsidiaries, joint ventures and associates 1 1

Changes in the fair value of equity instruments measured at fair value through other comprehensive income (174)

Gains or losses resulting from the accounting for hedges of equity instruments measured at fair value through other

comprehensive income, net -
Changes in the fair value of equity instruments measured at fair value through other comprehensive income (hedged item) R
Changes in the fair value of equity instruments measured at fair value through other comprehensive income (hedging

instrument) -

Changes in the fair value of financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss attributable to changes in credit risk 109

Income tax relating to items that will not be reclassified (222) 68

Items that may be reclassified to profit or loss (2,231) (7,232)

Hedges of net investments in foreign operations (effective portion) ) 614
Revaluation gains (losses) 2) 614
Amounts transferred to income statement - -
Other reclassifications - -

Exchanges differences (1,874) (8,014)
Revaluation gains (losses) (1,874) (8,014)
Amounts transferred to income statement - -
Other reclassifications - -

Cash flow hedges (effective portion) 174 (441)
Revaluation gains (losses) 491 501
Amounts transferred to income statement (317) (942)
Transferred to initial carrying amount of hedged items - -
Other reclassifications - -

Financial assets available-for-sale 683
Revaluation gains (losses) 1,137
Amounts transferred to income statement (454)
Other reclassifications -

Hedging instruments (items not designated) -

Revaluation gains (losses) -
Amounts transferred to income statement -
Other reclassifications -

Debt instruments at fair value with changes in other comprehensive income (591)
Revaluation gains (losses) (29)
Amounts transferred to income statement (562)
Other reclassifications -

Non-current assets held for sale - -
Revaluation gains (losses) - -
Amounts transferred to income statement - -
Other reclassifications - -

Share of other recognised income and expense of investments 77) (70)

Income tax relating to items that may be reclassified to profit or loss 139 4

Total recognised income and expenses for the year 7,416 887

Attributable to non-controlling interests 1,396 1,005

Attributable to the parent 6,020 (118)

(*) Presented for comparison purposes only.
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Santander Group - Consolidated statements of changes in total equity (millions of euros)

(Millions of euros)

Non-controlling interest

Profit attributable Other Other
Equity instruments | Other equity Accumulated Revaluation Other (-) Own | toshareholders of | (-) Interim | comprehensive | comprehensive
Capital | Share premium | issued (not capital) instruments retained earnings reserves reserves shares the parent dividends income income Others items Total

Balance as of 31-12-17 (*) 8,068 51,053 525 216 53,437 - (1,602) (22) 6,619 (2,029) (21,776) (1,436) 13,780 106,833
Adjustments due to errors - - - - - - - - - - - - - -
Adjustments due to changes in accounting

policies - - - - - - (1,473) - - - 1,425 253 (1,545) (1,340)
Opening balance as of 01-01-18 (*) 8,068 51,053 525 216 53,437 - (3,075) (22) 6,619 (2,029) (20,351) (1,183) 12,235 105,493
Total recognised income and expense - - - - - - - - 7,810 - (1,790) (109) 1,505 7,416
Other changes in equity 50 (60) 40 18 3,319 - (492) 37) (6,619) (208) - - (1,559) (5,548)
Issuance of ordinary shares 50 (60) - - - - 10 - - - - - - -
Issuance of preferred shares - - - - - - - - - - - - - -
Issuance of other financial instruments - - - - - - - - - - - - - -
Maturity of other financial instruments - - - - - - - - - - - - - -
Conversion of financial liabilities into equity - - - - - - - - - - - - - -
Capital reduction - - - - - - - - - - - - - -
Dividends - - - - (968) - - - - (2,237) - - (687) (3,892)
Purchase of equity instruments - - - - - - - (1,026) - - - - - (1,026)
Disposal of equity instruments - - - - - - - 989 - - - - - 989
Transfer from equity to liabilities - - - - - - - - - - - - - -
Transfer from liabilities to equity - - - - - - - - - - - - - -
Transfers between equity items - - - - 4,287 - 303 - (6,619) 2,029 - - - -
Increases (decreases) due to business

combinations - - - - - - 59 - - - - - (660) (601)
Share-based payment - - - (74) - - - - - - - - 17 (57)
Others increases or (-) decreases of the equity - - 40 92 - - (864) - - - - - (229) (961)
Balance as of 31-12-18 8,118 50,993 565 234 56,756 - (3,567) (59) 7,810 (2,237) (22,141) (1,292) 12,181 107,361

(*) Presented for comparison purposes only.
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Non-Controlling interest

Other equity Profit Attributable Other Other
instruments issued | Other e quit Accumulated Revaluation Other (-) Own | to shareholders of (-) Interim comprehensive | comprehensive
Capital | Share premium (not capital) instruments retained earnings reserves reserves shares the parent dividends income income Others items Total

Balance as at 12-31-16 (*) 7,291 44,912 - 240 49,953 (949) [w) 6,204 (1,667) (15,039) (853) 12,614 | 102,699
Adjustments due to errors - - - - - - - - - - - - -
Adjustments due to changes in accounting

policies - - - - - - - - - - - - -
Opening balance as at 01-01-17 (*) 7,291 44,912 - 240 49,953 (949) @) 6,204 (1,667) (15,039) (853) 12,614 | 102,699
Total recognised income and expense - - - - - - - 6,619 - (6,737) (583) 1,588 887
Other changes in equity 777 6,141 525 (24) 3,484 (653) (15) (6,204) (362) - - (422) | 3,247
Issuance of ordinary shares 777 6,141 - - - 6 - - - - - 543 7,467
Issuance of preferred shares - - - - - - - - - - - - -
Issuance of other financial instruments - - 525 - - - - - - - - 592 1,117
Maturity of other financial instruments - - - - - - - - - - - - -
Conversion of financial liabilities into equity - - - - - - - - - - - - -
Capital reduction - - - - - - - - - - - (10) (10)
Dividends - - - - (802) - - - (2,029) - - (665) | (3,496)
Purchase of equity instruments - - - - - - (1,309) - - - - - | (1,309)
Disposal of equity instruments - - - - - 26 1,294 - - - - - 1,320
Transfer from equity to liabilities - - - - - - - - - - - - -
Transfer from liabilities to equity - - - - - - - - - - - - -
Transfers between equity items - - - - 4,286 251 - (6,204) 1,667 - - - -
Increases (decreases) due to business

combinations - - - - - - - - - - - (39) (39)
Share-based payment - - - (72) - - - - - - - 24 (48)
Others increases or (-) decreases of the equity - - - 48 - (936) - - - - - (867) | (1,755)
Balance as at 12-31-17 (*) 8,068 51,053 525 216 53,437 (1,602) (22) 6,619 (2,029) (21,776) (1,436) 13,780 | 106,833

(*) Presented for comparison purposes only.
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Santander Group — Consolidated statements of cash flows (millions of euros)

2018 2017 (%)

A. CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES 3,416 40,188
Profit for the year 9,315 8,207
Adjustments made to obtain the cash flows from operating activities 21,714 23,927
Depreciation and amortisation cost 2,425 2,593
Other adjustments 19,289 21,334
Net increase/(decrease) in operating assets 51,550 18,349
Financial assets held-for-trading (31,656) (18,114)
Non-trading financial assets mandatorily at fair value through profit or loss 5,795

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss 16,275 3,085
Financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income (2,091)

Financial assets available-for-sale 2,494
Financial assets at amortized cost 61,345

Loans and receivables 32,379
Other operating assets 1,882 (1,495)
Net increase/(decrease) in operating liabilities 27,279 30,540
Liabilities held-for-trading financial (36,315) 1,933
Financial liabilities designated at fair value through profit or loss 8,312 19,906
Financial liabilities at amortized cost 60,730 12,006
Other operating liabilities (5,448) (3,305)
Income tax recovered/(paid) (3,342) (4,137)
B. CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES 3,148 (4,008)
Payments 12,936 10,134
Tangible assets 10,726 7,450
Intangible assets 1,469 1,538
Investments 11 8
Subsidiaries and other business units 730 838
Non-current assets held for sale and associated liabilities - -
Held-to-maturity investments 300
Other payments related to investing activities - -
Proceeds 16,084 6,126
Tangible assets 3,670 3,211
Intangible assets N -
Investments 2,327 883
Subsidiaries and other business units 431 263
Non-current assets held for sale and associated liabilities 9,656 1,382
Held-to-maturity investments 387
Other proceeds related to investing activities - -
C. CASH FLOW FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES (3,301) 4,206
Payments 7,573 7,783
Dividends 3,118 2,665
Subordinated liabilities 2,504 2,007
Redemption of own equity instruments - -
Acquisition of own equity instruments 1,026 1,309
Other payments related to financing activities 925 1,802
Proceeds 4,272 11,989
Subordinated liabilities 3,283 2,994
Issuance of own equity instruments - 7,072
Disposal of own equity instruments 989 1,331
Other proceeds related to financing activities - 592
D. EFFECT OF FOREIGN EXCHANGE RATE DIFFERENCES (595) (5,845)
E. NET INCREASE/(DECREASE) IN CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 2,668 34,541
F. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT BEGINNING OF THE YEAR 110,995 76,454
G. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT END OF THE YEAR 113,663 110,995
COMPONENTS OF CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT END OF THE YEAR

Cash 10,370 8,583
Cash equivalents at central banks 89,005 87,430
Other financial assets 14,288 14,982
Less: Bank overdrafts refundable on demand - -
TOTAL CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT END OF THE YEAR 113,663 110,995

In which: restricted cash

(*) Presented for comparison purposes only
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Distribution of the Bank's profit, shareholder remuneration scheme and earnings per share.

a)

b)

Distribution of the Bank’s profit and shareholder remuneration scheme

The distribution of the Bank's net profit for 2018 that the board of directors will propose for approval by the
shareholders at the annual general meeting is as follows:

Million
of euros
First and third interim dividends and final dividend 3,160
Acquisition, with a waiver of exercise, of bonus share rights from the
shareholders which, under the Santander Dividendo Eleccion scrip
dividend scheme, opted to receive in cash remuneration equivalent to the
second interim dividend 132
3,292
Of which:
Approved at 31 December 2018 (*) 2,237
Final dividend 1,055
To voluntary reserves 9
Net profit for the year 3,301

(*) Recognised under Shareholders' equity — Interim dividends.

In addition to the EUR 3,292 million indicated above, EUR 432 million in shares were allocated to the
remuneration of shareholders under the shareholder remuneration scheme (Santander Dividendo
Eleccion) approved by the shareholders at the annual general meeting held on 23 March 2018, whereby
the Bank offered shareholders the possibility to opt to receive an amount equivalent to the second interim
dividend out of 2018 profit in cash or new shares.

A remuneration of EUR 0.23 per share, charged to the 2018 annual period, will be proposed by the board
of directors to the shareholders at the annual general meeting.

Earnings per share from continuing and discontinued operations

i. Basic earnings per share

Basic earnings per share are calculated by dividing the net profit attributable to the Group (adjusted by the
after-tax amount of the remuneration of contingently convertible preference shares recognised in equity -
See Note 21) and the capital perpetual preference shares, if applicable, by the weighted average number

of ordinary shares outstanding during the year, excluding the average number of treasury shares held in
the year.
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Accordingly:
2018 2017

Profit attributable to the parent (million of euros) 7,810 6,619
Remuneration of contingently convertible preference shares (CCP)

(million of euros) (Note 23) (560) (395)

7,250 6,224

Of which:

Profit or Loss from discontinued operations (non controlling

interest net) (million of euros) - -

Profit or Loss from continuing operations (net of non-controlling

interests and CCP) (million of euros) 7,250 6,224
\Weighted average number of shares outstanding 16,150,090,739 15,394,458,789
IAdjusted number of shares 16,150,090,739| 15,394,458,789
Basic earnings per share (euros) 0.449 0.404
Basic earnings per share from discontinued operations (euros) 0.000 0.000
Basic earnings per share from continuing operations (euros) 0.449 0.404

ii. Diluted earnings per share

Diluted earnings per share are calculated by dividing the net profit attributable to the Group (adjusted by
the after-tax amount of the remuneration of contingently convertible preference shares recognised in - See
Note 21) and the capital perpetual preference shares, if applicable, by the weighted average number of
ordinary shares outstanding during the year, excluding the average number of treasury shares and
adjusted for all the dilutive effects inherent to potential ordinary shares (share options, and convertible debt
instruments).

Accordingly, diluted earnings per share were determined as follows:

2018 2017

Profit attributable to the parent (million of euros)
Remuneration of contingently convertible preference shares
(CCP)
(million of euros) (Note 23)

7,810 6,619

(560)
7,250

(395)
6,224

Of which:
Profit (Loss) from discontinued operations (net of non-
controlling interests) (million of euros) -
Profit from continuing operations (net of non-controlling
interests and CCP) (million of euros)

7,250 6,224

Weighted average number of shares outstanding 16,150,090,739(15,394,458,789

Dilutive effect of options/rights on shares 42,873,078 50,962,887
Adjusted number of shares 16,192,963,816 |15,445,421,676
Diluted earnings per share (euros) 0.448 0.403
Diluted earnings per share from discontinued operations

(euros) 0.000 0.000
Diluted earnings per share from continuing operations (euros) 0.448 0.403

The capital increase in 2017 (See Note 27.a) had an impact on the basic and diluted earnings per share of the
previous years due to the alteration in the number of shares outstanding. Due to this fact, the information
relating to the 2016 period has been recasted according to the applicable legislation.
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Remuneration and other benefits paid to the Bank's directors and senior managers

The following section contains qualitative and quantitative disclosures on the remuneration paid to the
members of the Board of Directors -both executive and non-executive directors- and senior managers for
2018 and 2017:

a) Remuneration of Directors

Bylaw-stipulated emoluments

The annual General Meeting held on 22 March, 2013 approved an amendment to the Bylaws, whereby the
remuneration of directors in their capacity as board members became an annual fixed amount determined
by the annual General Meeting. This amount shall remain in effect unless the shareholders resolve to
change it at a general meeting. However, the Board of Directors may elect to reduce the amount in any
years in which it deems such action justified. The remuneration established by the Annual General Meeting
for the years 2018 and 2017, was EUR 6 million, with two components: (a) an annual emolument and (b)
attendance fees.

The specific amount payable for the above-mentioned items to each of the directors is determined by the
Board of Directors. For such purpose, it takes into consideration the positions held by each director on the
Board, their membership of the Board and the board committees and their attendance of the meetings
thereof, and any other objective circumstances considered by the Board.

The total bylaw-stipulated emoluments earned by the Directors in 2018 amounted to EUR 4.6 million (EUR
4.7 million in 2017).

Annual emolument

The amounts received individually by the directors in 2018 and 2017 based on the positions held by them
on the board and their membership of the Board committees were as follows:

Euros
2018 2017

Members of the board of directors 90,000 87,500
Members of the executive committee 170,000 170,000
Members of the audit committee 40,000 40,000
Members of the appointments committee 25,000 25,000
Members of the remuneration committee 25,000 25,000
Members of the risk supervision, regulation and compliance

oversight committee 40,000 40,000
Members of the responsible banking, sustainability and culture

committee 15,000 -
Chairman of the audit committee 70,000 50,000
Chairman of the appointments committee 50,000 50,000
Chairman of the remuneration committee 50,000 50,000
Chairman of the risk, regulation and compliance oversight

committee 70,000 50,000
Chairman of the responsible banking, sustainability and culture

committee 50,000 -
Lead director 110,000 110,000
Non-executive deputy chairman 30,000 30,000

(*) Mr Bruce Carnegie-Brown, for duties performed as part of the board and board committees, specifically as
chairman of the appointments and remuneration committees and as lead director, and for the time and dedication
required to perform these duties, has been allocated minimum total annual remuneration of EUR 700,000 since
2015, including the aforementioned annual allowances and attendance fees corresponding to him.
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Attendance fees

The directors receive fees for attending board and committee meetings, excluding executive committee
meetings, since no attendance fees are received for this committee.

By resolution of the board of directors, at the proposal of the remuneration committee, the fees for
attending board and committee meetings - excluding, as aforementioned, executive committee meetings -
were as follows:

Euros
Meeting attendance fees 2018 2017
Board of directors 2,600 2,600
Audit committee and risk supervision, regulation and compliance
oversight committee 1,700 1,700
Other committees (except the executive committee) 1,500 1,500
Salaries

The executive directors receive salaries. In accordance with the policy approved by the annual general
meeting, salaries are composed of a fixed annual remuneration and a variable one consisting of a unique
incentive, which is based on a deferred variable remuneration linked to multi-year objectives, which
establishes the following payment scheme:

Establishes the following payments scheme:

e 40% of the variable remuneration amount, determined at year-end on the basis of the
achievement of the established objectives, is paid immediately.

e The remaining 60% is deferred over five years, as the case may be, in five portions provided that
the conditions of permanence of the Group and non-concurrence of the malus clauses are met,
taking into account the following accrual scheme.

e The accrual of the first and second portion (payment in 2020 and 2021) is no subject to the
long-term objectives.

e The accrual of the third, fourth, and fifth portion (payment in 2022, 2023 and 2024), is linked to
certain objectives related to the period 2018-2020 and the metrics and scales associated with
these objectives. The fulfilment of the objective determines the percentage to be paid of the
deferred amount in these three annuities, being the maximum amount determined at the end
of the 2018 when the total variable remuneration is approved.

e In accordance with current remuneration policies, the amounts already paid will be settled to a
possible recovery (clawback) by the Bank during the period set out in the policy in force each
moment.

The immediate payment (or short-term) as well as each deferred payment, whether subject or not to long-
term, goals will be settled 50% in cash and the remaining 50% in Santander shares.

Detail by director

The detail, by Bank director, of the short-term (immediate) and deferred (not subject to long-term goals)
remuneration for 2018 and 2017 is provided below:
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[ Thousands of euros
| 2018 2017
Bylaw-stipulated emoluments Short-term and deferred
Annual emolument (not subject to long-term goals)
salaries of executive directors
Variable — Deferred
immediate payment variable
Responsible
Risk, banking,
regulationand | sustainability |  Attendance
compliance and fees Other
Board | Executive Audit | Appointments | Remuneration oversight culture and In In In In Pension | Remuneration
Directors 6) | committee | committe] committee committee committee committee | 5 ymissions | Fixed | cash shares cash | shares | Total | contribution (7) Total | Total
Ms Ana Botin-Sanz de
Sautuola y O’Shea 90| 170 | : | L 8 39 3,176 1,480| 1,480| 3888 888 7,912 1,234 1,030f 10,483 10,582
Mr José Antonio Alvarez Alvarez 90| 170] | | | E - 34| 2,541 989 989 593 593 5,705| 1,050 1,596| 8,645| 8,893
Mr Rodrigo Echenique Gordillo 90| 170] | | | E 5 33 1,800 785 785| 471 471) 4,312 | 225 4,830 4,281
Mr Guillermo de la Dehesa Romero 120 170 | 25| 25| 20| - 81 E | : : : : | N 441 473
Mr Bruce Carnegie-Brown 383 170 L 25| 25| 40| - 89 E | L L L L E g 732 731
Mr Ignacio Benjumea Cabeza de Vaca 90| 170 | 13 25| 40| 8 86 E E E E E : b 81] 513 550)
Mr Francisco Javier Botin-Sanz de R
Sautuola y O’Shea (1) 90| . | E E 5 - 31 E E E E E E : . 121 124
Ms Sol Daurella Comadran 90| - | 25 25 E 8 67 : | E E E E | E 215 207
Mr Carlos Fernandez Gonzalez 90| - 40) 25| 25| L - 86 E E E E 5 : b | 266 285|
Ms Esther Giménez-Salinas i Colomer 90| - | | | 40| 8 58 : | E E E E | E 196| 162
Ms Belén Romana Garcia 160| 85 40) | | 40| 8 81 E E E E E 5 b | 414 297|
Mr Juan Miguel Villar Mir 90| - | E E 5 - 18 E E : : : : | N 108| 170|
Ms Homaira Akbari 90| - 40 g g E 8 61 E g E E E E E E 199 159
Mr Ramiro Mato Garcfa Ansorena (2) 115 170 40) E E 40| 8 77| E E : : : : | N 450 36|
Mr Alvaro Cardoso de Souza (3) 85| - | g g 27| 5| 31 E | E E E E | g 148 g
Mr Matias Rodriguez Inciarte (4) E | | E E | E B b E E E g g b L E 4,266|
Ms Isabel Tocino Biscarolasaga (5) E - | | | E - E E | E E E E b E | 418
ITotal 2018 1,763 1,275 160 113 125 247| 61] 872 7,517 3,254 3,254 1,952 1,952 17,929 2,284 2,932 27,761
[Total 2017 1,675 1,345] 160 125 123 280 - 973 7,568 3,698 3,698 2,219 2,219 19,402 5,164 2,387| 31,634

1) All the amounts received were repaid to the Fundacién Marcelino Botin.

) Director since 28 November 2017

[©)] Director since 23 March 2018

4) Ceased to be a member of the Board on 28 November, 2017. This table shows the remuneration information until his ceased as a member of the board. The remuneration information for his performance as executive vice president since
November 28, 2017 is included in the corresponding section.

(5) Ceased to be a member of the board on 28 November, 2017.

(6) Includes committee chairmanship and other roles emoluments.

@ Includes, inter alia, the life and medical insurance costs borne by the Group relating to Bank directors as well as a fixed supplement approved as part of the benefit systems transformation of the Executive Directors Ms Ana Botin and Mr José
Antonio Alvarez Alvarez
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b)

c)

Following is the detail, by executive director, of the linked to multiannual objectives salaries at their fair
value, which will only be received if the conditions of continued service, non-applicability of “malus”
clauses and, full achievement of the objectives established (or, as the case may be, of the minimum
thresholds thereof, with the consequent reduction of the agreed-upon amount in the end of the year) in the
terms described in Note 42.

Thousands of euros
2018 2017

Variable subject to
Long-term
objectives(2)

In cash In shares Total Total (2)
Ms. Ana Botin-Sanz de Sautuola y O’Shea 932 932 1,864 1,726
Mr. José Antonio Alvarez Alvarez 623 623 1,246 1,154
Mr. Rodrigo Echenique Gordillo 495 495 990 900
Mr. Matias Rodriguez Inciarte(1) - - - 880
Total 2,050 2,050 4,100 4,660

(1) Ceased to be a member of the board on 28 November, 2017. The remuneration information
for his performance as executive vice president is included in the corresponding section.

(2) Corresponds with the fair value of the maximum amount they are entitled to in a total of 3
years: 2022, 2023 and 2024, subject to conditions of continued service, with the exceptions
provided, and to the non-applicability of “malus” clauses and achievement of the objectives
established.

The fair value has been determined at the grant date based on the valuation report of an independent
expert, Willis Towers Watson. According to the design of the plan for 2018 and the levels of achievement
of similar plans in comparable entities, the expert concludes that the reasonable range for estimating the
initial achievement ratio is around 60% - 80%. It has been considered that the fair value is 70% of the
maximum (see Note 42).

Note 5.e) below includes disclosures on the shares delivered by virtue of the deferred remuneration
schemes in place in previous years the conditions for delivery which were met in the corresponding years,
and on the maximum number of shares receivable in future years in connection with the aforementioned
2018 and 2017 variable remuneration plans.

Remuneration of the Board members as representatives of the Bank

By resolution of the executive committee, all the remuneration received by the Bank's directors who
represent the Bank on the Boards of Directors of listed companies in which the Bank has a stake, paid by
those companies and relating to appointments made on or after March 18, 2002 accrues to the Group. In
2018 and 2017 the Bank's directors did not receive any remuneration in respect of these representative
duties.

Mr. Matias Rodriguez Inciarte received EUR 42 thousand as non-executive director of U.C.I., S.A. in 2017.

Post-employment and other long-term benefits

The executive directors other than Mr Rodrigo Echenique participate in the defined benefit system created
in 2012, which covers the contingencies of retirement, disability and death. The Bank makes annual
contributions to the benefit plans of its executive directors. In 2012, the contracts of the executive directors
(and the other members of the Bank’s senior management) with defined benefit pension commitments
were amended to transform them into a defined contribution system. The new system gives executive
directors the right to receive benefits upon retirement, regardless of whether or not they are active at the
Bank at such time, based on contributions to the system, and replaced their previous right to receive a
pension supplement in the event of retirement®. In the event of pre-retirement and up until the retirement
date, Ms Ana Botin and Mr José Antonio Alvarez have the right to receive an annual allotment.

1 As provided in the contracts of the executive directors prior to 2012, Mr Matias Rodriguez Inciarte exercised the option to
receive accrued pensions (or similar amounts) in the form of capital, i.e., in a lump sum, which means that he ceased to
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The initial balance for each of the executive directors in the new defined benefits system corresponded to
the market value of the assets from which the provisions corresponding to the respective accrued
obligations had materialised on the date on which the old pension commitments were transferred into the
new benefits system?.

Since 2013, the Bank has made annual contributions to the benefits system in favour of executive
directors and senior executives, in proportion to their respective pensionable bases, until they leave the
Group or until their retirement within the Group, death, or disability (including, if applicable, during pre-
retirement). No contributions will be made with respect to executive directors or senior executives who
exercised the option to receive their pension rights as capital prior to the transformation of the defined
benefits pension commitments into the current defined forecast contribution system as set out in footnote 2
below.

Mr Rodrigo Echenique’s contract does not provide for any charge to Banco Santander regarding benefits,
without prejudice to the pension rights to which Mr Echenique was entitled prior to his appointment as
executive director.

The benefit plan is outsourced to Santander Seguros y Reaseguros, Compafia Aseguradora, S.A., and
the economic rights of the foregoing directors under this plan belong to them regardless of whether or not
they are active at the Bank at the time of their retirement, death or disability. The contracts of these
directors do not provide for any severance payment in the event of termination other than as may be
required by law.

In accordance with the provisions of the remuneration regulations, contributions made that are calculated
on variable remuneration are subject to the discretionary pension benefits regime. Under this regime,
these contributions are subject to malus clauses and clawback according to the policy in force at any time
and during the same period in which the variable remuneration is deferred. Likewise, they must be
invested in Bank shares for a period of five years from the date of the termination of executive directors in
the Group, whether or not as a result of retirement. After that period, the amount invested in shares will be
invested together with the remainder of the accumulated balance of the executive director, or will be paid
to him or her beneficiaries had there been any contingency covered by the forecasting system.

Until March 2018, the system also included a supplementary benefits scheme for cases of death (death of
spouse and death of parent) and permanent disability of serving directors envisaged in the contracts of Ms
Ana Botin and Mr José Antonio Alvarez. This benefit gave the widow/widower and any children under the age
of 25 in the event of death, or the director in case of disability, the right to a pension supplemental to the
pension they would have been entitled to receive from social security up to an annual maximum amount equal
to their respective pensionable bases, as indicated above in connection with pre-retirement (in Mr Alvarez’s
case, referring to his fixed remuneration as chief executive officer), with certain deductions.

As per the director’s remuneration policy approved at the 23 March 2018 general shareholder’s meeting, in
2018 the system has been changed with a focus on:

¢ Aligning the annual contributions with practices of comparable institutions.

¢ Reducing future liabilities by eliminating the supplementary benefits scheme in the event of death (death of
spouse or parent) and permanent disability of serving directors.

¢ No increase in total costs for the Bank.
The changes to the system in 2018 are the following:

e Fixed and variable pension contributions have been reduced to 22% of the respective pensionable bases.
The gross annual salaries and the benchmark variable remuneration have been increased in the
corresponding amount with no increase in total costs for the Bank.

accrue pensions from such time, with a fixed capital amount to be received, which shall be updated at the agreed interest
rate.

2 In the case of Mr Matias Rodriguez Inciarte, the initial balance corresponded to the amount that was set when, as

described above, he exercised the option to receive a lump sum, and includes the interest accrued on this amount from that
date.
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The death and disability supplementary benefits have been eliminated since 1 April 2018. A fixed
remuneration supplement (included in other remuneration in section a.iii in this note) was implemented the
same date.

The total amount for life and accident insurance has been increased.

The provisions recognised in 2018 and 2017 for retirement pensions and supplementary benefits (surviving
spouse and child benefits, and permanent disability) were as follows:

Thousands of euros

2018 2017
Ms Ana Botin-Sanz de Sautuola y O’Shea 1,234 2,707
Mr José Antonio Alvarez Alvarez 1,050 2,456
2,284 5,163

Following is a detall of the balances relating to each of the executive directors under the welfare system at 31
December 2018 and 2017:

Thousands of euros

2018 2017
Ms Ana Botin-Sanz de Sautuola y O’Shea @ 46,093 45,798
Mr José Antonio Alvarez Alvarez 16,630 16,151
Mr Rodrigo Echenique Gordillo® 13,614 13,957
Mr Matias Rodriguez Inciarte @ - -
76,337 75,906

(1) Includes the amounts relating to the period of provision of services at Banesto, externalised with another insurance company.

(2) Executive director since 16 January, 2015 Mr. Rodrigo Echenique Gordillo doesn’t participate in the pension system and the right
to the bank to make contributions in its favour in this regard. The amount at 31 December, 2018 and 2017, corresponds to him
prior to his appointment as executive director in January 2015.

(3) Ceased to be a member of the Board on 28 November, 2017, retained their pension rights as of 31 December, 2017 amounted to
EUR 48,750 thousand.

The payments made during 2018 to the members of the Board entitled to post-employment benefits
amount to EUR 0.9 million (EUR 0.9 million in 2017).

d) Insurance

The Group has taken out life insurance policies for the Bank's directors, who will be entitled to receive
benefits if they are declared disabled; in the event of death, the benefits will be payable to their heirs. The
premiums paid by the Group are included in the Other remuneration column of the table shown in Note
5.a.iii above. Also, the following table provides information on the sums insured for the Bank's executive
directors:

Insured capital
(Thousands of euros)

2018 2017
Ms. Ana Botin-Sanz de Sautuola y O’Shea 22,710 7,500
Mr. José Antonio Alvarez Alvarez 19,694 6,000
Mr. Rodrigo Echenique Gordillo 5,400 4,500
Mr. Matias Rodriguez Inciarte ® - -
47,804 18,000

1) Ceased to be member of the board on 28 November, 2017. The insured capital at 31 December, 2017
amounted to EUR 5,131 thousand.
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The insured capital has changed for in 2018 as Ms Ana Botin and Mr José Antonio Alvarez as part of the
pension transformation set out in Note 5.c) above, that has encompassed the elimination of the
supplementary benefits and the increase of the life insurance annuities.

During years 2018 and 2017, the Group has disbursed a total amount of EUR 10.1 and 10.5 million,
respectively, for the payment of civil-liability insurance premiums. These premiums correspond to several
civil-liability insurance policies that hedge, among others, directors, senior executives and other managers
and employees of the Group and the Bank itself as well as its subsidiaries, in light of certain types of
potential claims, for which it is not possible to disaggregate or individualize the amount that correspond to
the directors and executives.

At December 31, 2018 and 2017, there were no obligations in this connection to other directors.
e) Deferred variable remuneration systems

The following information relates to the maximum number of shares to which the executive directors are
entitled at the beginning and end of 2018 and 2017 due to their participation in the deferred variable
remuneration systems, which instrumented a portion of their variable remuneration relating to 2018 and
prior years, as well as on the deliveries, whether shares or cash, made to them in 2018 and 2017 where
the conditions for the receipt thereof had been met (see Note 42):

i) Deferred conditional variable remuneration plan

From 2011 to 2015, the bonuses of executive directors and certain executives (including senior
management) and employees who assume risk, who perform control functions or receive an overall
remuneration that puts them on the same remuneration level as senior executives and employees who
assume risk (all of whom are referred to as identified staff) have been approved by the Board of Directors
and instrumented, respectively, through various cycles of the deferred conditional variable remuneration
plan. Application of these cycles, insofar as they entail the delivery of shares to the plan beneficiaries, was
authorized by the related Annual General Meetings.

The purpose of these plans is to defer a portion of the bonus of the plan beneficiaries (60% in the case of
executive directors) over a period of five years (three years for the plans approved up to 2014) for it to be
paid, where appropriate, in cash and in Santander shares; the other portion of the bonus is also to be paid
in cash and Santander shares, upon commencement of the cycles, in accordance with the rules set forth
below.

In addition to the requirement that the beneficiary remains in Santander Group's employ, the accrual of the
deferred remuneration is conditional upon none of the following circumstances existing -in the opinion of
the Board of Directors following a proposal of the remuneration committee- in relation to the corresponding
year in the period prior to each of the deliveries: (i) poor financial performance of the Group; (ii) breach by
the beneficiary of internal regulations, including, in particular, those relating to risks; (iii) material
restatement of the Group's consolidated financial statements, except when it is required pursuant to a
change in accounting standards; or (iv) significant changes in the Group's economic capital or its risk
profile. All the foregoing shall in each case be governed by the rules of the relevant plan cycle.

On each delivery, the beneficiaries will be paid an amount in cash equal to the dividends paid for the
amount deferred in shares and the interest on the amount deferred in cash. If the Santander Dividendo
Eleccion scrip dividend scheme is applied, payment will based on the price offered by the Bank for the
bonus share rights corresponding to those shares.

The maximum number of shares to be delivered is calculated taking into account the daily volume-
weighted average prices for the 15 trading sessions prior to the date on which the Board of Directors
approves the bonus for the Bank's Executive Directors for each year.

This plan and the Performance Shares (ILP) plan described below have been integrated for the executive
directors and other senior managers in the deferred variable compensation plan linked to multiannual
objectives, in the terms approved by the General Meeting of Shareholders held on 18 March, 2016.

84



& Santander

ii) Performance shares plan (ILP)

The annual general meeting held on 27 March 2015 approved the second cycle of the performance shares
plan. The accrual of this long-term incentive plan (LTI) and its amount are conditional on the performance
of certain metrics of Banco Santander between 2015 and 2017, as well as compliance with the remaining
conditions of the plan until the end of the accrual period (31 December 2018). The maximum benchmark
LTI in number of shares for executive directors was set by the board at the end of 2015.

At year-end 2018, the corresponding amounts to be received by each exclusive director in relation to LTI
(the accrued LTI amount) was established taking into account the performance of the following indicators:
(1) ranking of Santander’s earning per share growth for the 2015-2017 period compared to a peer group of
17 credit institutions; (2) ROTE in 2017; (3) number of principal markets in which Santander is in the Top 3
of the best banks to work for in 2017; (4) number of principal markets in which Santander is in the Top 3 of
the best banks on the customer satisfaction index in 2017; (5) retail loyal clients at 31 December 2017,
and (6) SME and corporate loyal clients at 31 December 2017. The overall compliance of the plan was
assessed by the Board at the 65.67%.

As a result of the aforementioned process and following a proposal by the remuneration committee, the
board of directors approved the following number of shares to be paid in 2019:

Number of shares
Approved
maximum LTI Final number of
amount () Ratio shares
Ms Ana Botin-Sanz de Sautuola y O’Shea 187,080 65.67% 122,855
Mr José Antonio Alvarez Alvarez 126,279 65.67% 82,927
Mr Rodrigo Echenique Gordillo 93,540 65.67% 61,428
Total 406,899 267,210

(1) 91.50% of the maximum established benchmark approved at the AGM on 27 March 2015.

With regards to the ILP of 2014 (see Note 42), in both 2017 and 2018, the position achieved in the Total
Return for the Shareholders has not been such that determines the accrual of the second and third thirds.
Therefore, the plan has expired.

iif) Deferred variable compensation plan linked to multiannual objectives

In 2016, with the aim of simplifying the remuneration structure, improving risk adjustment before and
increasing the incidence of long-term objectives, the bonus plan (deferred and conditioned variable
compensation plan) and ILP were replaced by one single plan, the deferred multiyear objectives variable
remuneration plan. The variable remuneration of executive directors and certain executives (including
senior management) corresponding to 2018 has been approved by the Board of Directors and
implemented through the third cycle of the deferred variable remuneration plan linked to multi-year
objectives. The application of the plan, thus far as it entails the delivery of shares to the beneficiaries, was
authorized by the annual General Meeting of Shareholders.

As indicated in section a.ii of this Note, 60% of the variable remuneration amount is deferred for five years
(three years for certain beneficiaries, not including executive directors), for their payment, where
appropiate by fifth parties provided that the conditions of permanence in the group and non-concurrence of
the clauses malus are met, according to the following accrual scheme:

e The accrual of the first and second parts (installments in 2020 and 2021) is not subject to the
fulfilment of long-term objectives.

e The accrual of the third, fourth and fifth parts is linked to the fulfilment of certain objectives related
to the period 2018-2020 and the metrics and scales associated with those objectives. These
objectives are:

o the growth of consolidated earnings per share in 2020 compared to 2017;
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o the relative performance of the Bank's total shareholder return (RTA) in the period 2018-
2020 in relation to the weighted RTAs of a reference group of 17 credit institutions;

o compliance with the fully loaded ordinary level 1 capital objective for the year 2020;

The degree of compliance with the above objectives determines the percentage to be applied to the
deferred amount in these three annuities, the maximum being the amount determined at the end of the
year 2018.

Both the immediate (short-term) and the deferred (long-term and conditioned) part are paid 50% in cash
and the remaining 50% in Santander shares.

The accrual of deferred amounts (whether or not subject to performance measures) is conditioned, in
addition to the permanence of the beneficiary in the Group, to the fact that during the period prior to each
of the deliveries, none of the circumstances giving rise to the malus clause as set out in the Group's
remuneration policy in its chapter related to malus and clawback. Likewise, the already paid amounts of
the incentive will be subject to its possible recovery (clawback) by the Bank in the cases and during the
term foreseen in said policy, always in the terms and conditions that are foreseen in it.

The application of malus and clawback is activated in cases in which there is poor financial performance of
the entity as a whole or of a specific division or area of the entity or of the exposures generated by the
personnel, and at least the following factors must be considered:

(i)  Significant failures in risk management committed by the entity, or by a business unit or risk control.

(i) The increase suffered by the entity or by a business unit of its capital needs, not foreseen at the time
of generation of the exposures.

(i) Regulatory sanctions or judicial sentences from events that could be attributable to the unit or the
personnel responsible for those. Also, the breach of internal codes of conduct of the entity.

(iv) Irregular conduct, whether individual or collective. The negative effects derived from the marketing of
inappropriate products and the responsibilities of the people or bodies that made those decisions will
be specially considered.

The maximum number of shares to be delivered is calculated by taking into account the weighted average
daily volume of weighted average prices for the fifteen trading sessions prior to the previous Friday
(excluded) the date on which the bonus is agreed by the board of executive directors of the Bank.

iv) Shares assigned by deferred variable remuneration plans

The following table shows the number of Santander shares assigned to each executive director and
pending delivery as of 1 January, 2017, 31 December, 2017 and 2018, as well as the gross shares that
were delivered to them in 2017 and 2018, either in the form of an immediate payment or a deferred
payment. In this case after having been appraised by the board, at the proposal of the remuneration
committee that the corresponding one-fifth (one third until 2014) of each plan had accrued. They bring
cause of each of the plans through which the variable remunerations of deferred conditional variable
remuneration plans in 2013, 2014 and 2015 and of the deferred conditional and linked to multiannual
objectives 2018, 2017 and 2016.

In order to mitigate the dilutive effect (and, therefore, not linked to the performance of the Group) of the
capital increase with preferential subscription rights of the Bank that took place on July 2017 in certain
cycles of the deferred compensation and long term incentive plans, the increase in the number of shares
to be delivered to its beneficiaries was approved, considering for this a valuation of preferential
subscription rights equivalent to their theoretical value, EUR 0.1047 per right. The effect of increasing the
number of shares is detailed in the corresponding column of the table below.
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Maximum Shares delivered
Shares delivered in | Shares delivered in | Shares delivered in | Shares delivered in Variable number of in 2018 Shares delivered | Shares delivered | Shares delivered in Variable Maximum
Maximum number | 2017 (immediate 2017 (deferred 2017 (deferred 2017 (deferred remuneration 2017 shares to be (immediate in 2018 (deferred | in 2018 (deferred 2018 (deferred remuneration 2018 | number of shares
of shares to be payment 2016 payment 2014 payment 2013 payment 2012 Shares arising from |(maximum number of|  delivered at payment 2016 payment 2015 | payment 2014 payment 2013 (maximum number of|  to be delivered
delivered at variable variable variable variable the capital increase of| shares to be December 31, variable variable variable variable shares to be at December 31,
Share-based variable remuneration January 1, 2017 remuneration) remuneration) remuneration) remuneration) July 2017 delivered) 2017 remuneration) remuneration) remuneration) remuneration) delivered) @ 2018
2013 variable remuneration
Ms. Ana Botin-Sanz Sautuola y O’Shea 33,120 (33,120
IMr. José Antonio Alvarez Alvarez® 19,56 (19,561,
Mr. Matias Rodriguez Inciarte 34,547 (34,547,
87,228 (87,228
2014 variable remuneration
Ms. Ana Botin-Sanz Sautuola y O’Shea 121,630 (60,814 905| 61,721 (61,721)
Mr. José Antonio Alvarez Alvarez® 52,484 (26,242, 390| 26,632 (26,632)
Mr. Matias Rodriguez Inciarte® 92,725 (46,363, 690| 47,052 (47,052)
266,839 (133,419 1089 135,408 (135,405)
2015 variable remuneration
Ms. Ana Botin-Sanz Sautuola y O’Shea 317,301 (63,460) 3,777 257,617 (64,404) 193,213
Mr. José Antonio Alvarez Alvarez® 210,914 (42,183) 2,511 171,242 (42,811) 128,431
Mr. Rodrigo Echenique Gordillo 156,233 (31,247)| 1,86 126,846| (31,712) 95,134
Mr. Matias Rodriguez Inciarte 216,671 (43,334) 2,579 175,916 (43,979) 131,937
901,118 (180,224) 10,727 731,621 (182,906) 548,715
2016 variable remuneration
Ms. Ana Botin-Sanz Sautuola y O’Shea 592,043 (236,817)| 5,286 360,512 (72,102) 288,410
Mr. José Antonio Alvarez Alvarez® 399,607 (159,843) 3,568 243,332 (48,667) 194,665
[Mr. Rodrigo Echenique Gordillo 295,972 (118,389) 2,643 180,226| (36,046)| 144,180
Mr. Matias Rodriguez Inciarte 352,455 (140,982)| 3,147 214,620 (42,924) 171,69
1,640,077 (656,031) 14.644 998,690 (199,739) 798,951
[2017 variable remuneration
Ms. Ana Botin-Sanz Sautuola y O’Shea 574,375 574,375 (229,750, 344,625
Mr. José Antonio Alvarez Alvarez® 384,118 384,118 (153,647 230,471
Mr. Rodrigo Echenique Gordillo 299,346| 299,346| (119,738 179,608
Mr. Matias Rodriguez Inciarte® 292,771 292,771 (117,108, 175,662
1,550,610 1,550,610 (620,243 930,366
2018 variable remuneration
Ms. Ana Botin-Sanz Sautuola y O’Shea 860,865 860,869
Mr. José Antonio Alvarez Alvarez® 575,268 575,268
[Mr. Rodrigo Echenique Gordillo 456,840 456,840
1,892,973 1,892,973

(1)  For each director, 40% of the shares indicated correspond to the short-term variable (or immediate payment). The remaining 60% is deferred for delivery, where appropriate, by fifths in the next five years, the last three being subject to the

fulfillment of multiannual objectives.

) Maximum number of shares resulting from their participation in the corresponding plans during their stage as general manager.
(3) Ceased to be a member of the Board on 28 November, 2017. The shares corresponding to his variable remuneration between 28 November 28, 2017 and 2 January, 2018 as executive vice president are included in Note 5.g.
(4)  In addition, Mr. Ignacio Benjumea Cabeza de Vaca maintains the right to a maximum of 106,113 shares arising from his participation in the corresponding plans during his term as executive vice president
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Also, the table below show the cash delivered in 2018 and 2017, by way of either immediate payment or
deferred payment, in the latter case once the Board had determined, at the proposal of the remuneration
committee that one-third relating to each plan had accrued:

Thousands of euros

remuneration)

remuneration)

remuneration)

remuneration)

2018 2017
Cash paid
Cash paid (deferred Cash paid Cash paid (one-third
(immediate payments from (immediate of deferred payment
payment 2017 2016, 2015 and payment 2016 | 2015, 2014 and 2013
variable 2014 variable variable variable

Ms. Ana Botin-Sanz de Sautuola y O’Shea 1,370 947 1,205 825
Mr. José Antonio Alvarez Alvarez 916 574 814 461
Mr. Rodrigo Echenique Gordillo 714 305 603 124
Mr. Matias Rodriguez Inciarte @ - - 718 690

3,000 1,826 3,339 2,099

1
@

2017 and 2 January 2018 as executive vice president is included in Note 5.g.

v) Information on former members of the Board of Directors

Includes paid cash corresponding to his participation in the corresponding plans during the time as executive vice president.
Ceased to be a member of the Board on 28 November 2017. The cash paid corresponding to his variable remuneration between 28 November

Following is information on the maximum number of shares to which former members of the Board of
Directors who ceased in office prior to January 1, 2017 are entitled for their participation in the various
deferred variable remuneration systems, which instrumented a portion of their variable remuneration
relating to the years in which they were Executive Directors. Also set forth below is information on the
deliveries, whether shares or cash, made in 2018 and 2017 to former board members, upon achievement

of the conditions for the receipt thereof (see Note 42):

Maximum number of shares to be delivered (1) 2018 2017
Deferred conditional variable remuneration plan (2014) - 101,537
Deferred conditional variable remuneration plan (2015) 50,604 67,472
Plan performance shares (ILP 2015)? 33,785 51,447
Deferred conditional variable remuneration plan (2016) - -

Number of shares delivered 2018 2017

Deferred conditional variable remuneration plan (2013) - 80,718
Deferred conditional variable remuneration plan (2014) 101,537 100,049
Deferred conditional variable remuneration plan (2015) 16,868 16,621
Deferred conditional variable remuneration plan (2016)

@

At the proposal of the remuneration committee, the board of directors approved adjusting the

maximum number of shares to mitigate the dilutive effect of the capital increase with pre-emptive
subscription rights of July 2017 as described in iv) below. The actions derived from this adjustment
are 3,233 shares. At year-end 2018, the overall compliance of the 2015 LTI Plan was assessed by

the Board at the 65.67%.

In addition, EUR 685 thousand and EUR 1,224 thousand relating to the deferred portion payable in cash of the

aforementioned plans were paid each in 2018 and 2017.
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f) Loans

The Group's direct risk exposure to the Bank's directors and the guarantees provided for them are detailed
below. These transactions were made on terms equivalent to those that prevail in arm's-length
transactions or the related compensation in kind was recognised:

Thousand of euros

2018 2017
Loans and Loans and
credits | Guarantees | Total credits |Guarantees| Total

D2 Ana Botin-Sanz de Sautuola y O’Shea 18 - 18 10 - 10
D. José Antonio Alvarez Alvarez 8 - 8 9 - 9
Mr. Bruce Carnegie-Brown - - - - - -
D. Matias Rodriguez Inciarte © - - - - -
D. Rodrigo Echenique Gordillo 29 - 29 22 - 22
D. Javier Botin-Sanz de Sautuola y O’Shea 15 - 15 17 - 17
D2 Sol Daurella Comadran 53 - 53 27 - 27
D.Carlos Fernandez Gonzalez 12 - 12 - - -
D? Esther Gimenez-Salinas i Colomer 1 - 1 - - -
D. Ignacio Benjumea Cabeza de Vaca - - - - -
D? Belén Romana Garcia 21 - 21 3 - 3
D. Guillermo de la Dehesa Romero 21 - 21 - - -

178 - 178 88 - 88

®
g) Senior managers

Ceased to be a board director on 28 November 2017. On 31 December 2017, to loans and credits amounted to EUR 13 thousand.

The table below includes the amounts relating to the short-term remuneration of the members of senior
management at 31 December, 2018 and those at 31 December, 2017, excluding the remuneration of the
executive directors, which is detailed above:

Thousands of euros

Short-term salaries and deferred remuneration

Variable remuneration
(bonus) - Immediate Deferred variable Total
payment remuneration Other
Number of In  shares remuneration
Year persons | Fixed Incash | @ Incash | Inshares Pensions @
2018 18 22,475 8,374 8,374 3,791 3,791 6,193 7,263 60,261
2017 19 17,847 8,879 8,879 4,052 4,052 13,511 7,348 64,568

@
@

thousand).

The amount of the immediate payment in shares for 2018 relates to Santander shares 1,936,037 (2017:1,430,143

Santander shares and 225,564 shares of Banco Santander México, S.A., Institucion de Banca Mdltiple, Grupo Financiero

Santander México.

©)

Includes other remuneration items such as life insurance premiums and localization aids totalling EUR 1,641 thousand (2017: EUR 692

Additionally, and as a result of the incorporation and compensation agreements of long-term and deferred compensation lost in

previous jobs, compensations were agreed in 2017 for the amount of EUR 4,650 thousand and 648,457 shares of Banco Santander,
S.A. These compensations are partially subject to deferral and / or recovery in certain cases.

Also, the detail of the breakdown of the linked to multiannual objective salaries of the members of senior
management at 31 December, 2018 and 2017 is provided below. These remuneration payments shall be
received, as the case may be, in the corresponding deferral periods upon achievement of the conditions
stipulated for each payment (see Note 42).

Thousands of euros

Variable remuneration subject to long-term objectives (1)

Year Number of people Cash payment Share payment Total
2018 18 3,981 3,981 7,962
2017 19 4,255 4,255 8,510

(1) Relates in 2018 with the fair value of the maximum annual amounts for years 2022, 2023 and 2024 of
the third cycle of the deferred conditional variable remuneration plan (2021, 2022 and 2023 for the first

cycle of the deferred variable compensation plan linked to annual objectives for the year 2017).
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Also, executive vice presidents who retired in 2018 and, therefore, were not members of senior management
at year-end, received in 2018 salaries and other remuneration relating to their retirement amounting to EUR
1,861 thousand (EUR 5,237 thousand in 2017), however, the right to obtain variable remuneration subject to
long-term objectives has not been generated as part of the senior management (2017: EUR 999 thousand).

Other than Executive directors the average total remuneration awarded in 2018 to women senior managers is
0.7% higher than the average remuneration of men senior managers.

Following is a detail of the maximum number of Santander shares that the members of senior management at
each plan grant date (excluding executive directors) were entitled to receive at 31 December, 2018 and 2017
relating to the deferred portion under the various plans then in force (see Note 42):

Maximum number of
shares to be delivered (1) 2018 2017
Deferred conditional variable remuneration plan (2014) - 323,424
Deferred conditional variable remuneration plan (2015) 705,075 1,296,424
Performance shares plan ILP (2015) 515,456 | 1,050,087
Deferred conditional variable remuneration plan and linked to objectives (2016) 1,079,654 | 1,854,495
Deferred conditional variable remuneration plan and linked to objectives (2017) 1,434,047 1,779,302
Deferred conditional variable remuneration plan and linked to objectives (2018) 2,192,901 -

(1) Atthe proposal of the remuneration committee, the board of directors approved adjusting the
maximum number of shares to mitigate the dilutive effect of the capital increase with pre-
emptive subscription rights of July 2017 as described in iv) below. The actions derived from
this adjustment are 66,339 shares.

In 2018 and 2017, since the conditions established in the corresponding deferred share-based remuneration
schemes for prior years had been met, in addition to the payment of the related cash amounts, the following
number of Santander shares was delivered to the executive vice presidents:

Number of shares delivered 2018 2017
Deferred conditional variable remuneration plan (2013) - 226,766
Deferred conditional variable remuneration plan (2014) 248,963 318,690
Deferred conditional variable remuneration plan (2015) 261,109 349,725
Deferred conditional variable remuneration plan and linked to
objectives (2016) 258,350 -

As indicated in Note 5.c above, the senior managers participate in the defined benefit system created in 2012,
which covers the contingencies of retirement, disability and death. The Bank makes annual contributions to
the benefit plans of its senior managers. In 2012, the contracts of the senior managers with defined benefit
pension commitments were amended to transform them into a defined contribution system. The system, which
is outsourced to Santander Seguros y Reaseguros, Compafiia Aseguradora, S.A., gives senior managers the
right to receive benefits upon retirement, regardless of whether or not they are active at the Bank at such time,
based on contributions to the system, and replaced their previous right to receive a pension supplement in the
event of retirement. In the event of pre-retirement, and up to the retirement date, senior managers appointed
prior to September 2015 are entitled to receive an annual allowance.

In addition, in application of the provisions of the remuneration regulations, from 2016 (inclusive), a
discretionary pension benefit component of at least 15% of the total has been included in contributions to the
pension system. Under the regime corresponding to these discretionary benefits, the contributions made that
are calculated on variable remunerations are subject to malus and clawback clauses according to the policy in
force at each moment and during the same period in which the variable remuneration is deferred.

Likewise, the annual contributions calculated on variable remunerations must be invested in Bank shares for a
period of five years from the date of the cessation of senior management in the Group, whether or not as a
result of retirement. After that period, the amount invested in shares will be invested together with the rest of
the accumulated balance of the senior manager, or he will be paid to him or her beneficiaries if there were any
contingency covered by the forecasting system.
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The contracts of certain senior managers have gone through the changes set out in note 5.c. for executive
directors. The changes, aiming at aligning the annual contributions with practices of comparable institutions
and reducing future liabilities by eliminating the supplementary benefits scheme in the event of death (death of
spouse or parent) and permanent disability of certain with no increase in total costs for the Bank, are the
following:

e Contributions of the pensionable bases have been reduced. Gross annual salaries have been
increased in the corresponding amount with no increases in total costs for the Bank.

e The death and disability supplementary benefits have been eliminated since 1 January 2018. A fixed
remuneration supplement (included in other remuneration in the table above) was implemented the
same date.

e The sum insured for life and accident insurance has been increased.

All the above without an increase in total cost for the Bank.

The balance as of 31 December, 2018 in the pension system for those who were part of senior management
during the year amounted to EUR: 66.5 million (EUR: 118.7 million in 31 December, 2017).

The net charge to income corresponding to pension and supplementary benefits for widows, orphans and
permanent invalidity amounted to EUR 6.4 million in 2018 (EUR: 14.5 in 31 December, 2017).

In 2018 and 2017 there is no payments in the form of a single payment of the annual voluntary pre-retirement
allowance.

Additionally, the capital insured by life and accident insurance at 31 December, 2018 of this group amounts to
EUR 133.3 million (EUR: 53.6 million at 31 December, 2017).

h) Post-employment benefits to former Directors and former executive vice presidents

The post-employment benefits and settlements paid in 2018 to former directors of the Bank, other than those
detailed in note 5.c amounted to EUR 13.8 million (2017: EUR 26.2 million). Also, the post-employment
benefits and settlements paid in 2018 to former executive vice presidents amounted to EUR 63 million (2017:
EUR 17.7 million).

Contributions to insurance policies that hedge pensions and complementary widowhood, orphanhood and
permanent disability benefits to previous members of the Bank’s Management Board, amounted to EUR 0.5
milllion in 2018 (EUR 0.5 million in 2017). Likewise, contributions to insurance policies that hedge pensions
and complementary widowhood, orphanhood and permanent disability benefits for previous managing
directors amounted to EUR 5.4 million in 2018 (EUR 5.5 million in 2017).

In 2018 a period provision of EUR 0.08 million (release of EUR 0.5 million in 2017) was recognised in the
consolidated income statement in connection with the Group's pension and similar obligations to former
directors of the Bank (including insurance premiums for supplementary surviving spouse/child and permanent
disability benefits), and no period provision was recognised in relation to former executive vice presidents
(2017: a period provision of EUR 5.6 million was recognised).

In addition, Provisions — Pension Fund and similar obligations in the consolidated balance sheet as at 31
December, 2018 included EUR 70.2 million in respect of the post-employment benefit obligations to former
Directors of the Bank (31 December, 2017: EUR 81.8 million) and EUR 179 million corresponding to former
executive vice presidents (2017: EUR 195.8 million).

i) Pre-retirement and retirement

The following executive directors will be entitled to take pre-retirement in the event of termination, if they have
not yet reached the age of retirement, on the terms indicated below:

91



& Santander

Ms. Ana Botin-Sanz de Sautuola y O’Shea will be entitled to take pre-retirement in the event of termination for
reasons other than breach. In such case, she will be entitled to an annual emolument equivalent to her fixed
remuneration plus 30% of the average of her latest amounts of variable remuneration, up to a maximum of
three. This emolument would be reduced by up to 8% in the event of voluntary retirement before the age of
60. This assignment will be subject to malus and clawback conditions in effect for a period of 5 years. Mr. José
Antonio Alvarez Alvarez will be entitled to take pre-retirement in the event of termination for reasons other
than his own free will or breach. In such case, he will be entitled to an annual emolument equivalent to the
fixed remuneration corresponding to him as executive vice president. This assignment will be subject to malus
and clawback conditions in effect for a period of 5 years.

j) Contract termination

The executive directors and senior executives have indefinite-term employment contracts. Executive directors
or senior executives whose contracts are terminated voluntarily or due to breach of duties are not entitled to
receive any economic compensation. If the Bank terminates the contract for any other reason, they will be
entitled to the corresponding legally-stipulated termination benefit, without prejudice to the compensation that
corresponds to the non-competition obligations, as detailed in the remuneration policy of the directors

If the Bank were to terminate her contract, Ms. Ana Botin-Sanz de Sautuola y O’Shea would have to remain at
the Bank’s disposal for a period of four months in order to ensure an adequate transition, and would receive
her fixed salary during that period.

Other non-director members of the Group's senior management, other than those whose contracts were
amended in 2012 as indicated above, have contracts which entitle them, in certain circumstances, to an
extraordinary contribution to their welfare system in the event of termination for reasons other than voluntary
redundancy, retirement, disability or serious breach of duties. These benefits are recognised as a provision for
pensions and similar obligations and as a staff cost only when the employment relationship between the Bank
and its executives is terminated before the normal retirement date.

k) Information on investments held by the directors in other companies and conflicts
of interest

None of the members of the board of directors or persons related to them perform, as independent
professionals or as employees, activities that involve effective competition, be it present or potential, with the
activities of Banco Santander, S.A., or that, in any other way, place the directors in an ongoing conflict with the
interests of Banco Santander, S.A.

Without prejudice to the foregoing, following is a detail of the declarations by the directors with respect to their
equity interests in companies not related to the Group whose object is banking, financing or lending; and of
the management or governing functions, if any, that the directors discharge thereat.

Number of
Administrator Denomination shares Functions
M,s. Ana Botin-Sanz de Sautuola y Bankinter, SA. (1) 5,000,000 )
O’Shea
30,000 i

Mr. Bruce Neil Carnegie-Brown Moneysupermarket.com Group plc President (2)

Lloyd’s of London Ltd - President (2)
Mr. Rodrigo Echenique Gordillo Mitsubishi UFJ Financial Group (1) 17,500 )

Mr. Guillermo de la Dehesa Romero |Goldman, Sachs & Co. (The Goldman Sachs Group, Inc.) 19,546 -

Mr. Javier Botin-Sanz de Sautuolay |Bankinter, S.A. 6,929,853 -

O’Shea JB Capital Markets Sociedad de Valores, S.A. 2,077,198 President

Ms. Esther Giménez-Salinas i Gawa Capital Partners, S.L. - Manager officer (2)
Colomer

Mr. Ramiro Mato Garcia-Ansorena | BNP Paribas, S.A. 13,806 -

(1) Indirect ownership.
(2) Non-executive.
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With regard to situations of conflict of interest, as stipulated in Article 30 of the rules and regulations of the
Board, the directors must notify the board of any direct or indirect conflict with the interests of the Bank in
which they or persons related thereto may be involved. The director involved shall refrain from taking part in
discussions or voting on any resolutions or decisions in which the director or any persons related thereto may
have a conflict of interest.

Accordingly, the related party transactions carried out during the financial year met the conditions established
in the regulations of the board of directors so as not to require a prior favourable report from the audit
committee and subsequent authorisation from the board of directors.

In addition, during the 2018 financial year there were 60 occasions in which, in accordance with the provisions
of article 36.1 (b) (iii) of the Regulations of the Board, the directors have abstained from intervening and voting
in the deliberation of matters in the sessions of the board of directors or its committees. The breakdown of the
60 cases is as follows: on 26 occasions they were due to proposals for the appointment, re-election or
resignation of directors, as well as the appointment of members of board committees or in Group companies
or related to them; on 30 occasions it was about retributive aspects or the granting of loans or credits; on 1
occasion when investment or financing proposals or other risk operations were discussed in favor of
companies related to different directors and on 3 occasions the abstention occurred in relation to the annual
verification of the directors' nature.

Loans and advances to central banks and credit institutions

The detail, by classification, type and currency, of Loans and advances to credit institutions in the
accompanying balance sheets is as follows:

Millions of euros
31/12/2018(*) | 01/01/2018(**) | 31/12/2017
CENTRAL BANKS
Classification:
Financial assets held for trading - - -
Non-trading financial assets mandatorily at fair value through profit or loss - -
Financial assets designated at fair value through profit or loss 103 - -
Financial assets designated at fair value through other comprehensive income - -
Financial assets at amortised cost 46 96
Loans and receivables 96
149 96 96
Breeakdown by product:
Reverse repurchase agreements 103 76
Other term loans 20 20 96
Advances different from loans 26 -
Of which: impaired assets - -
Of which: valuation adjustments for impairment - -
149 96 96
Currency:
Euro 149 96 96
149 96 96
CREDIT INSTITUTIONS
Classification:
Financial assets held for tradin - - -
Non-trading financial assets mandatorily at fair value through profit or loss 2 -
Financial assets designated at fair value through profit or loss 17,536 5,948 11,243
Financial assets designated at fair value through other comprehensive income 185 -
Financial assets at amortised cost 35,856 31,225
Loans and receivables 31,617
53,579 37,173 42,860
Breakdown by product:
Credit card Debt - - -
Commercial credit 890 363 363
Finance leases 1 1 1
Reverse repurchase agreements 23,267 14,456 17,946
Other term loans 18,582 14,392 16,133
Advances different from loans 10,839 7,962 8,417
Of which: impaired assets 1 3 -
Of which: valuation adjustments for impairment (6) (16) (14)
53,579 37,173 42,860
Currency:
Euro 35,276 29,612 35,338
Pound sterling 1,283 873 5,775
US dollar 15,532 5,815 576
Chilean pesos 728 576 873
Brazilian real 137 195 195
Other currencies 623 103 103
53,579 37,173 42,860
TOTAL 53,728 37,269 42,956

(*) See reconciliation of Bank of Spain Circular 4/2004 and subsequent modifications as at December 31, 2017 to Bank of Spain Circular 4/2017 as
at January 1, 2018 (Note 1.b).

(**) See further detail Note 1.d and Note 1.i.
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The loans and advances classified under Financial assets designated at fair value through profit or loss
consist of assets of Spanish and foreign institutions acquired under reverse repurchase agreements.

The loans and advances to credit institutions classified under Financial assets at amortised cost (Bank of
Spain Circular 4/2017) and Loans and receivables (Bank of Spain Circular 4/2004) are mainly time accounts
and deposits.

In addition, at December 31, 2018, there were outstanding balances with central banks and credit institutions
for EUR 45,232 million and EUR 5,324 million, respectively (2017: EUR 30,800 million and EUR 2,162 million,
respectively). These balances are included under Cash, cash balances at central banks and other deposits on
demand.

Note 48 contains a detail of the residual maturity periods of Financial assets at amortised cost (Bank of Spain
Circular 4/2017) and Loans and receivables (C) and of the related average interest rates.

The breakdown as of December 31, 2018 of the exposure and of the provision fund by phase of impairment of
the assets accounted for under Circular 4/2017 of the Bank of Spain is EUR 36,094 million and EUR 6 million
in phase 1, EUR 1 million without a provision fund in phase 2 and EUR 1 million euros without a provision fund
in phase 3.

Debt instruments

The detail, by classification, type, listing status and currency, of Debt instruments in the accompanying
balance sheets is as follows:

Millions of euros
31/12/2018(*) | 01/01/2018(**) 31/12/2017
Classification:
Financial assets held for trading 10,525 15,411 15,242
Non-trading financial assets mandatorily at fair value through profit or loss
1,976 382
Financial assets designated at fair value through profit or loss - - -
Financial assets designated at fair value through other comprehensive income 32,741 46,732
Financial assets available-for-sale ) 31,946
Financial assets at amortised cost 24,372 15,270
Loans and receivables 13,492
Held-to-maturity investments 1,892
69,614 77,795 62,572
Sectoralization:
Central banks 300 409 409
Public sector 44,001 56,481 42,361
Credit institutions 11,032 8,555 8,535
Other financial institutions 12,960 10,658 10,032
Non-financial institutions 1,321 1,692 1,235
Of which: impaired assets - - -
Of which: value adjustments for impairment (10) (90) (88)
69,614 77,795 62,572
Currency:
Euro 50,695 65,791 50,567
Us dollar 10,468 6,871 6,871
Pound sterling 4,775 2,318 2,318
Brazilian real 1,837 1,865 1,865
Other currencies 1,839 950 951
69,614 77,795 62,572

(*) See reconciliation of Bank of Spain Circular 4/2004 and subsequent modifications as at December 31, 2017 to Bank of Spain Circular 4/2017 as at January 1,
2018 (Note 1.b).

(**) See further detail Note 1.d and Note 1.i.

At 31 December 2018, the nominal amount of debt instruments assigned to the Bank's own obligations, mainly
to secure financing facilities received by the Bank, amounted to EUR 36,332 million (31 December 2017: EUR
36,332 million), of which EUR 32,202 million related to Spanish government debt (31 December 2017: EUR
29,370 million).
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At 31 December 2018 the exposure by impairment stage of the book assets under Bank of Spain Circular
4/2017 amounted to EUR 57,123 million in stage 1, EUR with no exposure by impairment in stage 2 and 3.

At 31 December 2018 the loan loss provision by impairment stage of the assets accounted for under Bank of
Spain Circular 4/2017 amounted to EUR 10 million in stage 1, with no loan provision by impairment in stages 2
and 3.

Note 25 contains a detail of the Other comprehensive income, recognised in equity, on Financial assets
designated at fair value through other comprehensive income (Bank of Spain Circular 4/2017) and Financial
assets available-for-sale, and also the related impairment losses (Bank of Spain Circular 4/2004 and
subsequent modifications).

Note 48 contains a detail of the residual maturity periods of loans and advances and of available-for-sale
financial assets, as well as their average interest rate.

Equity instruments

a) Breakdown

The detail, by classification, listing status, currency and type, of Equity instruments in the accompanying
balance sheets is as follows:

Millions of euros
31/12/2018(*) 01/01/2018(**) 31/12/2017
Classification:
Financial assets held for trading 8,644 10,168 10,168
Non-trading financial assets mandatorily at fair value through profit or loss 224 87
Financial assets designated at fair value through profit or loss -
Financial assets designated at fair value through other comprehensive income 1,751 1,940
Financial assets available-for-sale 1,863
10,619 12,195 12,031
Listing status:
Listed 9,892 10,768 10,714
Unlisted 727 1,427 1317
10,619 12,195 12,031
Currency:
Euros 7,130 10,547 10,384
Pound sterling 1,845 80 80
Chinese yuan 1,010 919 919
Brazilian real 427 455 455
US Dollar 91 128 128
Other currencies 116 66 65
10,619 12,195 12,031
Type:
Shares of Spanish companies 3,178 3,877 3,726
Shares of foreign companies 6,959 8,273 8,271
Investment fund units and shares 482 45 34
10,619 12,195 12,031

(*) See reconciliation of Bank of Spain Circular 4/2004 and subsequent modifications as at December 31, 2017 to Bank of Spain Circular
4/2017 as at January 1, 2018 (Note 1.b).

(**) See further detail Note 1.d and Note 1.i.

Note 25 contains a detail of the Other comprehensive income, recognised in equity, on Financial assets
designated at fair value through other comprehensive income (Bank of Spain Circular 4/2017) and Financial
assets available-for-sale, and also the related impairment losses (Bank of Spain Circular 4/2004 and
subsequent modifications).
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b) Changes

The changes in Non-trading financial assets mandatorily at fair value through profit or loss and Financial
assets at fair value through other comprehensive income (Bank of Spain Circular 4/2017), and Financial

assets available-for-sale (Bank of Spain Circular 4/2004 and subsequent modifications) were as follows:

Millions of euros

2018 2017
Balance at beginning of the year 1,863 2,443
Circular 4/2017 impact and merger effect(*)(**) 77 -
Balance at beginning of the year after merger 1,940 2,443
Purchases and capital increases 18 43
Disposals and capital reductions (28) (141)
Of which:
Ventas de Fondos de Inversion en April/17 - (84)
Other comprehensive income and other changes (155) (482)
Of which:
Bank of Shanghai Co., Ltd. (Cotizations variation) 51 (336)
Other comprehensive income and other changes (24) -
Balance at end of the year 1,751 1,863

(*) See reconciliation of Bank of Spain Circular 4/2004 and subsequent modifications as at December 31, 2017 to Bank of Spain Circular

4/2017 as at January 1, 2018 (Note 1.b).
(**) See further detail Note 1.d and Note 1.i.

i. Bank of Shanghai Co., Ltd.

In November 2016, the securities of Bank of Shanghai Co., Ltd. began trading. With the closing price of
December 31, 2018, the accumulated goodwill for valuation on the cost of acquisition of this participation
was EUR 390 million euros, recorded in Other comprehensive income — Financial assets at fair value with
changes in other comprehensive (339 million as of December 31, 2017), so the fall in value in 2018 was

EUR 51 million.

c) Notifications of acquisitions of investments

The notifications made by the Bank in 2017, in compliance with Article 155 of the Spanish Limited Liability
Companies Law and Article 125 of Spanish Securities Market Law 24/1998, of the acquisitions and

disposals of holdings in investees are listed in Appendix IV.
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Derivatives (assets and liabilities) and Short positions

a) Trading derivatives

The detail, by type of inherent risk, of the fair value of the trading derivatives arranged by the Bank at 31

December 2018 and 2017 is as follows.

Millions of euros
31/12/2018 01/01/2018(*) 31/12/2017

Debit Credit Debit Credit Debit Credit

balance balance balance balance balance balance
Interest rate 32,561 31,075 24,675 24,723 23,665 23,643
Equity instruments 2,768 1,796 1,701 1,982 1,708 1,989
Currency and Gold 16,102 18,657 13,144 13,284 13,165 13,305
Credit 113 78 258 197 258 197
Commodities - - - - g g
Others 93 92 98 100 98 100
51,637 51,698 39,876 40,286 38,894 39,234

(*) See further detail Note 1.d and Note 1.i.

Note 32 contains a detail, by residual maturity, of the notional and/or contractual amounts.

b) Short positions

Following is a breakdown of the short positions:

Millions of euros
31/12/2018 | 01/01/2018 (*) 31/12/2017
Securities lending:
Equity instruments 987 98 98
Uncovered on assignments:
Debt instruments 5,336 8,620 8,620
Total 6,323 8,718 8,718

(*) See further detail Note 1.d and Note 1.i.
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Loans and advances to customers

a) Detail

The detail, by classification, of Loans and advances to customers in the accompanying balance sheets is
as follows:
EUR million
31/12/2018 (*) | 01/01/2018(**) | 31/12/2017
Financial assets held for trading 19 22 22
Non-trading financial assets mandatorily at fair value through
profit or loss 1,549 2,516
Financial assets designated at fair value through profit or loss
23,687 22,778 22,778
Financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive
income 1,238 574
Financial as